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Citizens ofthe City of Birmingham 

HENRY YOUNG III 
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BARBARA 0 , MCGRUE 
DEPUTY DIRECTOR 

The City of Birmingham's Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for 
the fi scal year ending June 30, 201 3, is hereby submitted. This report represents the 
official comprehensive publication of the City's financ ial position at June 30, 2013. 
Responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, and fairness of the data, including all 
disclosures, rests with management of the City of Birmingham. The basis of reliance for 
the financial statements is a comprehensive framework of internal control. Because the 
cost of internal control should not exceed anticipated benefits, the objective is to provide 
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the statements are free of any material 
misstatements. 

In compliance with the City's Mayor-Council Act, the submitted financial 
statements were subjected to an independent audit. Banks, Finley, White & Co. has 
issued an unqualified opinion on the City of Birmingham's financial statements for the 
year ended June 30, 2013. Their report is located at the front of the financial section of 
theCAFR. 

Additionally, the City of Birmingham is responsible, as a recipient offederal and 
state assistance, for maintaining an adequate internal control structure to ensure 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations related to those programs. The City is 
required to undergo an annual single audit in conformity with the provisions ofthe Single 
Audit Act of 1984 and the Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996 and U.S. Office of 
Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of State and Local Governments. 
Information regarding the single audit, which includes the Schedule of Expenditures of 
Federal Awards, findings and recornmendations, and the auditor's reports on the internal 
control structure and compliance with applicable laws and regulations is included in a 
separate report and is available upon request. 
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Immediately following the auditor's report is the City' s Management Discussion 
and Analysis (MD&A) which provides, in a narrative fOlmat, an introduction, overview, 
and analysis of the basic financial statements. This letter of transmittal should be read in 
conjunction with the MD&A. 

CITY PROFILE AND REPORTING ENTITY 

The City of Birmingham was incorporated in 1871 and is centrally located in the 
State of Alabama. It operates under a mayor-council form of government. The Mayor is 
elected at large and serves a four year term. The Council is composed of nine members, 
elected by district and each serves a four year term. 

Included in this report is an organizational chart showing the twenty-three 
departments responsible for the administration and operation of the City of Birmingham. 
These departments provide valuable services to the citizens such as police and fire 
protection, maintenance and construction of highways and streets, recreational and 
cultural activities, sanitation services, and libraries and museums. This report includes, 
separately, the financial operations of two legal entities - the Bilmingham Airport 
Authority and the Birmingham Parking Authority - for which the City is financially 
accountable. Additional information regarding these two discretely presented component 
units is provided in the notes to the financial statements (Note I A). 

Birmingham' s diverse economy, once highly dependent on the iron and steel 
industry, benefits today from a range of businesses including finance and healthcare. 
Projects that are planned, under construction and recently completed are contributing to 
the economy. These projects increase tax revenues and provide jobs which will continue 
to have a positive impact on the Birmingham-Hoover Metro Area unemployment rate, 
which averaged 6.4% in 2012. The preliminary October, 2013 Metro Area 
unemployment rate was 5.7%, compared to the State of Alabama's October 
unemployment rate of6.5% and 7.3 % for the United States. 

Birmingham's banking sector continues to diversify. A number of medium-sized 
and smaller banks also continue to do well through aggressive new customer recruitment. 
Cadence Bank has relocated its headquarters and operations center to Birmingham from 
Starkville, Mississippi. Larger banking institutions are returning to profitability. 

The Birmingham Crossplex completed its first full year of operations to rave 
reviews and had a very successful year, including hosting the NCAA, Division II, Winter 
Championships. The natatorium, indoor track facility and arena, located approximately 4 
miles to the west of the City Center, hosts track and field , volleyball , wrestling and 
aquatic competition. These first-class athletic facilities are drawing events from national, 
regional and state athletic organizations. The Birmingham Crossplex was recently 
awarded eleven NCAA division I, II and III championship events over the next few years. 
The City has engaged a developer to lead efforts to recruit new retail businesses and 
hotels to a large track of adjacent city-owned property. 
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Sustainability of neighborhoods and providing retail shopping opportunities 
throughout the City is vitally important to the growth of Birmingham's economy. 
Recruitment of neighborhood grocery stores is seeing success and grocery stores are 
being recruited for several communities. Many neighborhood projects are currently 
planned or underway to improve the quality oflife for the City's citizens. 

In the City Center, more than 9, I 00 residents live in the area, which was made 
even more attractive by the City's new Railroad Reservation Park, a 19 acre "green 
space" located within an easy walk of the Central Business District and UAB. In 
November, 2012 Railroad Park was awarded the Urban Land Institute's Urban Space 
Award. The award recognizes parks that help revitalize communities. The park 
surpassed such renowned new parks such as Riverwalk in Calgary, Alberta; Pier 25 in 
New York; Tanner Springs Park in Portland and High Line Park in New York. 
Announcements of new projects to renovate and redevelop older buildings in the City 
Center occur regularly and approximately I , I 00 residential units are in various stages of 
development. The City received Federal grants to implement a system of walking trails 
throughout the City and these projects are underway. When completed, the trails wi ll 
link parks and green-spaces over a large area of the City. The City has begun the 
development of a transportation hub in the downtown area. The facility will house the 
Birmingham-Jefferson Transit Authority'S metro bus system, Greyhound and Amtrak. A 
large pOliion of the funding was provided by a Federal grant. 

A new minor league baseball park opened in April, 20 13 for its inaugural season 
adjacent to Railroad Park and is the home of the Birmingham Barons, a double-A farm 
team for the Chicago White Sox. For the season, the Barons set a Southern League 
attendance record, with approximately 400,000 attendees, and won the League 
Championship. The Rotary Club of Birmingham is proceeding with a major project to 
connect, by greenway, the Railroad Park with Sloss Furnace National Historic Landmark, 
approximately seven blocks away. Railroad Park and the ball park are catalysts for 
development in the area. Two apartment projects, each containing over two-hundred 
units, restaurants and office/retail projects have been announced in the immediate 
vicinity. 

A Westin Hotel and Entertainment District, adjacent to the Birmingham-Jefferson 
Convention Complex (BJCC) opened in January, 2013. The new hotel brings hotel room 
availability in the immediate BlCC area to more than 1,000, a convention and tourism 
industry standard required to attract larger trade shows and conventions. The 
Entertainment District is currently approximately 90% leased and is in the bui ld-out 
phase, with most restaurants and bars opening between Winter 2013 and Spring 2014. 

Over the past few years, a complex of federal government offices has developed 
on the northern edge of Birmingham's Central Business District. The complex includes 
new regional offices for the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, the 
Federal Bureau of Investigation, and the Social Security Administration. Growth in the 
complex continued in 2013 with a groundbreaking for a new location of the Department 
of the Treasury, formerly located in the City of Homewood. The Veterans 
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Administration has announced plans for the construction of a $50 million clinic in the 
City's Medical District, just south of downtown. 

The University of Alabama at Birmingham (UAB), Alabama' s largest employer, 
has a major influence on the economy of the City, providing stability during economic 
downturns. UAB has several construction projects underway, and completed significant 
projects in the past year. The recently opened Women and Infants Center on the UAB 
campus provides a new hospital specializing in women's healthcare services, and 
premature and newborn infant care. 

The general hospital sector of Birmingham's economy remains strong, not only 
with new development at UAB's Medical Center, but also with facility expansion 
occurring at St. Vincent's Hospital and at Princeton Baptist Medical Center. A new, 380 
bed state-of-the art replacement facility for Children's Hospital opened in March, 2011. 
The old facility has been converted into research space. Investment in the new facility 
was approximately $384 million. 

After years of litigation with respect to its Cel1ificate of Need and rulings by the 
Alabama Supreme Court, Trinity Medical Center has begun renovation and construction 
of its replacement facility on Highway 280, in a high growth area in the southern section 
of the City. Trinity Medical Center is a 534-bed facility with a wide range of inpatient 
and outpatient, emergency and surgical care services. Trinity plans to move its operation 
from its current Montclair Road campus, in the central part of the City. Efforts to find 
new uses for the existing campus are underway and such efforts have experienced some 
success, including Momentum Telecom's decision to move its headquarters to one of the 
professional office buildings on the campus, bringing approximately 80 new jobs into the 
City. [n an effort to keep the hospital in the City, the City entered into a Project 
Agreement with Trinity, which is now owned by Community Health Systems, and with 
affiliates of the Daniel Corporation. The Agreement obligates the City to rebate certain 
taxes paid to the City by Trinity and Daniel in the amounts of $40 million and $15 
million, respectively, over an approximate twenty-three year period. The City has 
notified Trinity and Daniel that it does not have authority under the Constitution and 
Statutes of the State to rebate all, or portions, of certain ad-valorem taxes that are 
restricted as to use. Such taxes were estimated to equal approximately 28% of the 
contemplated rebate amounts. See the note on pages 59 and 60 for a summary of this 
Agreement. 

[n November, 2011 , Jefferson County filed for bankruptcy protection in Federal 
Bankruptcy Court. On November 21, 2013 the Bankruptcy Court approved Jefferson 
County's Plan of Adjustment and its exit from Bankruptcy. The City does not expect 
long-term adverse consequences as a result of the filing. 

On October 9, 2012 City voters approved a bond referendum. The approval 
authorizes the issuance of up to $150 million of general obligation bonds for the 
following purposes: $6.3 million for landfill expansion, $20 million for public parks and 
recreational facilities, $48.7 million for street and sidewalk improvements, $19 million 
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for economic development initiatives, $45 million for public buildings and equipment 
and $11 million for storm and sanitary sewer improvements. The City anticipates that the 
City'S Bond Reserve Fund, which receives 9.2 mills of ad-valorem tax annually, will be 
sufficient to pay debt service on the bonds, when issued. The City issued approximately 
$68 million of the bonds during the spring of 2013. $2.69 million of the bonds were 
issued in December, 2013, which will provide funds for the Binningham Children ' s 
Museum at the McWane Center, contribute to the restoration of the historic Lyric Theatre 
and fund improvements to the Civil Rights Institute and Museum. The City received 
credit ratings of Aa2, AA, AA and AA from Moody's Investors Service, Standard & 
Poor's, Fitch Ratings and Kroll Bond Ratings for its bonds. The remainder of the bonds 
will, most likely, be issued in three to five years. 

The City' s major pension fund, the Retirement and Relief System, continued the 
trend of an increasing actuarial unfunded liability for long-tenn benefits. The trend has 
continued from the early 2000's and as of July 1, 2012, the unfunded actuarial accrued 
liability of the Plan was $303,041,753. While the Plan is currently able to meet all of its 
obligations and its funding level compares favorably with many plans around the 
Country, the City and the Pension Board are studying options for reversing this trend, 
including increasing annual contributions. Additionally, the actuarial methodology 
smoothed the investment portfolio 's market value losses from 2008 over a number of 
years. The 2008 investment losses have now been fully recognized. The portfolio 's 
market perfonnance has improved significantly in 2013. 

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada 
("GFOA") awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. The Certificate of Achievement is a prestigious 
national award presented to state and local govemments for publishing an easily readable 
and efficiently organized CAFR whose contents confonn to program standards and 
complies with generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal 
requirements. The Certificate is valid for a period of one year. The City of Binningham 
has received the award for the last 34 consecutive years. We believe our current CAFR 
continues to confonn to Certificate of Achievement program requirements, and we are 
submitting it to the GFOA for consideration. 

The City of Birmingham's budget report for the fi scal year beginning July 1, 
2012, was awarded the Govemment Finance Officer's Association Award for 
Distinguished Budget Presentation. In order to receive this award, a governmental unit 
must publish a document that meets program criteria as a policy document, as an 
operations guide, as a financial plan, and as a communications device. The City believes 
its current budget report also meets the above criteria, and we are submitting it to the 
GFOA for consideration. 

Preparation of this document was made possible by the dedicated efforts of the 
staff of the Finance Department and City Administration. I wish to express my 
appreciation to them and other department employees who contributed to the publication 
of this report, with particular thanks to the entire General Accounting staff. 
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Additional information, including the City's Operating and Capital Budgets can be 
accessed at www.birminghamal.gov 

Respectfully submitted, 

jJ~(]~t 
J. Thomas Barnett, Jr. 
Director of Finance 
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.. BANKS, FINLEY, 
n WHITE&CO, 

CHII11PIED PUBLIC ACCOUI<TANTS 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Honorable Mayor and 
Members of the City Council of 
the City of Birmingham, Alabama 

Report OD the FinaDcial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information, and the respective budgetary comparison for the General Fund of the City of 
Birmingham, Alabama ("the City"), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2013, and the related notes to 
the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements as listed in the 
table of contents. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of interna1 control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

Auditor's ResponsibUity 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not 
audit the financial statements of the Birmingham Parking Authority, which represents 1.0 percent, 12 
percent and 10.1 percent, respectively, of the assets, net position, and revenues of the aggregate discretely 
presented component units. Those fmancial statements were audited by other auditors, whose report 
thereon has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the 
Birmingham Parking Authority, is based on the report of the other auditors. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
City's preparation and filir presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the PUIPose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the City's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

617 THIRlY-SEVENTH STREET SOUTHl~IRM INGHAM, Al35222 • (205) 326-6660 



II To the Honorable Mayor and 
Members of the City Council of 
the City of Birmingham, Alabama 

Page 2 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 

Opinions 

In our opinion, based on our and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above 
present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, the 
aggregate remaining fund information and the respective budgetary comparison for the General Fund of 
the City of Birmingham, Alabama, as of June 30, 2013, and the respective changes in financial position, 
and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in acco(l!ance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Emphasis of Matter 

As described in Note I.E. to the financial statements, in 2013, the City adopted new accounting guidance, 
GASB Statement No. 63. Financial Reporting of Deferred Inflows of Resources and Net Position. The 
City also adopted GASB Statement No 65. Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities. Our 
opinion is not modified with respect to these matters. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles genera1ly accepted in the United States of America require that the management's 
discussion and analysis, schedules of funding progress and employer contributions - pension plans and 
schedule of funding progress - OPEB on pages 13-22, pages 70-72, and page 73 be presented to 
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards genera1ly accepted in the United States 
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. 
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures 
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the City's basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining statements of 
fiduciary net assets, combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements, schedule of revenues, 
expenditures and changes in fund balance-general fund, and statistical section, are presented for purposes 
of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. 
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II To the Honorable Mayotand 
Members of the City Council of 
the City ofBinningbam, Alabama 

Page 3 

The combining statements of fiduciary net assets, combining and individual nonmajor fund financial 
statements and the schedule of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance-general fund are the 
responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and 
other records used to prepare the basic fmancial statements. Such information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the basic finaricial statements or to the basic fmancial statements 
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards genera1ly accepted in 
the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining statements of fiduciary net assets, combining 
and individnal nonmajor fund financial statements and the schedule of revenues, expenditures and 
changes in fund balance-general fund are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic 
financial statements as a whole. 

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on them. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Stllndards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 27, 
2013, on our consideration of the City's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control 
over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City's internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 

December 27, 2013 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

This narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City of Binningham for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, is offered by management of the City to the readers of the financial 
report. Please read it in conjunction with the letter of transmittal presented on pages 2-7 and the 
financial statements beginning on page 24. 

Financial Highlights 

oTotal net position for the City of Binningham increased by $20.5 million during the past fiscal year. 

oThe assets of the City of Binningham exceeded its liabilities at the close of June 30, 2013, by $205 
million. 

oThe City of Binningham's governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $355 
million as of June 30, 2013, an increase of $57 million over the prior fiscal year. 

Overview of Financial Statements 

Following this discussion the City of Binningham's basic financial statements are presented. 
There are three components to these financial statements. 
1. Government-wide financial statements 
2. Fund financial statements 
3. Notes to the financial statements 

1. The government-wide financial statements give readers a broad overview of the finances of 
the City of Binningham in a manner similar to a private-sector business. They are composed of two 
individual statements - the statement of net position and the statement of activities. 

The statement of net position presented on pages 24 & 25 reports all of the City of Binning ham's 
assets, liabilities and deferred outflows/inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net position. 
Over time, increases or decreases in net position could serve as a useful indicator as to whether the 
financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating. 

The statement of activities presented on page 26 shows the changes in the City of Binningham's 
net position during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013. This statement is prepared on the full accrual 
basis of accounting meaning that all changes to net position are reported as soon as the underlying event 
giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. 

The government-wide statements show separately the governmental activities and the business­
type activities. The governmental activities are those supported mainly by taxes and intergovernmental 
revenues. The City of Birmingham' s activities (functions) include public safety, streets and sanitation, 
culture and recreation, and general government. The business-type activity for the City is supported by 
user charges which are intended to cover all or a significant portion of the activity costs. The City of 
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Birmingham's business-type activity is the operation of the Emergency Communications District, better 
known as E-911. 

2. Fund financial statements report the City' s operations in more detail than what is presented in 
the government-wide financial statements. Fund financial statements include the statements for 
governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary funds. 

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as 
governmental activities in the government-wide statements. The focus for reporting the activities on the 
fund financial statements is on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources as well as 
balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful 
in evaluating the City'S near-term financing needs. 

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government wide financial statements. By 
doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government's near-term financing 
decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, 
expenditures and changes in fund balance included in this report provide reconciliations to facilitate this 
comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities. 

In fiscal year 2013, the City of Birmingham reported as major funds the General Fund, the 
Birmingham Fund, the Debt Reserve and Debt Service Funds, the 2010-B Recovery Zone Warrants 
Fund, the 2013-A Bonds Fund, the Public Improvement Fund, and the Capital Improvement Fund. The 
other City funds are reported aggregateiy as non-major funds. Individual fund data for each of these 
non-major governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements found beginning with 
pages 77 and 86 of this report. 

The City of Birmingham adopts an annually appropriated budget for its general fund. A 
budgetary comparison statement has been provided for the general fund to demonstrate compliance with 
the budget. The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 27 and 29 of this 
report. 

Proprietary fund statements provide the same type of information as the government-wide 
financial statements, only in more detail. The City maintains one type of proprietary fund, the 
Emergency Management Communications District (E-9 I I) which is an enterprise fund. The basic 
proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 32-34 of this report. 

Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties external to the 
City of Birmingham. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements 
because the resources are not available to support the City's own programs. The accounting used for 
fiduciary funds is similar to that used for proprietary funds. The basic fiduciary statements can be found 
on pages 35-36 of this report. 
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3. Notes to the financial statements are provided to give the reader additional information that is 
essential to understanding the data presented in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 

Other required supplementary information is also presented in this report beginning on pages 70. 

The following table summarizes the major features of the basic financial statements of the City . 
of Birmingham. 

Table of Financial Statements 

Fund Financial Statements 

Government-wide Governmental Proprietary Fiduciary Funds 
Financial Funds Funds 
Statements 

Scope Entire City Acti vities of the City Activity ofthe City Activities for which 
government (except that are not that operates similar the City acts as 
fiduciary funds) proprietary or to businesses trustee for someone 

fiduciar~ else's resources 
Required financial .Statement of net -Balance sheet -Statement of net -Statement of 
statements position . Statement of position fiduciary net position 

.Statement of revenues, -Statement of -Statement of 
activities expenditures, and revenues, expenses, changes in fiduciary 

changes in fund and changes in net net position 
balance position 

eStatement of cash 
flows 

Accounting basis and Accrual accounting Modified accrual Accrual accounting Accrual accounting 
measurement focus and economic accounting and and economic and economic 

resources focus current financial resources focus resources focus 
resources focus 

Type of AU assets and Only assets expected AU assets and AU assets and 
asset/liability liabilities, both to be liquidated and liabilities, both liabilities, both short-
infonnation financial and capital, liabilities that come financial and capital, tenn and long-term 

and short-term and due during the year and short-term and 
long-tenn or soon thereafter; no long-tenn 

cap ital assets nor 
long-term debt 
included 

Type of All revenues and eRevenues for which All revenues and All revenues and 
inflow/outflow expenses during the cash is received expenses during the expenses during the 
infonnation year, regardless of during or soon after year, regardless of year, regardless of 

when cash is the end of the year when cash is when cash is 
received or paid eExpenditures when received or paid received or paid 

goods or services 
have been received 
and payment is due 
during the year or 
soon thereafter 
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Government-Wide Condensed Financial Information 

Net position represents the difference between the City of Birmingham's total assets and its total 
liabilities. Changes in the net position can be a useful measuring tool to gauge performance over time. 
The City's net position that is invested in capital assets net of related debt reflects its investment in 
capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, machinery and equipment, infrastructure), less any related 
outstanding debt used to acquire those assets. The City uses these capital assets to provide services to its 
citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for spending. Although the City' s investment in 
capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this 
debt must be provided from other revenue sources since the capital assets themselves cannot be 
liquidated to satisfy these liabilities. 

The City of Birmingham's restricted net position of approximately $189 million is subject to 
bond and warrant covenants and by federal and state grant requirements. The City'S total net position 
increased by approximately $20.5 million in fiscal year 2013. For additional details on the 
reconciliation between the two basis, see page 28 of this report. 
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The following table presents a condensed statement of the City's net position at June 30, 2013 and 2012: 

Current and other assets 

Capital assets, net 

Total assets 

Current and other 

liabilities 

Long-term liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Net position: 

Invested in capital assets, 

net of related debt 

Restricted 

Unrestricted 

Net position 

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

June 30, 2013 and 2012 

(in thousands) 

Governmental Business-Type 

Activities Activities 

Totals 

06 /30113 06 /30 /12 06/30/13 06 /30/12 06/30/1306/30/12 

$390,140 $350,294 $3,462 $2,477 $393,602 $352,771 

429,425 411,343 1,467 745 430,892 412,088 

819,565 761,637 4,929 3,222 824,494 764,859 

67,927 74,350 346 271 68,273 74,621 

550,827 505,357 550,827 505,357 

618,754 579,707 346 271 619,100 579,978 

104,846 133,210 722 919 105,568 134,129 

189,391 134,295 189,391 134,295 

(93,426) (85,574) 3,861 2,032 (89,565) (83,542) 

$200,811 $181,930 $4,583 $2,951 $205,394 $184,882 
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CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION 
For Years Ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 

(In thousands) 

Changes In Net Position 

Governmental Business-Type 

Activities Activities Totals 

6£30l13 06[3°112 06L30 113 06 L30 112 06L3011 3 06L 30112 

REVENUES: 

Program revenues: 

Charges for services $115,910 $117,156 $6,196 $6,608 $122,106 $123,764 

Operating grants 19,540 25,118 19,540 25,118 

General revenues: 

Sales and use tax 140,832 134,829 140,832 134,829 

Occupational tax 77,844 77,703 77,844 77,703 

Property tax 50,367 55,656 50,367 55,656 

Unrestricted grants and 
contributions 25,467 19,500 25,467 19,500 

Investment earnings 8,362 5,067 4 8 ,362 5,071 

Other 14,352 10,188 14,352 10,188 

Total revenues 452,674 445,217 6,196 6,612 458,870 451,829 

EXPENSES: 

Program expenses: 

General government 127,856 126,871 127,856 126,871 

Pu blic safety 195,022 194,761 4,564 4,641 199,586 199,402 

Streets and sanitation 53,055 56,109 53,055 56,109 

Culture and recreation 42,927 42,705 42,927 42,705 

Interest on long-term debt 14,933 17,381 14,933 17,381 

Total expenses 433,793 437,827 4,564 4,641 438,357 442,468 

Increase in net position 18,881 7,390 1,632 1,971 20,513 9,361 

Beginning net position 181,930 174,540 2,951 980 184,881 175,520 

Ending net position $200,811 $181,930 $4,583 $2,951 $205,394 $184,881 
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Fund Analysis 
Changes in fund balances for the City's major governmental funds for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2013 , are as follows: 

Beginning Increase 
Ending Balance 

Balance {Decrease} 
General Fund $ 92,11 3 $ 1,385 $ 93,498 
Birmingham Fund 82,973 3,339 86,3 12 
Public Improvement Fund 755 84 839 
General Bond Debt Reserve 29,673 (6,53 1 ) 23,142 
General Bond Debt Service (14) 396 382 
2013-A Bonds 69,488 69,488 
Capital Improvement fund 13,6 11 4,992 18,603 
20 I 08 RecovclY Zone 26,508 (10,437) 16,071 

$245,619 $ 62,7 16 $308,335 

Govemmental Funds 
The focus of the reporting of the City 's governmental funds is to provide information regarding 

near-term inflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the 
City's financing requirements. Unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a 
government's net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 

The fund balance of the General Fund increased slightly, as a result of expense control. The 
Capital Improvement Fund balance increased as appropriation transfers into the fund exceeded the 
spend-down of projected balances. The Birmingham Fund increased as the market value of the 
investments increased more than appropriations from the fund. The General Bond Reserve Fund balance 
decreased according to its programmed reduction to pay debt service on outstanding bonds. The 
General Bond Debt Service Fund balance increased as a result of excess transfers-in from the Bond 
Reserve Fund. The fund balance of the Public Improvement Fund increased as a result of additional 
assessments issued by the City, in excess of project expenditures. The fund balance of the 2010-B 
Recovery Zone Economic Development Warrants decreased as capital expenditures were made from the 
fund and the fund balance of the 2013-A Bonds Fund increased due to the issuance of the bonds and 
these capital funds becoming available for expenditure. 

The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances provide additional 
details for the changes in specific funds. This statement can be found on page 29. 

Budget Variances in the General Fund 
During the fiscal year, revisions were made to the original budget adopted by the City due to 

changes in projected revenues. Amendments were also made in the projected expenditures, as needed 
throughout the year. 
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Capital Assets and Long-Term Debt Activity 

Capital Asset Activity 
At June 30, 2013, the City of Birmingham reported approximately $429 million in net capital 

assets, including its infrastructure, for governmental activities. The City's Emergency Management 
Communication District reported approximately $ 1.4 million in net capital assets. The notes to the 
financial statements on pages 49 and 50 provide more information on capital assets, including the 
changes that occurred during the fiscal year. 

A. Capital Assets 

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2013 was as follows (in thousands): 

June 30, June 30, 
2012 Increases Decreases 2013 

Governmental activities: 

Capital assets, nondepreciable: 

Land $ 138,646 $ 305 $ 10 $ 138,942 

Construction in progress 71,254 27,474 47,543 51,185 

Land, infrastructure projects 16,647 16,647 
Total nondepreciable capital 

assets 226,548 27,779 47,553 206,774 

Capital assets, depreciable: 

Buildings and capital facilities 185,927 38,555 282 224,199 

Furniture and other equipment 152,388 4,103 269 156,222 

Infrastructure 197,457 11,310 208,768 

Total depreciable capital assets 535,772 53,968 551 589,189 

Less accumulated depreciation: 

Buildings and capital facilities 104,112 3,967 207 107,872 

Furniture and other equipment 113,851 6,102 194 119,759 

Infrastructure 133,014 5,894 138,908 
Total accumulated 

depreciation 350,977 15,963 401 366,539 
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Net depreciable capital assets 

Governmental activities, 
net capital assets 

Business-type activities: 
Buildings and other capital 

facilities 
Furniture and other equipment 

Total capital assets 

Less accumulated depreciation: 
Buildings and other capital 

facilities 
Furniture and other equipment 
Total accumulated depreciation 

Business-type activities, 
net capital assets 

Long-term Debt Activity 

184,795 

$ 411,343 $ 

$ 1,025 $ 
2,233 
3,258 

441 
2,072 
2,513 

$ 745 $ 

38,005 150 222,650 

65,784 $ 47,703 $ ==4,;;;2;,;.9'642;.4;,. 

$ $ 1,025 
852 3,085 

4,110 

20 461 
109 2,181 
129 2,642 

723 $ $ 1,468 

At June 30, 2013, the City of Birmingham had approximately $502 million of outstanding debt 
consisting of its bonds and warrants; of this amount, approximately $466 million is considered long­
term. The notes to the financial statements, on pages 51-53, include additional details of the City's long­
term debt activity. 

Governmental Activities 2013 2012 
Long Term Debt $ 465,514 $ 430,303 
Capitalized Leases 971 

$ 465,514 $ 430,303 

The City'S bond ratings are AA, Aa2, AA and AA by Standard & Poor's, Moody's Investors 
Service Fitch Ratings, and Kroll Bond Ratings, respectively. The City'S broad and diverse economy and 
consistently strong financial performance are the bases for these ratings. 

The notes to the financial statements contain more detailed information regarding the City's 
long-term debt and the changes that occurred during the fiscal year. Debt service schedules are 
presented for all debt in the statistical section of this report. Please refer to them for additional 
information including the City's obligations for capitalized equipment leases, workmen's compensation 
claims, closure and post-closure costs, and compensated absences. The City does not have any debt for 
its enterprise operation. 
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On May 9, 2013, the City issued $2,000,000 of its General Obligation Warrants, Series 2013-
RBI. The Warrants were issued for the purpose of currently refunding the City's outstanding Series 
2003A Warrants due on June I, 2014 in the amount of $1,955,000. The Series 2013-RBI Warrants 
mature on June 1,2014. The refunding resulted in a net present value savings of $45,684. 

On October 9, 2012, City voters approved a $150 million bond referendum for various capital 
projects throughout the City. In April, 2013 the City issued $68,060,535 of its General Obligation 
Convertible Capital Appreciation Bonds, Series 2013-A for certain capital projects. The City expects to 
pay debt service on the Bonds from its Bond Reserve Fund. The Bonds were issued as convertible 
capital appreciation bonds in order to match debt service with expected cash flow in the Bond Reserve 
Fund, considering other bond debt service. With the exception of the expected issuance of 
approximately $2.6 million of bonds in fiscal year 2014, the remainder of the authorization is expected 
to be issued in the next three to five years. 

Economic Factors Affecting the City of Birmingham and the 2013 Budget Information 

The City weathered the recession by implementing significant expense reduction and 
containment measures. In 2012, tax revenues showed some growth and this continued into 2013 and 
2014. 

The City considered several factors in preparing the City's budget for the 2013 fiscal year. For 
one, the U. S. economy appeared to have stabilized and is now growing at a slow rate. Low levels of 
new housing construction continues to hold back economic growth, given housing's large multiplier 
effect. 

Because much of the City's revenue is consumer driven (sales, use, occupational and business 
license taxes), slow economic growth translates directly into slow growth of a major portion of the 
City's revenue. Therefore, the City continues to monitor expenses closely and stands ready to adjust its 
budget as needed. 

Availability ofInformation 

The City's current and previous Operating and Capital Budgets, previous CAFRs, Single Audits 
and this CAFR are available on the City'S website at www.birminghamal.gov. 

Request for Information 

This financial report is designed to give a general overview of the City of Birmingham's 
finances. Questions concerning any of the information may be sent to the following: 

Director of Finance 
710 North 20th Street, Suite A-I 00 
Birmingham, AL 35203 
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Basic Financial Statements 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Statement of Net Position 

June 30, 2013 
(in thousands) 

Primary Government 
Governmental Business-Type 

Activities Activities Total 

Assets 
CURRENT ASSETS 

Unrestricted assets 
Cash and investments $ 319,226 $ 2,932 $ 
Cash with escrow agent 3,315 
Receivables 

Accrued interest 543 
Accrued taxes receivable 28,460 
Accounts (net of uncollectibles) 3,811 530 
Notes (net of uncollectibles) 119 
Loans 1,133 
Due from other governments 2,403 
Special assessments 11,298 
Inventories 1,503 
Prepaid items 441 
Due from component unit 975 
Other current assets 401 

Restricted assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Investments 
Accounts and grants receivable 
Accrued interest receivable 

Total Current Assets 373,628 3,462 

NONCURRENT ASSETS 

Capital assets 
Land 155,589 
Buildings and capital facilities 224,200 1,025 
Furniture and other equipment 156,222 3,086 
Accumulated depreciation (227,632) (2,643) 
Infrastructure 208,768 
Accumulated depreciation, infrastructure (138,908) 
Construction in progress 51,186 

Total Noncurrent Assets 429,425 1,468 

Total Assets $ 803,053 $ 4,930 $ 

Deferred Outflows of Resources 16,512 $ $ 

Total Assets And Deferred Outflows of Resources $ 819,565 $ 4,930 $ 

The notes to the financial statements are an Integral part of this statement. 
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322,158 
3,315 

543 
28,460 

4,341 
119 

1,133 
2,403 

11,298 
1,503 

441 
975 
401 

377,090 

155,589 
225,225 
159,308 

(230,275) 
208,768 

(138,908) 
51 ,186 

430,893 

807,983 

16,512 

824,495 

Component Units 

$ 28,465 

1,696 

342 

99 
361 

24,663 
55,940 

1,471 
223 

113,260 

169,842 
107,795 

16,067 
(81,766) 
200,495 
(92,610) 
191,225 

511 ,048 

$ 624,308 

$ 5,338 

$ 629,646 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Statement of Net Position 

June 30,2013 
(in thousands) 

Primary Government 
Governmental Buslness~Type 

Activities Activities Total 

Liabilities 
CURRENT LIABILITIES: 

Payable from unrestricted assets 
Accounts and vouchers payable $ 9,347 $ 16 $ 
Contracts payable 451 330 
Contracts payable - retainage 1,388 
Accrued payroll and payroll taxes payable 1,383 
Due to primary government 
Estimated claims payable 17,139 
Other liabilities (4,510) 
Interest payable 4,927 
Capitalized leases 103 
Compensated absences 974 
Bonds and warrants payable 36,725 

Payable from restricted assets 
Contracts payable 
Accrued Interest payable 
Current portion of revenue bonds payable 

Total Current Liabilities 67,927 346 

LONG TERM LIABILITIES 

Capitalized leases 971 
Compensated absences 13,869 
Bonds and warrants payable, net 465,514 
Closure and postclosure costs 13,489 
Workers' compensation claims payable 17,209 
OPEB liability 25,893 
Net pension obligation 13,882 

Total Long Term Liabilities 550,827 

Total Liabilities 618,754 346 

Net Position 
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 104,846 722 
Restricted for: 

Restricted for debt service 24,716 
Restricted for future projects 164,675 

Unrestricted (93,426) 3,861 

Total Net Position $ 200,811 $ 4,583 $ 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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9,363 
781 

1,388 
1,383 

17,139 
(4,510) 
4,927 

103 
974 

36,725 

68,273 

971 
13,869 

465,514 
13,489 
17,209 
25,893 
13,882 

550,827 

619,100 

105,568 

24,716 
164,675 
(89,565) 

205,394 

Component Units 

$ 1,236 

111 
1,149 

35 

9,291 
5,325 
5,765 

22,914 

653 
201,413 

202,066 

224,980 

347,303 

24,101 
5,432 

27,830 

$ 404,666 



FunctionsiPrograms 
Primary Government 

Governmental Activities: 
Public safety 
Street and sanitation 
Cultural and recreational 
General govemment 
Interest on Long-Term Debt 

Total Governmental Activities: 

Business-Type Activities: 
Emergency Management Communication 
District 

Total Business-Type Activities: 
Total Primary Government 

Component Units 
Birmingham Airport Authority 
Birmingham Parking Authority 

Total Component Units: 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Statement of Activities 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2013 
(in thousands) 

Program Revenues Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position 
Primary Government 

Operating 
Charges for Grants and Governmental Business-Type Component 

Expenses Services Contributions Activities Activities Total Units 

195,022 15,893 8,453 (170,676) (170,676) 
53,055 449 106 (52,500) (52,500) 
42,927 2,073 (40,854) (40,854) 

127,856 97.495 10,981 (19,380) (19,380) 
14,933 (14,933) (14,933) 

433,793 115,910 19,540 1298,343) (298,343) 

4,564 6,196 1,632 1,632 
4,564 6,196 1,632 1,632 

$ 438,357 $ 122,106 $ 19,540 (298,343) 1,632 (296,711) 

36,997 37,543 12,759 13,306 
6,067 6,135 69 

$ 43,064 $ 43,678 $ 12,759 13,375 

Sales and use tax 140,832 140,832 
Occupational tax n,B44 n ,B44 
Property tax 50,367 50,367 
Grants and contributions-unrestricted 25,467 25,467 
Unrestricted investment earnings 8,362 8,362 218 
Other 14,351 14,351 4,439 

Total General Revenues, Special Items, and Transfers 317,223 317,223 4,657 

Change in Net Position: 18,880 1,632 20,512 18,032 
Net Position - Beginning 181 ,931 2,951 184,882 386,634 

Net Position - Ending: $ 200,811 $ 4,583 $ 205,394 $ 404,666 

The notes to the finanCial statemenU are an lnte&fiIIl part of this statement, 

2. 



City of Binningham, Alabama 
Balance Sheet 

Governmental Funds 
June 30, 2013 
(in thousands) 

Capital 2010-Recovery Other Total 
Improvement Binningham Public Zone Econ Dev Governmental Governmental 

General Debt Reserve Debt Service Fund Fund Improvement Warrants 2013·A Bonds Funds Funds 

Assets 
Cash and investments $ 61,402 $ 22,837 $ 396 $ 18,957 $ 86,126 $ 839 $ 16,445 $ 69,781 $ 42,443 $ 319,226 
Cash with fiscal agent 3,315 3,315 
Receivables: 

Accrued interest 35 122 12 291 9 74 543 
Accrued taxes 27,843 183 77 357 28,460 
Accounts (net of uncoUectibles) 2,871 940 3,811 
Notes (net of uncolledibles) 87 32 119 
Loans 1,014 119 1,133 
Due from other governments 2,403 2,403 
Special assessments 11 ,298 11,298 

Due from component units 975 975 
Inventories 1,503 1,503 
Prepaid Items 441 441 
Other 403 403 

T otaJ Assets: $ 98,976 5 23,142 $ 396 $ 18,969 $ 86,418 $ 12,214 $ 16,455 $ 69,780 $ 47,280 $ 373,630 

Liabilities and Fund Balances 
Liabilities: 
Accounts and vouchers payable 7,801 14 315 106 50 199 862 9,347 
Contracts payable 451 451 
Contracts payable-retainage 51 334 93 910 1,388 
Accrued payroll and payroll taxes payable 1,378 5 1,383 
Other liabilities {4,152~ 11,375 ,1,111 ) 6,112 

Total Uabilities: 5,478 14 366 106 11,375 384 292 666 18,681 

Fund Balances: 
Nonspendable: 

Inventory 1,573 1,573 
Prepaid items 344 344 

Spendable: 
Restricted: 

Debt SeNice 23,142 5,147 28,289 
Capital Projects 18,603 839 16,071 69,488 28,941 133,942 
Other 293 293 

Assigned: 
Debt Service 382 382 

Committed to: 
Stabilization 86,312 86,312 
Ne~h~oodlmprovements 8,376 8,376 
Other Purposes 3,148 3,148 

Unassigned 91,581 709 92,290 
Total Fund Balances: 93,498 23,142 382 18,603 86,312 839 16,071 69,488 46,614 354,949 

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances: $ 98,976 $ 23,142 $ 396 $ 18,969 $ 86,418 $ 12,214 $ 16,455 $ 69,780 $ 47,280 $ 373,630 

The now to the fiMndal statements are an h,teeral part of dU$ statement. 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet 

To the Statement of Net Position 

Fund Balance - Total governmental funds 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in 
the statement of net assets are different 
because: 

Year Ended 
June 30, 2013 

Deferred revenues are not recognized until available in the funds. 

Deferred items related to debt issuance used in governmental activities 
are not current financial resources and therefore are reported in the 
reported in the governmental funds balance sheet. 

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current 
financial resources and therefore are not reported in the 
balance sheet. 

Governmental capital asset 

Accumulated depreciation 

long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current 

period and therefore, they are not reported in the 

governmental funds balance sheet. 

Bonds and warrants payable 

Capitalized leases 

Compensated absences 

Accrued interest payable 

Landfill closure cost 

OPES liabilily 

Workers' Compensation claims payable 

Estimated claims payable 

Net pension obligation 

Net position of governmental activities 

$ 795,963 

(366,539) 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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$ 354,949 

10,622 

16,511 

429,424 

(502,239) 

(1,074) 

(14,843) 

(4,927) 

(13,489) 

(25,893) 

(17,209) 

(17,139) 

(13,882) (610,695) 

$ 200,811 



Revenues 
Taxes $ 
Licenses and permits 
Intergovernmental 
Charge, for services 
Fines and forfaUures 
Investment Income 
Other operating revenues 

Total Revenues 

Expenditures 
Current Expenditures 

Public safely 
Police 
Fire 
Planning,Engineering and Permits 
Traffic Engineering 
Municipal Court 
Nondepartmental 

Street and Sanitation 
Public Works 

Cultural and r8C(eatlonai 
Par1l. & R8C(ealion 
Librery 
Mlngton Historical Homa 
Boutwell Auditorium 
Museum of Art 
Sloss Furnace 
Southern Museum of Flight 
State Fairgrounds 
Nondepartmental 

General government: 
Finance 
Equipment Management 

tnformation Management Services 
CityCler1l. 
Community Development 
Council Office 
Legal 
Mayor'sOfflce 
Personnel 
Nondepartmental 
Municipal Court 

Debt Service: 
Principal 
Interest and fees 

Capital Outlay 
Capilal oullays 

Totel Expenditures 
Excess (Deficiency) Of Revenues Over 
(Under) Expenditures 

Other financing sources (usas) 
Proceeds from Issuance of debt 
Proceeds from capital lease 

(Premium)/Discount on debt Issuance 
Payment to escrow agent 
Transfers In 
Transfers oul 

Total Other financing sources (uses):: 
Net Change in Fund Balances 
Fund Balances · Beginning 

Fund Balances · Ending $ 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

Debt 
General Reserve 

248,960 $27,977 
66,709 
11,074 268 
12,514 

2,750 
67 (216) 

1°1764 
372,838 28,049 

84,474 
53,927 
11 ,413 
9,619 
4,503 

46,415 

10,849 
14,307 

"" 1,163 
3,164 

477 
700 

4,192 

9,578 
16,238 

8,519 
1,437 

562 
2,675 
6 ,824 
8,175 
6,834 

40,269 

8,828 
5,946 

1,5<19 
363,131 

9 ,707 28,049 

1,074 

10 
(9,406) (34,580) 

(8,3221 (34,5801 
1,385 (6,531) 

92,1 13 29,673 
93,498 $23:142 

Governmental Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30,2013 

(in thousands) 

Capital 
Improvement Blnnlngham Public 

Debt Service Fund Fund Imerovement 

$ $ • $ 

$ 

(51) 6,200 • 
22 79 

(29) 8.200 .7 

73 2,171 3,749 3 

22,225 
11,892 

2,309 1,112 
34,190 4,480 4,861 3 

~34, 1901 14,5091 3,339 '" 
2,000 

(39) 
(1,955) 
34,580 9,501 

34,586 9,501 
396 4,992 3,339 '" j141 13,611 82,973 755 
382 • 18,603 S 86,312 $ .39 

Th. no". to the flnln(I.1 aI."menu tr. I n IrlltS,,1 p.,t 01 thl, ltltem.nl, 

" 

2010·8 
Recovery 

Zone Econ 2013·A 
Dev Warrants Bonds 

$ • 

25 2 

111 
25 1 

50 

' .7 

1,006 

670 

8,969 
10462 

{10,4371 !4,4891 

68,061 

5,916 

73,977 
69,488 

S 69,488 

Other Total 
Governmenta Governmental 

I Funds Funds 

• 3,578 $ 280,515 
86,709 

33,458 44,620 
72 12,566 

2,053 4,803 
326 6,361 

41436 15,300 
43,923 453,094 

3,004 87,536 
1,218 55,145 
1,691 13,104 

9,619 
2,533 7,036 

56 56 

(29) 46,436 

207 11 ,543 
14,307 

"" 1,163 
3,164 

'77 
700 

4,192 
329 329 

622 10,200 
16,236 

8,519 
1,437 

13,001 13,563 
2,675 
6,824 

7 8,182 
6,834 

1,661 48,932 
9 9 

7,595 38,648 
3,923 22,431 

{6,O63) ~18,5091 

70,061 
1,074 

5,8n 
(1,955) 

21)' 44,296 
~3101 {44,2961 

POOl 75,057 
(6, 168) 56,548 
52,782 298,401 

$ 46.614 S 354,949 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes In Fund Balances of Governmental funds to the 

Statement of Activities 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2013 

(In thousands) 

Net increase in fund balances - total governmental funds 

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. In the 

statement of activities, however, these costs are allocated over 

their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. 

This is the amount by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation 

in the current period. 

The repayment of principal of long-term debt uses current resources of 

governmental funds but has no effect on net assets 

Issuance of new bonds, warrants 

Issuance of capital lease 

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not 

require the use of current financial resources and are not reported 

as expenditures in governmental funds: 

Change in compensated absences 

Change in closure and postclosure costs 

Amortization of deferred charges 

Change in interest payable 

Change in workers compensation 

Change in OPEB 

Change in net pension asset 

Change in estimated claims 

Revenue not recognized until future years 

Loss on disposal of fixed assets 

Increase in net position of governmental activities 

Capital Outlay 

Depreciation 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

30 

34,128 

(15,963) 

(301) 

(313) 

528 

175 

(2,950) 

(5,713) 

(9,477) 

$ 

$ 

56,548 

18,165 

39,420 

(75,938) 

(1,074) 

(18,051) 

(266) 

76 

18,880 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
General Fund 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2013 

(in thousands) 

Budgeted Amounts 
Variance with 
Final Budget-

Positive 
Original Final Actual Amounts (Negative) 

Revenues 
Taxes $ 246,208 $ 255,458 $ 248,960 $ (6,498) 
Licenses and penn Its 86,045 86,545 86,709 164 
Intergovernmental 10,759 10,759 11,074 315 
Charges for services 12,679 12,689 12,514 (175) 
Fines and forfeitures 3,017 3,017 2,750 (267) 
Investment income 780 780 67 (713) 
Other operating revenues 6,361 10,612 10,762 150 

Total Revenue 365,849 379,860 372,836 (7,024) 

Expenditures 
Current Expenditures 

Public safety 166,263 167,186 163,936 3,250 
Street and sanitation 46,641 46,849 46,415 ' 434 
Cultural and recreational 36,307 36,370 35,346 1,024 
General government 99,465 104,890 101 ,111 3,779 

Debt Service 
Principal 10,480 8,828 8,828 
Interest and fees 6,215 5,977 5,946 31 

Capital Outlay 
Capital outlays 280 525 1,549 (1,024) 

Total Expenditures 365,651 370,625 363,131 7,494 
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over (Under) 
Expenditures 198 9,235 9,705 470 

Other financing sources (uses) (198) (9,393) (8 ,322) 1,071 
Net Change in Fund Bal~nces (158) 1,383 1,541 

Fund Balances M Beginning 92,113 92,113 92,113 
$ 92,113 $ 91,955 $ 93,496 $ 1,541 

The notes to the financial statements are an Integral part of this statement. 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Statement of Net Position 

Proprietary Funds 
Emergency Management Communication District 

June 30,2013 
(in thousands) 

Assets 
Current assets 

Cash and investments $ 2,932 
Total Current assets 2,932 

Restricted assets 

Accounts and grants receivable 530 
Total Restricted assets 530 

Property, plant, and equipment 

Buildings and systems 1,025 
Machinery and equipment 2,275 
Furniture and fixtures 811 
Less accumulated depreciation (2,643) 

Total Property, plant, and equipment 1,468 
Total Assets 4,930 

Liabilities 
Current liabilities 

Accounts payable 347 
Total Current liabilities 347 

Total Liabilities 347 

Net Position 
Invested in capital assets 722 
Unrestricted 3,861 

Total Net Position $ 4,583 

The notes to the financial statements are an Integral part of this statement. 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position 

Proprietary Funds 
For the Year Ended 

Emergency Management Communication District 
June 30, 2013 

Operating Revenues 
Service fees 

Total Operating Revenues 

Operating Expenses 
Public safety 

General and administrative 

Repairs and maintenance 

Depreciation 

Total Operating Expenses 

Operating Income (Loss) 

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 
Income (Loss) Before Contributions and Transfers 

Change in Net Position 

Total Net Position - Beginning 
Total Net Position - Ending 

(in thousands) 

$ 6,196 

6,196 

2,959 

729 

746 

130 

4,564 

1,632 

1,632 

1,632 

2,951 

$ 4,583 

The notes to the financial statements are an Integral part of this statement_ 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Statement of Cash Flows 

Proprietary ,Fnnd 
Emergency Management Commnnication District 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Cash received from customers 
Cash payments to suppliers 

Net cash from operating activities 

(in thousands) 

Cash flows from financing and related financing activities 
Acqnisition of capital assets 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash eqnivalents 
Cash and investments, beginning of year 
Cash and investments, end of year 

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash nsed by 
operating activities 
Operating gain (loss) 

Adjustments to reconcile operating gain (loss) to net cash used by operating activities 
Depreciation 
Change in acconnts receivable 
Change in accounts payable and contracts payable 

Net cash from operating activities 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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$ 

$ 

6,008 
(4,418) 
1,590 

852 

797 
2,135 
2,932 

1,632 

130 
(188) 

16 
1,590 



Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Receivables 

Member contributions 

Member loans 

Interest and dividends 

Total Receivables 

Investments, at fair value 

U.S. government obligations 

Domestic corporate bonds 

Domestic stocks 

Total Investments, at fair value 

Total Assets 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and other 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 

Fiduciary Funds 
June 30, 2013 
(in thousands) 

$ 18,579 

61 

11,715 

4,611 

16,387 

166,108 

214,872 

585,458 

966,438 

1,001,404 

1,651 
Accrued payroll and payroll taxes payable 23 

Total Liabilities 1,674 

Net Position 
Held in trust for future pension benefits 999,730 

Total Net Position $ 999,730 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement 
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Additions 
Additions 

Contributions 

Employer contributions 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 

Fiduciary Funds 
Pension Trust Funds 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2013 
(in thousands) 

$ 17,670 
Plan member contributions 15,848 

Investment income 
Investment earnings 99,279 
Securities lending 471 

Other income 4 
Total Additions 133,272 

Total Additions 133,272 

Deductions 
Deductions 

Benefits 76,884 
Refunds of contributions 2,107 
Administrative expenses 1,168 
Investment expenses 3,567 

Total Deductions 83,726 
Total Deductions 83,726 
Change in Net Position 49,546 

Net Position - Beginning 950,184 
Net Position - Ending $ 999,730 

The notes to the financial statements are an Integral part of this statement. 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Combining Statement of Net Position 

Nonmajor Component Units 
June 3D, 2013 
(in thousands) 

Birmingham Birmingham Total NonmaJor 
Airport Authority Parking Authority Component Units 

Assets 
CURRENT ASSETS 

Unrestricted assets 
Cash and investments $ 24,681 $ 3,784 $ 28,466 
Receivables 

Accounts (net of uncolleclibles) 1,423 273 1,696 
Due from other governments 342 342 
Inventories 99 99 
Prepaid items 300 61 361 

Restricted assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 24,663 24,663 
Investments 55,940 55,940 
Accounts and grants receivable 1,471 1,471 
Accrued interest receivable 223 223 

NONCURRENT ASSETS 

Other assets 
Deferred charges 3,788 

Capital assets 
Land 167,902 1,940 169,842 
Buildings and capital facilities 107,795 107,795 
Furniture and other equipment 14,690 1,177 16,067 
Accumulated depreciation (80,994) (772) (81,766) 
infrastructure 200,495 200,495 
Accumulated depreciation, infrastructure (92,610) (92,610) 
Construction in progress 191,225 191 ,225 

Total Assets 621,633 6,463 624,309 

Deferred outflows of resources 1,550 5,338 

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources 623,183 629,647 

Liabilities 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Payable from unrestricted assets 
Accounts and vouchers payable 1,114 124 1,238 
Accrued payroll and payroll taxes payable 111 111 
Due to primary government 1,149 1,149 
Compensated absences 35 35 

Payable from restricted assets 
Contracts Payable 9,291 9,291 
Accrued Interest Payable 5,325 5,325 
Current portion of revenue bonds payable 5,765 5,765 

LONG TERM LIABILITIES 
Compensated absences 458 195 653 
Bonds and warrants payable, net 201,413 201 ,413 

Total Liabilities: 223,366 1,614 224,980 

Net Assets 
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 344,958 2,345 347,303 
Restricted for 

Restricted for debt service 24,101 24,101 
Restricted for future proJects 5,432 5,432 

Unrestricted 25,326 2,504 27,830 
Total Net Position $ 399,817 $ 4,849 $ 404,666 

The notes to the financia l statements are an Integral part of this statement, 
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FunctionS/Programs 

Nonmajor Component Units 
Birmingham Airport Authority 

Birmingham Airport Authority 

Total Birmingham Airport Authority 

Birmingham Parking Authority 

Binningham Parking Authority 

Total Birmingham Parking Authority 
Total Nonmajor Component Units 

Expenses 

$ 36,997 $ 

36,997 

6,067 
6,067 

$ 43,064 $ 

Unrestricted 
investment 
earnings 

00., 

Total General 
Revenues, Special 
Items, and 
Transfers 

Change in 
Position: 

Net Position· 
Beginning 
Net Position· 
Ending: 

City of Binningham, Alabama 
Combining Statement of Activities 

Nonmajor Component Units 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2013 

(in thousands) 

Program Revenues Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Assets 

Charges for Operating Grants Binningham Binningham 
Services and Contributions Airport Authority PariUng Authority Total 

37,543 $ 12,759 $ 13,306 $ $ 13,306 
37,543 12,759 13,306 13,306 

6,135 69 69 
6,135 69 69 

43,678 $ 12,759 13,306 69 13,375 

212 6 218 
4,439 4,439 

4,651 6 4,657 

17,957 75 18,032 

381,860 4,TI4 386,634 

$ 399,817 $ 4,849 $ 404,666 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2013 

I. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

A. Reporting Entity 

The City of Birmingham, located in Alabama, is a municipal corporation that was incorporated on 
December 19, 1871. The City operates under a Mayor·Council form of government as provided 
by Act No. 425 of the Alabama Legislature (The Mayor-Council Act) and is comprised of a 
Mayor elected at large and a nine-member council that is elected by district. 

The financial statements of the City have been presented in conformity with accounting principles 
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applied to governmental units. The 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for 
establishing governmental accounting and financial repolting principles. 

The accompanying financial statements present the City and its component units, entities for 
which the City of Birmingham is considered to be financially accountable. The City' s di scretely 
presented component units are presented in total in a separate column in the government-wide 
financial statements to emphasize that they are legally separate from the City. 

Discretely presented component units 
• The Birmingham Airport Authority (BAA) is a seven-member board appointed by the City and 
is a public corporation organized under the provisions of the Code of Alabama. The Authority is 
responsible for the operations of the Birmingham-Shuttlesworth International AirpOlt. Because 
the City of Birmingham appoints the BAA's governing body, the Authori ty is included as a 
component unit in these financial statements. The BAA's fi scal year ends June 30. 

The BAA reimburses the City for the cost of providing security and fire protection services to the 
Airport. Amounts charged by the City for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, totaled $3,729,969. 

The Birmingham Parking Authority (BPA) is a three-member board appointed by the City and 
operates parking facilities in the City and also acts as a financing agent for certain other parking 
facilities. The City appoints the BPA's governing body and the Authority is included as a 
component unit in these financial statements. The BPA's fi scal year ends June 30. 

Complete financial statements for each component unit may be obtained at the following 
administrative offices: 

Birmingham Airport Authority 
5900 Airpolt Highway 
Birmingham, Alabama 35222 
Financial statement date: June 30, 2013 

Related Organizations 

Binninllham Parking Authority 
17325" Avenue North 
Birmingham, Alabama 35203 
Financial statement date: June 30, 2013 

The City of Birmingham is also responsible for appointing a voting majority of the boards of 
other organizations, but the City' s financial accountability for these organizations does not extend 
beyond making the appointments. The City appointes a voting majority of the Birmingham­
Jefferson County Transit Authority (BJCTA) and the Birmingham Housing Authority (BHA). In 
fi scal year 2013, the City provided funding to the BJCTA in the amount of $10,800,000 and 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2013 

$39,565 to the BHA. These organizations are related organizations that have not been included 
within the City's financial statements. 

B. Govel'Dment-wide and Fund Financial Statements 

The government-wide financial statements of the City consist of the statement of net position and 
the statement of activ ities for all of the nonfiduciary activities of the City and its two component 
units. The effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. The statements 
report separately the governmental activities from the business-type activities. Governmental 
activities are normally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, whereas business-type 
activities rely on fees and charges for support. The City, as the primary government, is shown 
separately from its two lega lly separate component units. 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given 
function are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable 
with a specific function; program revenues include (a) charges to customers who purchase, use, 
or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function, and (b) grants 
and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a 
palticular funct ion. General revenues include taxes and other items not included in program 
revenues. 

Included in this repolt are separate financial statements for governmental funds, proprietary 
funds, and fiduciary fu nds, even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide 
financial statements. The City reports its major individual governmenta l funds as separate 
columns in the fund financia l statements. 

C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 

The accounting and financial repolting treatment applied to a fund is determ in ed by its 
measurement focus. The government-wide financial statements, the proprietary fund financia l 
statements, and the fiduciary fund financial statements are all reported using the economic 
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under this focus and basis, 
revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, 
regard less of when the cash is received or expended. 

Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year of their levy; grants and sim ilar items are 
recognized as revenue when all the el igibility requirements of the providers have been met. 

All governmental funds are accounted for using the current financial resources measurement 
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under the modified accrua l basis of 
accounting, revenues are recorded when they are both measurable and ava ilable. The City of 
Birm ingham considers revenues to be available if they are collected with in 60 days of the end of 
the current fiscal period; the major sources of accrued revenue are the various business and ad 
valorem taxes the City collects as well as grant revenues. Expenditures are recorded when the 
liabil ity is incurred, consistent with accrual accounting. Debt service expenditures, claims and 
judgments, as well as expenditures re lated to compensated absences are recorded only when 
payment is due. 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 20 13 

The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles, requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabi lities, contingent liabilities and the repOlted amount of revenues and 
expenditures/expenses during the repOIting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

Subsequent events were eva luated through the date the financial statements were issued. 

For the purposes ofthe statement of cash flows, highly liquid investments with a maturity of three 
months or less when purchased are considered to be cash equivalents. 

The City of Bimlingham reports the foll owing major governmental fund s: 

The General Fund is the City 'S primary operating fund and accounts for a ll financial resources 
except those required to be accounted for in other funds . 

The General Bond Debt Reserve Fund accounts for the receipt of propelty taxes earmarked for 
debt service. 

The General Bond Debt Service Fund accounts for the payment of principal and interest on 
general obligation bonds. 

The Birmingham Fund is considered a Specia l Revenue Fund and accounts for proceeds the 
City received from the sale of the Industrial Water Board. The Birmingham fund is considered a 
reserve fund set aside for use in emergency situations and/or as revenue shortages or budgetmy 
imbalances occur. Funds may be appropriated as follows: (a) Operating Budget Amendments or 
other appropriations for any fi scal year, not exceeding 5% of the five year average market value 
of the fund , by majority council vote; (b) Any other additional amount for any lawful purpose 
with majority Council vote and a declaration of extraordinalY circumstance. 

The Capita! improvement Fund accou nts for funds from miscellaneous sources used for various 
capita l improvement projects which are financed by these warrants. 

The 2010 RecovelY Zone Economic Development Warrants Fund account for funds used for 
various capital improvement projects. 

The Public improvement Fund accounts for construction of Public Improvements which are to 
be paid who lly or in part from assessments levied against the property benefited by the 
improvements. 

The 2013-A Bonds Capita! Appreciation Bonds are used to account for various capital projects 
financed by these bonds. 

The City repOlts its only proprietary fund as a major proprietaly fund: 

The Emergency Management Communications District accounts for the operation of the 
Enhanced Universal Emergency Number Service (E911). 

The Pension Trust Funds account for the activities of the City's seven pension plans. 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 20 13 

The accompanying financia l statements reflect the elimination of interfund activity with the 
exception of the charges to the City's proprietary fund. These amounts are shown on the 
statement of net position as internal balances. 

The operating revenues of the proprietary fund include charges to customers for the operation of 
the 911 telephone service. Nonoperating revenues include investment earnings. The operating 
expenses of the proprietary fund are those expenses incurred in the normal operations of 
providing the 911 serv ices, as well as depreciation of the capital assets. 

D. Assets, Liabilities, and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources and Net Position or 
Fund Balance 

I. Deposits and Investments - Cash and cash equivalents include amounts in demand 
deposits as well as sholt-term investments with a maturity date within three months of the 
date acquired by the City. State statutes authorize the City to invest in U. S. government 
ob ligations, U. S. government agency obligations, U.S. corporate stock, U.S. debt, State of 
Alabama obligations, county obligations, and other municipal obligations . The City 
invests its funds in accordance with State law 

All investments, including those ofthe City's component units, are reported at fair value, 
market value, or best available estimates. Short-tel111 investments are repOlted at cost 
which approximates market value. Securities traded on a national or international 
exchange are valued at the last repOlted sa les price at current exchange rates. All 
investments have established markets to determine their fair value. 

2. Receivables and Payables - The City shows "due to/from other funds" at the end of the 
fiscal year to show any current outstanding balances from lending/borrowing 
arrangements between funds. 

The City shows receivables at June 30, 2013 consist of the following: 

Governmental Business - Type Total Primary 
Activities Activities Government 

Taxes Receivable $ 28,459,836 $ $ 28,459,836 
Customers and Other 9,503,613 529,833 10,033,446 
Other Governments 3,377,928 3,377,928 
Gross Receivable 41,341,377 529,833 41,871 ,210 
Less: allowance for Uncollectible (5,632,583) (5,632,583) 
Net Receivab le $ 35,708,794 $ 529,833 $ 36,238,627 

Taxes Receivable - All property taxes levied by the State of Alabama, the City, Jefferson 
and Shelby Counties, are assessed by the Jefferson and Shelby Counties Tax assessors 
and collected by their tax collectors. The propelty tax calendars specify the following 
actions and dates: 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2013 

Levy (assessment date) 
Lien date 
Due date 

September 30 
September 30 
October I 

Collection dates 
Delinquent date 

October I to December 31 
JanualY I 

The City of Birmingham receives a 4% sales tax for the sale of tangible goods within the 
City limits and a 1% occupational tax on wages of persons employed within the City 
limits. Tax collections are remitted to the City on a monthly basis. All amounts remitted 
within the bill paying period are included in revenue; taxes due within the fiscal year but 
remitted to the City after year-end are accrued in both the government-wide and fund 
financial statements. 

3. Inventories and Prepaid Items - Inventories are valued on the average cost basis. 
Inventory consists of expendable supplies held in the General Fund for consumption. 
The cost is recorded as expenditure at the time individual items are used (consumption 
method). Payments made to vendors for services that will benefit periods beyond June 
30, 2013, are recorded as prepaid items. 

4 . Restricted assets - Certain assets of the Birmingham Airport Authority (component unit) 
are restricted by the terms of federal grants and programs. These palticular funds are 
restricted for designated capita l projects and any debt incurred to finance the construction 
of those projects. 

5. Capital assets - Capital assets include property, buildings, fumiture and other equipment, 
and infrastructure. Ca pital assets are reported in the app licable governmenta l or business­
type activities co lumns in the government-wide financial statements. Capital outlays are 
recorded as expenditures of the governmental funds . Capital assets, other than 
infrastructure, are defined by the City as items with an estimated useful life of three years 
or more and an individual cost in excess of $5,000. Capital assets are recorded at cost 
where historical cost is avail able or at estimated historica l cost if actual cost is not 
available. Donated capital assets are recorded at their estimated fair value at time of 
donation . The costs of normal repairs and maintenance that do not add to the va lue of the 
asset or materially extend useful lives are expensed. Upon sale or retirement of capital 
assets, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the respective 
accounts and any resulting ga in or loss is included in the results of operations. 

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated 
useful li ves : 

ASSETS 
Bui ldings, capita l facilities 
and improvements 
Furniture and equipment 
Infrastructure 

YEARS 
50 

3 -20 
25 - 50 

The City recognizes the intrinsic value of historical works and collections. As such, the 
City has adopted a policy that these items will not be considered capital items and su bject 
to depreciation . This policy covers the historical works and collections housed at the 
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City' s various museums. Shou ld the sale of any of these items occur, the City is 
committed to using the funds generated from the sale to purchasing other similar 
collectibles. 

6. Compensated absences - City of Birmingham employees earn vacation leave at graduated 
rates based on the employee 's length of service (one day per month of service, initially), 
and up to 40 days of unused leave may be carried over to the fo llowing yeaI'. Vacation 
pay is accrued when incurred in the govel'l1ment-wide financial statements . The City does 
not have a policy for vested sick pay, thus no liability for accumulated unpaid sick leave is 
accrued. 

7. Long-term obligations - Long-term debt and other long-term obligations are repOited in 
the govel'l1ment-wide fi nancia l statements. Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and 
amortized over the li fe of the bonds. Bonds payable are repOited net of the applicable 
bond premiums and discounts. Bond issuance costs are reported as deferred charges and 
amOitized over the term of the related debt. 

In the fund financia l statements, any bond premiums and issuance costs have been 
recognized in the current period. The face amount of the new debt issued and the 
premiums received are reported as other financing sources; issuance costs are reported as 
debt service expenditures. 

8. Equity classification - In the govel'l1ment-wide statements, equity is classified as net 
position and displayed in three components: a. Invested in capital assets, net of related 
debt - consists of capita l assets including restricted capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes, or 
other borrowings that are attributab le to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of 
those assets; b. Restricted net position - consists of net position with constraints placed on 
the use either by ( I) extel'l1al groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or 
regulations of other governments; or (2) law through constitut iona l or enabling legislation; 
c. Unrestricted net position - all other net position that does not meet the definition of 
"restricted" or " invested in capital assets, net of re lated debt". 

In the fund financial statements, governmenta l funds report aggregate amounts for five 
classifications of fund balances on the constraints imposed on the use of these resources. 
The nonspendable fund balance c lassification includes amounts that cannot be spent 
because they are either (a) not in spendable form-prepaid items or inventories; or (b) 
legally or contractua lly required to be mainta ined intact. 

The spendable port ion of the fund ba lance compri ses the remaining four classifications: 
restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned. 

Restricted fund balance - This classification reflects the constraints imposed on 
resources either (a) externa lly by cred itors, grantors, contributors, or laws or 
regu lations of other govel'l1ments; or (b) imposed by law through constitutional 
prov isions or enabling legislation . 

Committed fond balance - These amounts can only be used for specific purposes 
pursuant to constraints imposed by ordinances of the City Counc il, the government's 

44 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2013 

highest level of decision making authority. Those committed amounts cannot be used 
for any other purpose unless the City Council removes, or changes the commitment 
by taking the same action it employed to impose the commitment. This classification 
also includes contractual obligations to the extent that existing resources in the fund 
have been committed for use in satisfy ing those contractual requirements. 

Assigned fond balance - This classification reflects the amounts constrained by the 
City's " intent" to be used for specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor 
committed. The City council and Finance Director have the authority to assign 
amounts to be used for specific purposes. Assigned fund balances include all 
remaining amounts (except negative balances) that are repOlted in governmental 
funds, other than the General Fund, that are not classified as nonspendable and are 
neither restricted nor committed. 

Unassigned fund balance - This fund balance is the residual classification for the 
General Fund. It is also used to report negative fund balances in other governmental 
funds. 

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City's 
policy to use externally restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources-committed, 
assigned, and unass igned-in order as needed. 

9. Deferred outflows/inflows of resources - In addition to assets, the statement of net 
position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This 
separate financia l statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a 
consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be 
recognized as an outflow or resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The City only 
has one item that qualifies for repOlting in this category. It is the deferred charge on 
refunding results from the difference in the carrying value of refunded debt and its 
reacquisition price. This amount is deferred and amortized over the shorter of the life of 
the refunded (old) or refunding debt (new debt). 

Currently effective pronouncements 
In June 2011, the GASB issued Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred 
Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position. This standard 
provides gu idance on the reporting of deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of 
resources and net position. App lication is effective for periods beginning after December 
IS, 20 II (fiscal year 2013) . 

Future pronouncements 
The GASB issued Statement No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities. 
This standard attempts to improve financial reporting by clarifying the appropriate use of 
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources, thereby ensuring 
financial reporting consistency. Application is effective for periods beginning December 
15, 2012 (fiscal year 201 4). 

The GASB issued Statement No. 66, Technical Corrections-2012-an amendment ofGASB Statements 
No. 10 and No. 62, the objective of this statement is to resolve conflicting accounting and financial 
reportin g guidance that could diminish the consistency of financia l reporting and thereby enhance the 
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usefulness of the financial reports. Application is effective for periods beginning after December 15, 
20 12 (fiscal year 2014). 

The GASB issued Statement No. 67, Financial Reporting/or Pension Plans- an amendment to GASB 
Statement No. 25. The objective of thi s statement is to improve financial reporting primarily through 
the enhancement of note disc losures and schedules of required supplementary information that wi ll be 
presented by the pension plans that are within its scope. Application is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after June 15, 2013 (fisca l year 2014). 
The GASB issued Statement No. 70, Accollnling and Financial Reporting/or Nonexchange Financial 
GlIaranlees. The objective of this statement is to improve accounting and financ ial reporting by state 
and local governments that extend and rece ive nonexchange financial guarantees. Application is 
effective for fi scal years beginning after June 15, 20 13. (fiscal year 20 14). 

II. Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability 

A. Budgetary Information 

The annual budget for the City of Birmingham' s General Fund is adopted on a basis consistent 
with generally accepted accounting principles. Budgets for the Special Revenue and Capita l 
Projects Funds are adopted on an individual proj ect basis. Budgets are prepared for the Debt 
Service Funds based on genera l obligati on bond resolutions. 

On or before May 20, the Mayor submits to the City Council a proposed General Fund operating 
budget for the upcoming fi scal year commenc ing July I . The proposed budget includes proposed 
expenditures and the means of financing them. Subsequently, a publi c hearing is he ld to obtain 
taxpayer comments; and prior to Ju ly I , the offi cia l budget is enacted through passage of an 
ord inance. 

The City ' s budget is prepared by fund , function, and depal1ment. The indi vidual depm1ments are 
authorized by the Mayor to make transfers of appropriations within their depaltments; however, 
any revisions that alter the total expenditures of any fund or transfer between departments must 
be approved by City Counci l. The legal level of budgetary control is the department level. This 
year's General Fund budget was amended as needed throughout the year by City Council action 
provided that adequate funds were ava ilable at the time of the amendments. 

Encumbrance accounting is used in governmental funds. All general fund purchase orders lapse 
at year end and are reestabli shed along with the ir appropriations as needed in the new fi sca l year. 
All purchase orders in capita l projects and special revenue funds do not lapse and appropriations 
are reappropriated in the next fi sca l year. 

B. F und Deficits of Non-Major Funds 

Deficits in net position/fund balance of non-major funds at June 30, 2013 are as fo llows: 

Specia l Revenue Fund 
Grants Fund $1,778,874 
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Deficits in the Grant Fund results from expenses incurred for projects that were not reimbursed at 
June 201 3. 

Ill. Detailed Notes on All Funds 

A. Deposits and Investments 

Deposits - At June 30, 201 3, the carrying amount of the City 's demand depos its, cel1ificates of 
deposits, and money market investments in all fu nds was $200,260,277 and the bank balance was 
$212,700,975. 

Financial insti tutions utilized as depositories by the City must provide evidence of its designation by 
the Alabama State Treasurer as a qualified public depository under the Security of Alabama Funds 
Enhancement Act (SAFE). The City requires that the qualified public depository (QPD) hold 
collateral for all its publ ic depositories on a pooled basis in a custody account established by the State 
Treasurer as SAFE administrator. In the unli kely event a public entity should suffer a deposit loss 
due to QPD inso lvency or default; a claim form would be fil ed with the State Treasurer who would 
use the SAFE pool collateral or other means to reimburse the loss. 

Investments - At June 30, 2013, the City of Birmingham had the following investments: 

Investment Type 

u .S. Gov!. agency obligations 

U.S . Treasuries 

U.S. Corporate debt 

U.S. Corporate stock 

Tota l fair value 

P0l1folio weighted avg. maturity 

Birmillgham FUI/d 

$ 

Fair Value 

139,068,243 

99,012,623 

243,537,478 

626,667,509 

$ I, I 08,285,853 

Weighted Avg. Maturity 
(years) 

7.67 

5.14 

6.56 

6.58 

The voters of the City authorized a trust fund , ca lled the Birmingham Fund. The Council, by 
ordinance in 1999, establi shed guidelines for the appropriation, withdrawal and investment of the 
Fund, which is actively managed by a professional management firm. For each fi sca l year of the City 
the An nual Limit, or maximum amount of money that shall be disbursed, cannot exceed five percent 
of the five year average market value of the Fund, calculated at the end of each fi sca l year. The 
Council may, with five affirmative votes, expend more that the five percent by declaring an 
extraordinary circumstance in an ordinance specifyi ng the amount and purpose of the expenditure, 
with approva l of the Mayor. The Fund ' s current investment policy provides for investment 
a llocations of 50%, or more, in fixed income securities and 50%, or less, in a broadly diversified 
portfolio of equity securities. 
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The City's investment poli cy for its Retirement and Re lief System does limit investment 
maturities as a means of managing its exposure to fa ir va lue losses arising from increasing 
interest rates. 

I I/ vestmel/ts Highly Sel/sitive to Illterest Rate Chal/ges 
The C ity invests in mortgage-backed securities, representing U.S. government agency obligations 
with a fa ir va lue of $17,92 1,529. Mortgage-backed securi ties are based on cash flows from the 
collection of mOltgages. Prepayments arise when, for example, mOltgage holders redeem their 
mortgages early. The investor's investment is returned early, or in extreme cases not returned at 
all. MOItgage-backed securities may be considered to be investments with terms that may cause 
their fa ir va lues to be highly sensitive to interest rate changes. 

Credi t R isk: Cred it risk exists when there is a possibi lity the issuer or other counterparty to an 
investment may be unable to fu lfi ll its obligations. GASB statement Number 40 requires disclosure of 
credit qua lity ratings for investments in debt securi ties as well as investments in external investment 
poo ls, money market fu nds, bond mutual funds, and other pooled investments of fixed-i ncome 
securi ties. 

Investments may be aggregated by rat ing category within the disclosure. Ratings are set by nati onally 
recognized sta tistical rating organizations (Fitch Rati ngs, Moody' s Investors Service, and Standard & 
Poor's). In cases where an investment is unrated, a disclosure noting that the investment is unrated is 
req ui red . 

The City's in vestments included the fo llowing bonds at June 30, 20 13: 

Description 
U.S. Govt Agency Discount 
Notes, Bonds 

U.S. Corporate Bonds: AAA 

Rating 

AA 
A 

AA 
A 

BBB 
BB 
B 

136,5 J 0,243 
2,558,000 

$ 4,303,838 
34,527,966 

118,339,7 J 6 
72,580, I 03 
4,2 13,540 
9,572,3 15 

The City, at thi s time, does not have a formal credit risk policy. 

Fair Va lue 

J 39,068,243 

243,537,478 
$ 382 605,721 

Concentration of Credit Risk - A concentration in credit risk exists when investments in 
anyone type represents 5 percent or more of total investments and must be disclosed. 
Excluded from this requirement are investments issued or explicitly guaranteed by the U.S . 

48 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Notes to the Fi nancial Statements 

June 30, 20 13 

government and investments in mutual funds, external investment pools and other pooled 
investments. 

There were no investments held at June 30, 2013, which represented 5 percent or more of 
total investments, other than the exceptions noted above. 

Securities Lending Transactions - Under the provisions of State statutes, the City lends securities to 
broker-dealers and other entities (borrowers) for collateral that will be returned for the same securiti es 
in the future. One of the City's custodial banks manages the securities lend ing program and receives 
both cash and domestic bonds as collateral. The collateral securities cannot be pledged nor so ld by 
the City unless the borrower defaults. Co llateral securities are initially pledged at 102% of the market 
value of the securities lent and this collateral is adjusted weekly to maintain the 102% leve l. The 
City's Pension Plans authori ze the lending of domestic bonds and equi ty securities. The cash 
collateral is invested in commingled sholt-term fixed income accounts. The City, as a program 
palticipant, assumes the risk that (a) the overnight investment will not equal or exceed the rebate rate, 
(b) a loss of principal in the overnight investment, and (c) the collateral wi ll not be suffic ient ifcalled 
upon to repurchase the lost security. The market va lue of collateral held and the market va lue (USO) 
of secu rities on loan for the client as of June 30, 20 13 was $158,900,332 and $155,152,468, 
respectively. The City has incurred no loss through its palticipation in the securit ies lending program, 
and has no anticipated risk exposure. 

B. Capital Assets 

Capita l asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2013 was as follows (in thousands) : 

June 30, June 30, 
201 2 Increases Decreases 2013 

Governmental activities: 

Capital assets, nondepreciab le: 

Land $ 138,646 $ 305 $ 10 $ 138,942 

Construction in progress 71,254 27,474 47,543 51 , 185 

Land, infrastructure projects 16,647 16,647 
Tota l nondepreciable capita l 

assets 226,548 27,779 47,553 206,774 

Capita l assets, depreciable : 

Buildings and capital fac ilities 185,927 38,555 282 224, 199 

Furniture and other equipment 152,3 88 4, 103 269 156,222 

Infrastructure 197,457 11 ,3 10 208,768 

Tota l depreciable capita l assets 535,772 53,968 551 589, 189 
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Less accumulated depreciation : 

Buildings and capital faci lities 104,112 3,967 

Furniture and other equipment 113,85 1 6,102 

Infrastructure 133,014 5,894 
Tota l accumu lated 

deprec iation 350,977 15,963 

Net depreciab le capital assets 184,795 38,005 

Governmental activities, 
net capital assets $ 41 1,343 $ 65 ,784 $ 

Business-type activities: 
Bui ldings and other capita l 

facilities $ 1,025 $ $ 
Furniture and other equipment 2,233 852 
Total capital assets 3,258 

Less accumulated depreciation: 
Buildings and other capital 

facilities 441 20 
Furniture and other equipment 2,072 109 
Tota l accumulated depreciation 2,5 13 129 

Bnsiness-type activities, 
net capital assets $ 745 $ 723 $ 

Depreciation expense was charged to the fo llowing functions (in thousands): 

Governmental activities: 
Pub lic safety, including depreciation of infrastructure assets 
Streets and sanitation 
Cu ltura l and recreation 
General government 

Total depreciation - governmental activities 

Business-type activities: 

E-91 I operations 

50 

207 107,872 

194 119,759 

138,908 

401 366,539 

150 222,650 

47,703 $ ==4;,;;2;,;;9 'b4 2;;,,4~ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

1,025 
3,085 
4, 110 

46 1 
2,181 
2,642 

1,468 

9,456 
2,363 
2,977 
1,167 

$ =~1;;;51;;,,9;;;63~ 

$ 129 
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During the course of normal operations, the City incurs numerous transactions between funds to 
provide services, construct assets, service debt, etc. Their transactions are genera lly repolted as 
interfund transfers. No expectation of repayment between funds is expected related to these 
interfund transfers. The composition of interfund transfer balances at June 30, 20 13, is as follows 
(in thousands) : 

Non-
General Debt Capital Major 

Transfers Out Fund Se.vice Projects Funds Totals 

General Fund $ $ $ 9,202 $ 204 $ 9,406 

Debt Reserve 34,580 34,580 

Non-Major Funds 10 300 310 

$ 10 $ 34,580 $ 9,502 $ 204 $ 44,296 

D. Long-term Debt 

General obli gation bonds 
The City issues genera l ob ligation bonds to provide funds for the acqui sition and/or construction 
of capital assets. The bonds are direct obligations of the City and the fu ll faith and cred it of the 
City is pledged against the bonds. The bonds outstanding at June 30, 2013, are as follows (in 
thousands): 

Bond Series/Interest Rate Maturity 

2002-B; 2.25%-5.25% 12/01 /2015 145 
2005-A; 3.75%-5.75% 11 /01 /2023 23,845 
2006-A; 4.00%-5.00% 04/01 /2024 63,505 
2006-B; 4.00%-5.00% 10/0 1/20 15 34,655 
2007-A; 4.00%-5.00% 12/01 /2032 111,795 
2013-A; 1.36%-5 .00% 03/01 /2043 68,06 1 

Total 
$ 302,006 

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for general obligation bonds are as fo llows (in 
thousands): 

June 30, Pl"incipal Interest 
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2014 $ 20,225 $ 10,863 
20 15 21,230 9,823 
20 16 20,065 8,843 
20 17 14,17 1 8,053 
20 18 15,835 11 ,307 

20 19-2023 52,233 48,073 
2024-2028 50,437 37,32 1 
2029-2033 70,606 23 , 174 
2034-2038 16,343 12,880 
2039-2043 20,860 8,365 

Total $ 302,006 $ 178,702 

General obligation warrants and revenue warrants 
The City issues genera l obligation warrants for the same purposes as general obl igation bonds. 
The warrants are also direct ob ligations of the City for wh ich it pledges its fu ll fa ith and cred it. 
Under state statute, general obligation warrants can be issued without an election and must be 
issued for a period of maturity of not longer than thirty years . Revenue warrants are tax 
increment financing district warrants in which ad valorem taxes are co llected to fund the debt 
service. The origi nal amounts of warrants issued were $259,535,000. The wa rrants outstanding 
at June 30, 20 13, are as fo llows ( in thousands): 

Bond Seriesllnterest Rate 

2003-B; 1.2%-5% 
2004-B; 2.3%-4% 
2006-C; 4%-5% 
2007-B; 4%-5% 
2009-A; 3%-4.5% 
20 I 0-A;2%-4.5% 
20 10-B;4.2%-7% 
2012-RB;3.99% 
20 I 2-CBT;4.375% 
20 13-RB I ;0.85 % 

Total 

Revenue Warrants: 
2009-A Tax Increment Financing 
2009-B Tax Increment Financing 

Total 

Maturity 

07/01 /20 14 
04/01 /2020 
04/01/2033 
03/0 1/2030 
06/01 /2026 
02/01 /20 18 
02/01 /2040 
08/01 /2025 
08/01/2 022 
06/01 /2 01 4 

$ 

$ 

3,265 
4,695 

24,740 
22,095 
14,940 
44,065 
39, 11 5 

5,400 
900 

2,000 
161,2 15 

6,510 
13, 105 

$ ===1;,;;9;;;,6~1 5~ 

Annual debt service requirements to maturi ty for the City' s general obligation warrants and 
revenue warrants are as fo llows (in thousands): 

June 30 Principal Interest 
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2014 $ 
20 15 
2016 
2017 
2018 

2019-2023 
2024-2028 
2029-2033 
2034-2038 
2039-2040 

Total $ 

Total outstanding bonds and warrants payable (in thousands): 

Bonds payable 
Warrants payab le 
Revenue warrants 

Less current maturities 
Unamortized premium and di scount 

Total bonds and warrants payable(noncurrent) 

Changes in long-term liabi lities (in thousands): 

Balance 
July 1, 

Governmental activities: 2012 Addition 
Bonds and warrants payable 
(net of premium/di scounts) $ 468,168 $ 70,060 
Capitalized leases 1,074 
Worker's compensation claims 14,259 2,950 
Compensated absences 14,54 1 31 1 
Closure and postc1osure costs 13, 175 313 
OPEB liabi lity 25,893 

Total $ 536,036 $ 74,708 

Reduction 

$ (35,989) 
(103) 

$ (36,092) 

16,500 $ 
12,905 
13,485 
15,015 
15,695 
42,265 
27,175 
22,025 
10,835 
4,930 

180,830 $ 

$ 

7,409 
6,8 10 
6,245 
5,66 1 
4,983 

18, 146 
11,155 
5,649 
2,250 

286 
68,456 

302,006 
161 ,215 

19,6 15 
482,836 
(36,725) 

19,403 

$ =~46;;;;5,~5;,,;14= 

Due 
Balance Within 
June 30, One 

2013 Year 

$ 502,239 $ 36,725 
97 1 103 

17,209 
14,852 974 
13,488 
25,893 

$ 574,652 $ 37,802 

The City' s general fund is typically used to liquidate long-term liabilities with the exception of 
bond debt service wh ich is paid from the City's Bond Debt Reserve Fund. 

On May 9, 2013, the City issued $2,000,000 of its General Obligation Warrants Series 2013 RB I. 
The Warrants were issued for the purpose of currently refunding the City' s outstanding Series 
2003A Warrants due on June 1,2014 in the amount of$I ,955,000. The Series 2013 RB I 
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Warrants mature on June 1,20 14. The refunding resulted in a net present value savings of 
$45,684. 

E. Risk Management 

The City of Birmingham is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft, errors and 
omissions, job-related illnesses and injuries, and natural disasters. Risk management is the 
process of managing the C ity'S activities to minimize the adverse effects of celtain types of losses 
and to obtain resources to provide for or restore the economic damages of those losses. The City 
finances its ri sk through self-insurance (risk retention) and through the purchase of insurance with 
a commercial insurance carrier (risk transfer). 

The City is se lf-insured for its Workers' Compensation liability. The city currently has in force 
an excess workers compensation insurance policy, whereby the City retains the first $ 1,000,000 
of liability pel' claim and has a $2,000,000 corridor deductible. The City had a professional 
actuary estimate its' liability at June 30, 20 13. This amount was calculated to be $17,209,038 and 
has been accrued on the government-wide financial statements. The changes to the liability for 
workers compensation c laims are shown below: 

Current Year 
Claims and 

Beginning Changes in Claim Ending 
June 30 Liability Estimates Payments Liability 

20 13 14,259 2,950 17,209 
2012 14,265 (6) 14,258 
2011 11 ,947 2,3 18 14,265 
.2010 2,836 9, 111 11 ,947 
2009 2,836 2,836 

The C ity is a defendant in numerous suits and has been notified of numerous claims against it arising 
from alleged defective sidewalks and streets, a lleged negligence relat ing to motor vehicles and other 
matters relating to the normal operation of a municipality such as employment and contract disputes, 
as well as suits and claims arising from the alleged denial of civil rights. Section 11-93-1 et ~ of 
the Code of Alabama 1975, as amended, places a limit of$IOO,OOO with respect to the City 's liability 
for any bodily injury 01' death resulting from a negligent 0 1' wrongful act of one of the City's agents, 
officers, 0 1' employees. That provision fUlther places a limit of $300,000 with respect to the City's 
liability, in the aggregate, where more than two persons have claims 01' judgments on account of 
persona l injuries and deaths aris ing from a single occurrence. The Supreme Court of Alabama has 
upheld the constitutionality of this statute. The City is self-insured, any liability resulting from a suit 
0 1' claim is covered by funds of the City which are avai lable to di scharge such liability without 
impairing the City'S ability to perform any of its other obligations. The City covers all lega l claims 
out of its Genera l Fund resources. Claims and liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss 
has occurred, and the amount of that loss can be reasonably estimated. At June 30, 20 13, the 
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estimated amount of these liabilities totaled $ 18,501 ,857.00 and is considered a current liabi lity . The 
liability is the City's best estimate based on available information. 

Below is a li st of significant pending claims or litigation. 

CSX TranspOltation, Inc. v. City of Birmingham, CY201 0-90 1772, in the Tenth Judicial Circuit for 
the State of Alabama, CSX has filed a lawsuit for a refund of sales and use taxes paid by it to the City 
with respect to diesel fue l purchases for the years 2004, 2005 and 2006. The amount of refund sought 
is $2,200,000. 

CSX Transportation, Inc. v. City of Birmingham, CY- I 2-90406 I , in the Tenth Judicia l Circuit for the 
State of Alabama, CSX has filed a lawsu it seeking a refund of sales and use taxes paid by it to the 
C ity with respect to diese l fuel purchases for the years 2007 and 2008. The amount of refund sought 
is $3,000,000. 

BNSF Railroad v. City of Birmingham, CY -201 3-90 I 031 , under appea l, Plaintiff is seeking a refund 
of approx imately $ 1,000,000. Plaintiff alleges that refund is due under a Federal Statute that protects 
railroads from discrimination. BNSF alleges a t ime period that may be excluded under the statute of 
limitat ions. The City is proceeding with discovery and will file a motion to dismiss, upon completion 
of discovery based on the statute of limitations and the Plaintiffs fa ilure to exhaust all remedies with 
the Department of Finance before filing suit. 

Anthony Warren v. C ity of Birmingham CY09-RRA-I 025-S, in the Un ited States District COUlt for 
the NOIthem District of Alabama, Southern Division, is a lawsuit against the City of Binning ham and 
various named police officers alleging violations of Mr. Warren ' s c ivil ri ghts, including alleged use 
of excessive force by the police arising out of an arrest fo llowing a chase. The City has fil ed a motion 
for Summary Judgment. The City is actively defending the Case. 

ACIPCO v. City, CY-1 2-01210 and CY-1 2-90390, filed in the Tenth Judicial Circuit for the State of 
Alabama, is a lawsu it in which ACIPCO cla ims that it was improperly assessed business license tax 
as a manufacturer on gross rece ipts. AC IPCO maintains it stores pipe outside the City of 
Birmingham; therefore, any pipes stored outside the City shou ld not be taxed in Birmingham. 
Discovery has begun in the case, but no trial date has been set. The City is actively defending the 
case and asserts various defenses. 
Birmingham Fire Fighters v. City, CY-10-9035 12, is an action alleging the City failed to pay fu ll 
salaries to classified employees of the Birmingham Fire and Rescue Service (" BFRS") as required 
under the merit system statute regulating public employment in Jefferson County, AL and the 
withholding of excessive pension contributions fro m the salaries of BFRS employees. The City is 
actively defending the case and asserts various defenses. 

J.W., et al. v. Birmingham Ed . of Edu., et aI. , 2: 10-CY-3314-AKK, filed in th e United States District 
Court for the Northern District of Alabama, Southern Division, is a lawsuit against the Birmingham 
Board of Education, Bi rmingham Police Chief, and various Birmingham police officers. Plaintiffs 
assert claims arising under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 based on the officers' alleged ly unconstitutional use of 
mace aga inst Plaintiffs wh ile Plaintiffs were enrolled as students in Birmingham C ity Schoo ls. 
Plai nti ffs a lso assert state law tort claims for assault and battery and outrage. In add ition to their 
individual claims, Plaintiffs assert a llegations on behalf of a class composed of all current and future 
students who are or will be enrolled in any high school in the Birmingham City School system, 
seeking declaratory and injunctive relief pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2) to require a separate 
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policy and trai ning in the Birmingham Po lice Depaltment regarding the use of mace in high schools, 
which was celt ified by the District Court. Defendants moved fo r summary j udgment as to all 
Pla intiffs' claims. The District COUlt palt ia lly denied the City's motion for summary judgment. The 
City appea led the partial denial of summary j udgment in the United States COUlt of Appeals for the 
Eleventh Circui t. The Eleventh Circuit COUlt of Appeals affirmed the District COUlt ruling and 
rejected the appea l of the Chief of Police. The City will continue to vigorously defend all remaining 
allegations against it. 

Michael E. Carro ll v. City of Birmingham, et aI. , 2 : 10-cv-02244-KOB. Carroll , and those si milarly 
situated, allege vio lations of the Fa ir Labor Standards Act ("FLSA") in regards to the pay of 
fi refighters. Specifically, Carroll claims that firefi ghters were not paid overtime pay for hours 
worked over 40 in a workweek. Carro ll seeks unpaid compensation, liqu idated damages, interest, 
attorney's fees and eq uitable relief. The City and Mayor Be ll answered the Comp laint, den ied the 
material allegations, and asserted that fi refighters are partially exempt from the FLSA oveltime 
req uirement. One hundred seventy-two fi refighters filed consents to j oin in the action. Mayor Bell 
fi led a Motion for Summary Judgment. Counsel for Carroll agreed to dismiss a ll claims against 
Mayor Bell. The COUlt dismissed Mayor Bell as a party defendant to the case. On December 17, 
20 I 3, the Court granted sum mary judgment in favor of the City and dismissed the case. An appeal 
period of 30 days expires on January 16, 20 I 4. 

Ensley Revita li zati on Committee, et al. v. City of Birmingham, CY-201 2-903289.00, fi led in the 
Tenth Judicial Circui t fo r the State of Alabama. Plaintiffs asselt c laims for persona l injuries and real 
property damages from the will ful , wanton, and reckless neglect by the City of a city owned building. 
Discovery has begun in this civi l matter. The City will vigorously defend all allegations and asselt 
various defenses on beha lf of the City. 

Methvin et a l. v. City of Birmingham, CY-20 12-00088 1- Case is an appeal ofa Final Assessment of 
Business License taxes for 2009-20 I I. A six person law fi nn claims that their gross receipts from 
out-of-state c lients and cases fi led in other states were exempt from the City's Business License tax. 
$46,2 16.56 was assessed, individua lly, aga inst each of the six attol11eys. The trial COUlt held in 
Methvi n's favor and the case is currently on appea l to the Alabama Civil Court of Appea ls. The case 
has been submitted on briefs and is awaiting a decision. 

Changes in the General Fund's claims li abili ty amount in the last five fisca l years are as fo llows 
(in thousands): 

Beginning C hanges in Cla im Ending 
J une 30 Liabili ty Estimates Pal'ments Liability 

20 13 7,662 11 ,29 1 1,8 14 17,139 
2012 1,589 7,90 1 1,828 7,662 
2011 1,696 953 1,060 1,589 
2010 1,948 6 13 865 1,696 
2009 3,087 449 1,5 88 1,948 

Commitments and Contingencies 
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Birmingham Zoo Obligations - The City is obligated to make a contributi on of $ 1 ,500,000 
each year for a period of ten years, commencing in the fi scal year ended June 30, 20 I 0, and 
thereafter the contribution of $500,000 in each year for a period of fifteen years, to the 
Birmingham Zoo to pay the costs of operation and capital projects, including celta in new 
exhibits. 

Honda Plant Obligation - The City PaItlclpates in the East Central Alabama Industrial 
Development Authority (the "East Central Alabama Authority"), a public corporation created 
pursuant to Chapter 92A, Tit le II (Section 11-92A-I, ~ ~.) of the Code of Alabama of 
1975, as amended. The East Centra l Alabama Authority has issued bonds in the amount of 
$15,475,000 to provide financing for a portion of the costs of (i) making certain 
improvements with respect to a parcel of land located in Talladega County, Alabama upon 
wh ich American Honda Motor Company, Inc. (or an affi liate thereof) has constructed an 
automobile assembly plant and (ii) acquiring, constructing and/or installing a faci lity to teach 
skills relating to the automobile manufacturing industlY. The City, along with nine other 
cities and four counties, has entered into a funding agreement with the East Centra l Alabama 
Authority and First Commercia l Bank, as trustee, whereby the City agrees to make annual 
payments on February I in each of th e years 200 I through 2015, in an annual average amount 
of approximately $ 195,000, to pay principa l and interest on the outstanding princ ipal amount 
of $3 89,265. The obligation of the City to make these payments constitutes a general 
ob ligation ofthe City for which the fu ll faith , cred it and taxing power of the City is pledged. 

Tax Increment Financing Warrants 

On November 6, 2009, the City issued its Tax Increment Financing District No. I Revenue 
Warrant No. I , dated November 6, 2009, in aggregate principa l amount of $ 14,000,000 and 
its Tax Increment Financing District No. I Revenue Warrant No.2, dated November 6, 2009, 
in aggregate principal amount of $7,000,000 (collective ly, the "TIF Warrants"). The TIF 
Warrants were issued to refund celta in prior tax increment secured obli gations and to fund 
certa in capital improvements in the T IF. The T IF Warrants bear interest at fixed interest rates 
and are subject to monthly amoltization beginning in December 20 I 0, in the case of Warrant 
No. I and November 20 12, in the case of Warrant No.2, in stated principal amounts, and 
mature on November 1,2020. 

The TIF Warrants are limited obligations of the City payable solely from and secured by a 
pledge of that amount of the revenue produced in each year from the levy of certain local ad 
valorem taxes by the City and Jefferson County in the Tax Increment District (generally the 
downtown city center) which is in excess of the amount of such revenue produced from the 
levy of such taxes in such District in the year in which such District was established (I 998), 
less commissions requ ired by law to be paid to the Tax Assessor and Tax Co llector of 
Jefferson County. 

The TIF Warrants are additionally secured by (I) the obligations of the City pursuant to 
separate Annual Appropriation Agreements, dated November 6, 2009 between the City and 
the trustee for the TIF Warrants, for each series of the TIF Warrants that obligate the City to 
appropriate funds in each fisca l year of the City for the payment of the principal of and 
interest on the TIF Warrants in such fi sca l year in an amount neceSSaIY to pay such principal 
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of and interest on the TIF Warrants in such fiscal year and celtain expenses related thereto; 
provided , such obligations are year-to-year obligations of the City and may be terminated 
unilaterally, without pena lty, by the City at the end of any fisca l year of the City after 
satisfaction by the City of its obligations under such Annual Appropriation Agreements for 
such fi scal year. 

Public Athletic, Cultul"al and E ntcl"tainment BoaI'd of the City of Birmingham 2011 
Funding Agreement 

The City increased its Lodgings Tax by 3.5%, effective January 15, 20 II. The proceeds of 
the tax increase are dedicated to the repayment of obligations issued by the PACE Board. 
The Board ' s bonds funded the construction of a minor league baseba ll stad ium, the home of 
the Birmingham Barons minor league baseball team, and will be used to construct a Negro 
League baseball museum in the downtown area of the City. On December 15, 20 I I, the City 
entered into a Funding Agreement with the Public Athletic, Cultural and Enteltainment 
Faci lities Board of the City of Birmingham (the "Board"). The Funding Agreement pledged 
the increased Lodgings Tax pOltion (3.5%) and certain revenue from the operations of the 
baseba ll stad ium to pay debt service on the Board's Series 20 II A and Series 20 II B Bonds, 
issued to provide financing for the construction. The Bonds are currently outstanding in the 
amount of $62,920,000, with annual debt service payments of approximately $3,665,000, 
including interest at rates ranging from 3.09% to 4.87%. The Funding Agreement is a general 
obligation of the City and has a term equal to the term of the Board ' s Series 201lA and 
Series 20 I I B Bonds, which mature on October I , 204 1, subj ect to mandatory tender on 
December 14, 2026. The Baron ' s played their first game in the stadium on Apri l 10, 201 3 and 
attendance, for the first season, set a Southern League record. 

Commel"cial Development Authol"ity of the City of Birmingham 2011 Funding 
Agl"cement 

The Bonds suppolted by this Funding Agreement, currently outstanding in the amount of 
$70,555,000, were issued by The Commercia l Development Authority of the City of 
Birmingham, a public corporation of the City, to finance a four-sta r convention hotel of 
approximately 300 guest rooms and re lated meeting rooms, restaurant and exercise faci liti es, 
approximately 60,000 square feet of storefront space for lease to food service and 
enterta inment facilit ies, and related streets and public infrastructure, all adjacent to the civ ic 
center complex, in the downtown area of the City, for use by the Birmingham - Jefferson 
Civic Center Authority (the "Civic Center Authority"). The Civic Center Authority, a public 
corporation, shall own and operate the facili ties fi nanced by such bonds. The Mayor of the 
City is a member of the board of directors of the Civic Center Authority. The City has 
pledged as a source of payment and security for its obl igations under this Fund ing Agreement 
the fo llowing amounts rece ived in each fisca l year: (i) $3,000,000 of the Occupational Tax 
and (i i) 2/3rds of the proceeds of the Lodgings Tax levied at the rate of3.00%. This Funding 
Agreement is a fu ll fai th and credit general obligation of the City. The agreement calls for 
annual payments through fi sca l year 204 1 of approximately $4,995,000. The hotel, which 
opened in JanualY 201 3, is operated as the Westin Hotel Birmingham and the entertainment 
space is currently 90% leased. 
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Economic Development Incentive Obligations 

The City has entered into agreements in recent years with other entItIes for economic 
development purposes. Pursuant to these agreements, the City will make payments over 
stated periods of years for the development of various projects and faci li ties that the City 
be lieves will promote the tax and revenue base of the City and increase employment 
oPP0l1unities in the City. The City's economic development office generally expects, based 
upon the information provided to it and upon certain assumptions, that these agreements wi ll 
resul t in greater tax revenues for the C ity than the City is obligated to pay under such 
agreement. In cel1ain cases, the City's obl igations are capped at an amount not to exceed the 
tax revenues it actually receives. 

The aggregate outstanding obligation of the City under these other agreements is 
approximately $86,496,500. These obligations are limited obl igations of the City and 
generally payable as rebates of taxes received by the City from the private entity. 

Serra Automobi le Dealerships Development Agreement - In May of2013, through a business 
retention and expansion program, the City agreed to provide an annual rebate of sales taxes 
generated, not exceed ing $753,000 annually, until a total rebate of $5 ,27 1,000 has been 
provided. 

Limbaugh Toyota Redevelopment Agreement - Based upon the agreement, the City agreed to 
support an expansion of the business by deeding cel1a in real property to the Company and to 
make six annual payments of $3 I 5,000 and one payment of $3 I 0,000, total ing $2,200,000 
during the first seven years of the agreement after completion of construction; and to rebate 
25% of New Sales Tax Revenue in 2020 through 2022. The fi rst payment is due on October 
3 I, 20 15. 

Trinity/Daniel Agreement (the "Agreement") - In October, 2008 the City entered into a 
Project Agreement with the owner of Trin ity Medical Center, a fu ll-service in-patient 
hospital , currently located in Birmingham ("Trini ty"). Affi liates of Daniel Corporation, a 
real-estate development firm, (" Daniel" ) were a lso parities to the Agreement. The 
Agreement provides incentives for the hospital to relocate to the fast growing Highway 280 
area of the City. Daniel proposed to build anci llary buildings and a hotel. The move required 
Trinity to secure a Certificate of Need from the State licensing board . The CON was granted 
and years of li tigation ensued, brought by competing hospitals. In March, 20 I 3 the Alabama 
Supreme COUlt settled the matter and Trini ty has begun its construction project which, when 
completed, was expected to cause the City to reta in approx imately 2,300 employees and 
Daniel projected that it's development would generate approximately 600 em ployees. The 
Agreement obligates the City to rebate various taxes during construction periods and during 
operational periods to both Trin ity and Daniel. The rebate requirements are summarized 
below. The sum mary is not intended to be a reproduction of the entire agreement. Other 
provisions may apply. The City has advised Tri nity and Daniel that it does not have the 
authority to rebate ad-valorem taxes that are earmarked for specific uses, whether by the 
Constitution and Statutes of the State and/or by the referendums approving the taxes. In 
addition to the City's 9 mill general ad-valorem tax, the Agreement contemplates the rebate 
of the 9.2 mill Bond Debt Serv ice Tax and the.5 mill LibralY Tax, a ll three of which are ear­
marked, in whole or in pal1, for specific uses. 
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During Construction: 
Trinity Receives: 

100% sales and use taxes 
100% non-educational ad-valorem taxes 

Operationa l Period: 
Trinity Receives: 

Non-educational ad-va lorem taxes 
Occupational Tax 

During Construction: 
Daniel Receives: 

100% sa les and use taxes 
100% non-educational ad-valorem taxes 

Operational Period: 
Daniel Receives: 

Non-educational ad-valorem taxes 
Occupational tax 

Years 1-10 
80% 
80% 

Years 1-20 
90% 
90% 

Years 11-20 
40% 
40% 

The term of the Agreement is 23 years from the commencement of construction. The total 
amount payable to Trinity and to Daniel during the operating periods will not exceed $40 
million and $15 million, respectively. 

The Chi ldren ' s Hospital of Alabama ("TCI-IA) Agreement ("Agreement") - On May 13 , 
2008 the City entered into an incentive agreement with the Chi ldren's Hospital of Alabama 
relating to the construction of a replacement hospital in the medical di strict of the City. The 
agreement provides that the City will rebate celtain construction related permits/taxes during 
construction and then rebate occupationa l taxes which exceed a baseline according to the 
followin g formula: years 1-4: 50%; years 5-12: 80% and years 13-20: 50%. The occupational 
tax baseline is the amount of occupational tax paid to the City for the twelve-month period 
end ing September 30, 2007. The term of the Agreement is the earlier of May 13 , 2028 or 
when the total amount rebated by the City equa ls $20 million. The remaining maximum 
ob li gation is approximately $17.7 million. The new hospital 's cost was approximately $375 
million and the old facility has been converted into research space. The new hospital opened 
in March, 20 I I . 

F. Closure and Post Closure Cost 

State and federal laws and regulations require the City to place a fina l cover on its landfill sites 
when it stops accepting waste and to perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the 
sites for th ilty years after closure. Although closure and postclosure costs will be paid only near 
or after the date that the landfill stops accepting waste, the City repOlts a portion of the estimated 
closure and postclosure cost liability as a long-term liability. The liability is increased or 
decreased each period based on landfill capacity used as of each balance sheet date. 
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The approximate $ 13,488,649 reported as c losure and postclosure cost liability at June 30, 201 3, 
represents the cumulative amount repOlted to date based on the use of approximately 9S percent 
of the estimated capacity of the landfill. These amounts are based on what it wou ld cost to 
perform all closure and postclosure care in 20 13. Actual costs may be higher due to inflation, 
deflation, changes in techno logy, and/or changes in laws or regulations. Officials estimate the 
landfi lls' remaining lives to be approximately three years. 

G. Pension Funds 

The City of Birmingham maintains seven single-employer defined benefit pension plans covering 
substantially all employees. These plans consist of the Retirement and Relief System, Firemen 's 
and Policemen' s Supplemental Pension System, Firemen's Pension and Relief System, 
Policemen's Pension and Relief System, Limited Firemen 's Retirement and Relief, Limited 
Policemen's Retirement and Rel ief, and the Unclassified Employees Pension and Relief System. 
Each of the seven plans was established by state law and is adm inistered by a separate board of 
managers. 

Plan descriptions 
The fu nding methods and determination of benefits payable were established by the legislative 
acts creating such plans and provide that the pension plan funds are to be accumul ated from 
employee contributions, employer contributions, and income from the investment of accum ulated 
funds. The cost of ad mini stering the plans is funded by the City. The City acts as the trustee for 
six of these plans. Separate financ ial statements are presented in this repOlt for the pension funds. 

Summary of signifi cant accountin g policies 
The activities and the financial statements of the pension plans are accou nted for on the accrua l 
basis of accounting. Plan member contributions are recognized in the period in which the 
contributi ons are due. The City'S contributions are recognized when due and a formal 
commitment to provide the contributions has been made. Benefits and refunds are recognized 
when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the plan. Each pension plans' cash assets 
are invested in eq ui ty and fixed-income securi ties. All plan assets are repOlted at fa ir va lue. 
Investments traded in publicly traded markets are valued at the last reported sales price on the 
government' s balance sheet date. Actuaria l valuations are performed annually, and the latest are 
all dated July I, 20 12. The plans do not issue stand-alone financial repOlts, and all required 
di sclosures are included in this repOlt. Estimates have been prepared through June 30, 20 12 for 
the City of Birmingham Retirement and Re li ef System and the Fireman and Police Supplemental 
Pension Plan. 

Plan descriptions and disclosures as of the last actuarial study of July I, 20 12 for each pension 
plan follow. 

City of Birmillgham Retiremellf ami Relief System - T his system covers all civi l service 
employees, elected officia ls, and appointed employees. Membership is mandatory for covered 
employees and is effective upon employment. Appointed and e lected employees have the option 
of participating in this plan or in an alternative retirement plan. The City and employees each 
contribute one-half of the required contribution payable as a percent of compensation for the year, 
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exclusive of overtime and subj ect to statutory limits. The plan is fu nded by contributions from 
employees, the City, and income fl'Om the investment of accumulated fu nds. 

SupplementGlY Information for Retirement & Relief System 

Actuarial Valuation: 
Frequency 
Latest Date 
Basis for Contributions 

Cost Method 
Amortization: 

Method 
Remaining Amortization Period 
Equiva lent Single Period Remaining 
Asset Valuation Method 

Investment Earnings 
Salary Increase: 

Inflation 

Assumptions: 

Merit, Longevity, etc. 
Admini strative Expense 

Plan Membership: 
Retired palticipants and beneficiaries receiving benefits 
Terminated participants entitled to, but not yet 

receiving benefits 
Active participants 
Tota l membership 

Annual 
7/ 1/2012 
7/1/20 12 

Entry Age Normal 

Level percent of payroll 
Rolling 30 years 

30 
Market value of assets less unrecognized 
returns in each of the last five years. 
Unrecognized return is eq ual to the 
difference between the actual market 
return and the expected return on the 
market va lue, and is recogn ized over a 
fi ve-year period, further adjusted, if 
necessary, to be with in 20% of the 
market value. 

7.00 

3.0% 
Varies from .00% to 6.5% 

$270,000 

2,802 

250 
3,907 

625..2 

Retirement and Relief System 
Development of the Net Pension Obligation and the Annual Pension Cost 

Year Eml))oyer 

Ended 

June 

Annual 
Required 

Employer 

Amount Interest on ARC Amortization Pension Change in NPO 
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2003 

2005 

2006 

2007 

2008 

2009 

2010 

20 11 

20 12 

2013 
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Contribution Contributed NPO@7% Ad justment Factor Cost NPO Balance 

9,756,787 10,697,62 1 ( 1,332, 150) (2 ,022,300) 8.783 1 10,446,937 (250,684) (18,0 12,68 1 ) 

12,875, 198 10,88 1,632 ( 1,299,835) (2,035,605) 8.5 14 13,6 10,968 2,729,336 (14,60 I ,802) 

13,742,543 11 ,398,732 ( 1,095, 135) ( 1, 150,095) 12.6962 13,797,503 2,398,77 1 ( 12,203,03 1 ) 

14, 173,353 12,006,508 (9 15,227) (9 19,064) 13.2777 14, 177,190 2, 170,682 ( 10,032,349) 

14,8 18,900 12,061 ,584 (702,264) (755,580) 13.2777 14,872,2 16 2,810,632 (7,22 1,717) 

17,050,689 12,770, 110 (505,520) (543,899) 13.2777 17,089,068 4,3 18,958 (2,902,759) 

2 1, 11 8,910 13,224,808 (203, 193) (2 18,620) 13.2777 2 1,134,337 7,909,529 5,006,770 

18, 147,79 1 13,772,490 350,474 274,789 18.2204 18,223,476 4,450,896 9,457,756 

18,904,668 13,676,554 662,043 519,075 18.2204 19,047,636 5,37 1,082 14,828,838 

20,516,939 13,591,898 1,038,019 8 13,858 18.2204 20,74 1,098 7, 149,250 2 1,978,088 

Fiscal Year Net Pension 
Ending Cost (APC) Contributed Obligation (Asset) 
06/3 0109 17,089 75% $(2,903) 
06/3 0/ 10 21 , 134 63% 5,007 
06/3 011 1 18,233 76% 9,458 
06/3 0112 19,048 72% 14,829 
06/3 0113 20,74 1 66% 2 1,978 

City of Birmingham Firemen's and Policemen's Supplemental Pension System- This system 
covers sworn firemen and pol icemen and provides retirement benefits for twenty or twenty-five 
years of service. Membership is mandatory for such personnel and is effective upon employment. 
Employees hired prior to May 2, 1978, contribute 3.3% of payroll , exclusive of ovel1ime; those 
hired on or subsequent to May 2, 1978, contr ibute 5.22% and the City matches these amounts. 
The plan is funded by contributi ons from employees, the City, and income from the investment of 
accumulated funds. 

SuppiementGlY Information for Firemen's & Policemen's Supplemental Pension Plan 

Actuarial Valuation: 
Frequency 
Latest Date 
Basis for Contributions 
Cost Method 

Amortization: 
Method 
Remaining Amortization Period 

Asset Valuation Method 
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Annual 
711/20 12 
711/2012 

Entry Age Norma l 

Level Percent of Payroll 
Ro ll ing 30 years 

Market value of assets less unrecognized 
returns in each of the last fi ve years. 
Unrecogn ized return is equal to the difference 
between the actual market return and the 
expected return on the market va lue, and is 



Fiscal 
Year 

Ended 

June 30 

2003 

2004 

2005 

2006 

2007 

2008 

2009 

2010 

2011 

2012 

2013 
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recognized over a five-year period, fUlt her 
adjusted, if necessary, to be within 20% of the 
market value. 

Assumptions: 
Investment Earnings 
Salary Increase: 
Inflation 

7.00 

3.0% 
Merit, Longevity, etc. Vari es from .50% to 6.50% 

Plan Membel'ship: 
Retired participants and beneficiaries 

receiving benefits 
Active participants 
Total membership 

Fil'emen's and Policemen's Supplemental Pension Plan 

323 
1,478 

1.801 

Development of the Net Pension Obligation and the Annual Pension Cost 

Employer 

Annual Employer 

Requ ired Amount 

Contribution Contributed 

2,722,342 3,039,000 

2,570, 134 3,260,000 

2,647,128 3,244,000 

2,630,520 3,463,000 

2,888,088 3,599,000 

3,072,635 3,405,000 

4,381 ,2 16 4, 127,000 

5,043,635 3,945,000 

4,912,926 3,988,000 

4,922,8 11 4,561,000 

4,899,765 4,039,735 

Fiscal YeaI' 

Intercst on ARC Amortization Pension Cha nge in 

NPO@7% Adjustment Factor Cost NPO 

( 13,492) (18, 109) 9.9343 2,726,959 (3 12,041) 

(36,895) (50,584) 9.7252 2,583,823 (676, 177) 

(87,609) ( 120,538) 9.6908 2,680,057 (563,943) 

( 129,904) ( 136,424) 12.6962 2,637,040 (825,960) 

(179,06 1) ( 192,656) 13.2777 2,90 1,683 (697,317) 

(227,874) (245,174) 13.2777 3,089,935 (3 15,065) 

(249,928) (268,903) 13.2777 4,400, 19 1 273, 191 

(230,805) (248,327) 13.2777 5,061 , 157 1, 116, 157 

(152,674) (1 19,704) 18.2204 4,879,956 89 1,956 

(90,237) (70,750) 18.2204 4,903,325 342,325 

(66,274) (51 ,962) 18.2204 4,885,473 845,738 

Annual Pension Pel'centage of APC 

Cost (APC) 

64 

Contributed 
Net Pension 
Obligation 

NPO 

Balance 

(491 ,939) 

(1, 168, 116) 

( 1,732,059) 

(2,558,020) 

(3,255,337) 

(3 ,570,402) 

(3,297,211 ) 

(2, 181 ,054) 

( 1,289,098) 

(946,773) 

( 101,035) 



Ending 
06/30/09 
06/30/ 10 
06/30/ 11 
06/30/ 12 
06/3 0/ 13 
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4,400 94% 
5,061 78% 
4,879 81% 
4,903 93% 
4,885 83% 

(Asset) 
(3 ,297) 
(2, 181) 
(1 ,289) 

(947) 
(101) 

City of Birmingham Unclassified Employees Pension and Relief System - This system covers 
laborers not hired under civil service. Employees contribute $ 10.00 bi-weekly. The City is 
required by C ity ordinance to contribute a sum, computed as a percentage of payroll , to fund the 
annual cost of the unfunded liability over thirty years. The membership of thi s plan is closed and 
is funded by City contributions approximately equal to current benefit payments. 

Information about funded status and funding progress is presented using the entry age norma l 
actuarial cost method. This presentation is intended to serve as a sun'ogate for the fund ing 
progress of the plan. 

Supplementary information for the Unclassified Employees Pension & Relief Fund 

Actuarial Valuation: 
Frequency 
Latest Date 
Basis for Contributions 
Actuaria l Cost Method 
Asset Va luation Method 

Investment Earnings 
Salary Increase 

Assumptions: 

Plan Membership: 
Retired participants and beneficiaries receiving benefits 
Active participants 
Total membership 

Annua l 
7/ 1/2012 
7/1 120 12 

Aggregate Cost Method 

Market Value 

7.00 
NIA 

2 1 

-.1 
M 

Policemen's Pension and Relief Fund - This system covers policemen employed prior to 
September 1939. There are 2 beneficiaries currently in the plan. 

Analysis of Funding Progress 
This plan is frozen and has 2 participants receiving benefits. The City pays befits as they become 
due. 

Supplementary information for Policemen's Pension & Relief 

Actuarial Valuation: 
Frequency 
Latest Date 
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Basis for Contributions 
Cost Method 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2013 

Assumptions: 

7/1/20 12 
Funded Frozen Plan 

7% Investment Earn ings 
MOItal ity Table 1994 Group Annu ity Mortality Table 

Limited Firemen's Retirement ami Relief System - This system covers celtain designated 
firemen formerly members of the Firemen's Pension and Re lief Fund. Current membership 
includes I beneficialY-

Analysis of Funding Progress 
This plan is frozen with I participants receiving benefits. The City pays benefits as they come 
due. 

Supplementary information for Limited Firemen 's Pension & Relief 

Actuarial Valuation: 
Freq uency 
Latest Date 
Basis for Contributions 
Cost Method 

Assumptions: 
Investment Earn ings 
MOItal ity Tab le 

Annual 
7/ 1/2012 
7/ 1/2012 

Frozen Plan 

7% 
1994 Group Annuity MOItality Table 

Limited Policemen's Retiremelll ami Relief System - This system covers celtain designated 
policemen formerly members of the Policemen's Pens ion and Relief Fund. Current membership 
includes 2 beneficiaries. 

This plan is frozen with two pmticipants receiving benefits. The City pays benefits as they come 
due. 

Supplementary information for Limited Policemen's Retirement and Relief 

Actuarial Valuation: 
Frequency 
Latest Date 
Basis for Contributions 
Cost Method 

Assumptions: 
Investment Earnings 
Morta lity Table 

Annual 
7/1/2012 
7/1/2012 

Frozen Plan 

7% 
1994 Group Annuity Mortali ty Table 

City of Birmingham Retirement ami Relief System Health Department Employees- This system 
covers celtain employees of the Jefferson County Health Department who have not transferred to 
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the Retirement Systems of Alabama. The plan is funded by contributions from employees, the 
Department, and income from the investment of accumulated funds. 

Supplementary Information for Retirement & Relief System Health Department Employees 

Actuarial Valuation: 
Frequency 
Latest Date 
Basis for Contributions 
Actuarial Cost Method 

Method 
Open/C losed 

Amortization: 

Equivalent Single Period Remaining 
Asset Valuation Method 

Investment Earnings 
Sa lary Increase: 

Inflation 

Assumptions: 

Merit, Longevity, etc. 
Plan Membership: 

Retired palticipants and beneficiaries receiving benefits 

Active palticipants 
Total membership 

Post-Retirement Benefits 

Annual 
7/1 /20 12 
7/1 /20 12 

Aggregate Cost Method 

Level Dollar 
Open/Rolling 30 years 

30 
Market value of assets less unrecognized 
returns in each of the last five years. 
Unrecognized return is equal to the 
difference between the actual market 
return and the expected return on the 
market va lue, and is recognized over a 
five-year period, further adj usted, if 
necessary, to be within 20% of the 
market value. 

7.00 

3.0% 
Varies from .00% to 1.84% 

39 

.li 
5Jl 

In add ition to the pension benefits described above, the City provides post-retirement health care 
benefits to retired employees who are e ligible for pension benefits. The plan requires retirees to 
reduce their life insurance coverage, which retirees are required to pay in its entirety, and in 
exchange, the City will subsidize a pOltion of the retiree's health insurance premiums. The 
amount of the subsidy is based on the type of health insurance coverage chosen by retirees and 
the percentage of the retiree 's life insurance reduction. The City'S subsidy for each covered 
retired employee ranges from $42 to $ 12 1 per month, and tota l insurance premiums range from 
$ 164 to $829 per month for hea lth insurance. Dental insurance ranges from $ 13 to $79. 
Expenditures for post-retirement hea lth care insurance costs are made and recognized monthly in 
the City'S financia l statements. 

The City's annual other postemployment benefit (OPEB) expense is calculated based on the 
annual required contribution (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with GASB 
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Statement No. 45. The actuarial cost method used in this valuation to determine the actuarial 
accrued liability and the ARC in the entry age normal, level dollar method . The ARC represents 
a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year 
and amOltize any unfunded actuarial accrued liabilities over a period not to exceed 30 years. The 
City has elected to amortize the unfunded actuarial accrued liabi lity over 30 years using a level 
dollar, closed amoltization period . The remaining amOltization period at June 30, 20 II was 26 
years. The discount rate used for the determination of the expense for fi sca l year 2012 is 4.00%. 
Tota l employer contributions for fiscal year 20 12 were approximately $3.9 million net of 
participants' and pension plans' contributions. The fo llowing table shows the components of the 
City ' s annual OPEB cost for fi scal year 20 12 and 20 11 , the amount actua lly contributed to the 
plan, and changes in the City's net OPEB obligation (in thousands): 

2012 2011 

Annual required contribution $ 6,796 $ 8,705 

Interest on net OPEB ob ligation 939 536 

ARC adjustment ( 1,412) (350) 

Annual OPEB Cost 6,323 9,802 

Contributi ons Made (3 ,900) (3 ,800) 

Increase in Net OPEB 2,423 5,282 

Net OPEB Ob ligation, beginning of year 23 ,470 18, 188 

Net OPEB Obligation, end of year $ 25 ,893 $ 23 ,470 

The City's annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contribution to the plan, and 
the net OPEB obligation for fi scal year 201 I and 20 12 are as fo llows (in thousands): 

NetOPEB Net OPEB Percentage 

Fiscal Obligation Obligation Annual OPEB 

Year Beginning Annual Employer End of Cost 

Ended of Yea I' OPEB Cost Contributions Year Contributed 

20 11 18, 188 9,082 3,800 23 ,470 41.84% 

20 12 23 ,470 6,322 3,900 25 ,893 61.70% 

The actuari al accrued liability of $64,475 includes $31 ,572 for active members and $32,903 for 
retirees, beneficiaries, dependents, and term inated vested members. Thi s table presents multiyear 
trend information about whether the actuaria l va lue of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over 
t ime relat ive to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits. 

Actual'ial Valuations 
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Actuarial va luations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of repOlted amounts and 
assumptions about the probabi lity of occurrence of events far into the future. Estimates include 
assumptions about future employment, mottality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts 
determ ined regard ing the fu nded status of the plan and the annua l required contributions of the 
City are subject to continue rev ision as actual results are compared with past expectations and 
new estimates are made about the future. 

Projections of benefits for financia l repotting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan 
as understood by the City and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the 
time of each valuation. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are 
designed to reduce the efforts of shott-term vo lat ility in actuarial accrued liab ili ties and the 
actuaria l value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the calcu lations. 

At June 30, 201 1 plan valuation date, membership was as follow s: 

Current retirees, beneficiaries and dependents receiving medical 
and prescription drug benefits or li fe insurance coverage 

Current active members 

Total plan members 

( in thousands) 

$ 2,177 

3,826 

$ 6,003 

Hea lth care trend measures the anticipated overa ll rate at wh ich hea lth plan costs are expected to 
increase in future years. The rates shown below are "net" and are applied to the net per capita 
costs shown above. The trend shown for a patticular plan year is the rate that must be applied to 
that year's cost to yield the next year's projected cost. 

Rate (%) 
Year Ending Jnne 30, Medical Prescription Drug 

2012 8.5% 10.0% 
2013 8.0% 9.5% 
20 14 7.5% 9.0% 
20 15 7.0% 8.5% 
20 16 6.5% 8.0% 
20 17 6.0% 7.5% 
20 18 5.5% 7.0% 

2019 & Later 5.0% 5.0% 

H. Snbseqnent Events 

The Mayor/Counci l Act, under which the City operates, requires that the Mayor present a balanced 
budget to the Counci l no later than May 20th for the fisca l year beginning on the next Ju ly I ". For 
Fisca l year 20 14, beginning Ju ly 1, 20 13, the Mayor presented his budget to the Counci l before May 
20,20 13, the Counci l responded with changes and the Mayor and Council did not reach agreement 
until October 1,2013 , when the Council passed the budget. For the period July 1, 2013 through 
September 30, 2013, the City operated under the Fiscal Year 2013 budget, which became the Fiscal 
Year 20 14 budget on July 1,2013 , in accordance with the Mayor/Counci l Act. No material problems 
were encountered as a result. 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Required Supplementary Information 

Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Schedule of Funding Progress-Pension Plans 

Actuarial 
Accrued Unfunded 

Actuaria l Actuarial Liabil ity (Overfu nded) Funded 

Valuation Valuation of (AAL)-Entry AA L Ratio Covered 

Date Assets Age (UAA L) % Payroll 

Retirement and Relief System 
7/1/2007 $935,82 1,094 $992,864,448 $57,043,354 94.25 $167,807,596 

7/1 /2008 953,079,670 1,050,785,799 97,706, 129 90.70 174, 11 3,556 

7/1/2009 910,769, 192 1,083,256, 135 172,486,943 84.08 186,523,480 

7/1/20 10 913,077,824 1,11 3,44 1,433 200,363,609 82.0 1 193,229,880 

7/1/2011 892,096,375 1,158,070,396 265,974,02 1 77.03 177,977, 16 1 

711/20 12 878,048,507 1,181,090,260 303,041,753 74.34 18 1,406,586 

Firemen's and Policemen's Supplemental System 
71112007 $40,990,266 $68,629,929 $27,639,663 59.73 $67,702,728 

7/112008 42,802,299 90,449,029 47,646,730 47.32 71,066,835 

7/112009 44,956,837 10 1,2 15,788 56,258,95 1 44.42 78,88 1,652 

711 /2010 46,373,242 107,747,064 61,373,822 43.04 83,274,992 

7/112011 47,775,76 1 109,76 1,7 16 6 1,985,955 43.53 79,533,564 

7/112012 49,847,983 11 0,597,569 60,749,586 45.07 79, 126,245 

Unclassified Employee's Pension and Relief System* 
711 /2007 $1,864,000 $ 1,265,192 ($598,808) 147.33 N/A 
711 /2008 1,591,000 1,136,772 (454,228) 139.96 N/A 
7/1/2009 1,128,000 1,083,359 (44,64 1) 104. 12 N/A 
7/1120 10 1,134,000 934,84 1 (199,159) 121.30 N/A 
7/1/20 11 1,079,000 834,784 (44,2 16) 129.25 N/A 
711 /2012 1,012,000 756,559 (255,441) 133.76 N/A 

Retirement and Relief System Health Department Employees 
711 /2007 $ 14,650,709 $9,952,490 ($4,698,2 19) 147.21 $1,086,800 

711/2008 14,785,353 10,426,208 (4,359,145) 14 1.81 975,02 1 

711/2009 14,0 16,807 10,874,279 (3 ,142,528) 128.90 848,765 

7/1/20 10 13,930,505 11,398,7 18 (2,53 1,787) 122.21 855,8 16 

711 /20 11 13,796,682 11,3 14,924 (2,48 1,758) 12 1.93 858,395 

7/1/20 12 13,552,480 11 ,504,197 (2,048,283) 117.80 594,298 

"'Informatin about funded status and funding progress is presented lIsing the entry age normal actuarial method. 
This presentati on is intended to serve as a surrogate for the funding progress of the plan. 
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UAALas a 

Percentage 
of Covered 

Payroll 

% 

33.99 

56. 12 

92.47 

103.69 
149.44 

167.05 

40.83 
67.04 

71.32 

73.70 
77.94 

76.78 

N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 

0 

0 
0 

0 

0 

0 



Fiscal Year Ended 

Retirement and Relief System 
2008 
2009 
20 10 
20 11 
20 12 
20 13 

Firemen's and Policemen's 
Supplemental Pension System 

2008 
2009 
20 10 
20 11 
20 12 
20 13 

Policemen's Pension and Relief 
System* 

2007 
2008 
2009 
20 10 
2011 
20 12 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Required Supplementary Information 

Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Schedule of Employer Contributions-Pension Plans 

Annual 
Required 

Contributions 

$ 14,818,900 
17,050,689 
21 , 11 8,9 10 
18, 147,79 1 
18,904,668 
20,5 16,938 

$3,072,634 
4,38 1,2 16 
5,043 ,635 
4,912,926 
4,922,8 12 
4,899,785 

$24,488 
18,807 
18,934 
17,549 
15,529 
14,013 

Actual 
Contributions 

$ 12,06 1,584 
12,770, 11 0 
13,224,808 
13,772,490 
13,676,554 
13,59 1,848 

$3,405 ,000 
4,127,000 
3,945 ,000 
3,988,000 
4,56 1,000 
4,039,735 

'This plan is frozen and has 2 participants receiving benefits. The City pays benefits as they become due. 

7 1 

Percentage 
Contributed 

% 

8 1.4 
74.9 
62.6 
75.9 
72.3 
66.2 

11 0.8 
94.2 
78.2 
8 1.2 
92.7 
82.4 

100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 



Fiscal Year Ended 

Limited Firemen's Retirement 
and Relief System" 

2007 

2008 
2009 

20 10 
20 11 

20 12 

Limited Policemen's 
Retirement and Relief System' 

2007 
2008 

2009 
20 10 

20 11 

20 12 

Retirement and Relief System 
Health Department Employees 

2007 
2008 
2009 

20 10 
20 11 

20 12 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Required Supplementary Information 

Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Schedule of Employer Contributions-Pension Plans 

Annual 
Required 

Contributions 

$29,927 

29 ,650 
26,460 

20,9 18 
17,425 

8,587 

$19,84 1 
19,454 

15,867 
14,301 

14,948 
11 ,007 

Actual 
Contributions 

$32,492 

25,416 
21 ,592 

20,397 
20,618 

17,900 

"This plan is frozen and has 2 participants receiving benefits, The City pays benefits as they become due, 

"This plan is frozen with I participant receiving benefits, The City pays benefits as they become due, 
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Percentage 
Contributed 

% 

100 
100 

100 
100 

100 
100 

100 
100 
100 

100 

100 
100 

100 

100 
100 

100 
100 

100 



Actuarial 
Valuation 

Date 

7/ 1/2007 
7/1 /2008 
7/1 /20 11 

Actuarial 
Valuation of 

Assets 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Required Supplementary Information 

Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Schedule of Funding Progress-OPED 

Actuarial 
Accrued Unfunded Funded 

Liability AAL Ratio 
(AAL) (UAAL) % 

$97,800,828 $97,800,828 0.00 
77,707,254 77,707,254 0.00 
64,475,329 64,475,329 • 0.00 

Covered 
Payroll 

$ 168,939,625 
187,456,624 

178,835,557 

' The actuarial accrued li ability of $64,475,329 includes $31,572,295 for active members and $32,903,034 for 
retirees, beneficiaries, dependents and terminated vested members. This table presents multiyear trend 
information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to 
the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits . 
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UAAL as a 
Percentage 
of Covered 

Payroll 

% 

57.89 
41.45 

36.05 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 

Pension Trust Funds 
June 30, 2013 
(in thousands) 

Firemen & 
Retirement & Policemen Firemen's Unclassified Total Pension 

Relief Supplemental Pension Relief Pension Trust Funds 
Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 16,590 $ 932 $ 104 $ 953 $ 18,579 
Receivables: 

Member contributions 61 61 
Member loans 11,715 11,715 
Interest and dividends 4,342 269 4,611 

Total Receivables: 16,118 269 16,387 
Investments, at fair value: 

U.S. government obligations 155,866 10,242 166,108 
Domestic corporate bonds 198,586 16,285 214,872 
Domestic stocks 562,880 22,578 585,458 

T otallnvestments. at fair value: 917,332 49,105 966,438 
Total Assets: 950,040 50,306 104 953 1,001,404 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and other 1,546 102 2 1,651 
Accrued payroll and payroll taxes payable 21 2 23 

Total Liabilities: 1,567 104 2 1,674 

Net Assets 
Held in trust for future pension benefits 948,473 50,203 104 951 999,730 

Total Net Position: $ 948,473 $ 50,203 $ 104 $ 951 $ 999,730 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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City of Binningham, Alabama 
Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 

Pension Trust Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2013 

(in thousands) 

Firemen & Limited 
Retirement & Policemen Firemen's Pension Policemen's Limited Firemen's Policemen's Unclassified Total Pension 

Relief Supplemental Rel/ef Pension Relief Pension Relief Pension Pension Trust Funds 
Additions 
Additions 

Contributions 
Employer Contributions $ 13.606 $ 4,040 $ $ 9 $ 6 $ 9 $ $ 17,670 
Plan member contributions 11,822 4,025 15,848 

Investment income: 
Investment earnings 95,304 3,925 50 99,279 
Secwities lending 471 471 
Other income 2 2 4 

Total Additions 121,205 11,990 2 9 6 9 51 133,272 
Total Additions 121,205 11,990 2 9 6 9 51 133,272 

Deductions 
Deductions 

Benefrts 68,383 8,385 8 6 9 93 76,884 
Refunds of contributions 1,607 500 2,107 
Administrative expenses 156 992 20 1,168 
Investment Expenses 3,171 396 3,567 

Total Dedudioos 73,317 10,273 8 6 9 113 83,726 
Total Deductions 73,317 10,273 8 6 9 113 83,726 
Change in Net Assets 47,888 1,717 2 (62) 49,546 
Net Position- Beginning 900,584 48,485 102 1,013 950,184 

Net Position - Ending $ 948,472 $ 50,202 $ 104 $ $ $ $ 951 $ 999,730 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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City of Birmingham 
General Fund 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2013 

(in thousands) 

Budgeted Amounts 
Variance with 
Final Budget-

Positive 
Original Final Actual Amounts (Negative) 

Revenues 
Taxes $ 246,208 $ 255,458 $ 248,960 $ (6,498) 

Licenses and permHs 86,045 86,545 66,709 164 
Intergovernmental 10,759 10,759 11,074 315 
Charges for services 12,679 12,689 12,514 (175) 

Fines and forfeitures 3,017 3,017 2,750 (267) 
Investment income 780 780 67 (713) 

Other operating revenues 6,361 10,612 10,762 150 

Tolal Revenues: 365,849 379,860 372,636 (7,024) 

Expenditures 
Current Expendilures: 

Public safety: 

Police 66,931 87,024 64,474 2,550 

Fire 53,604 53,675 53,927 (252) 

Planning,Engineering & Permits 11,547 11,980 11,413 567 
Traffic Engineering 9,876 9,943 9,619 324 
Municipal Court 4,305 4,564 4,503 61 

Street and sanitation: 
Public Works 46,641 46,849 46,415 434 

Cultural & recreational: 
Park & Recreation 11 ,401 11 ,433 10,849 584 
Library 14,826 14,833 14,307 526 
Arlington Historical Home 517 527 494 33 
Boutwell Auditorium 1,228 1,242 1,163 79 
Museum of Art 3,236 3,236 3,164 72 
Sloss Furnace 492 492 477 15 
Southern Museum of Flight 702 702 700 2 
State Fairgrounds 3,905 3,905 4,192 (287) 

General government 
Finance 9,758 9,788 9,578 210 
Equipment Management 14,994 16,011 16,238 (227) 

Information Management Services 8,142 8,431 8,519 (88) 
C~y Clerk 1,828 1,742 1,437 305 
Community Development 581 581 562 19 
Council Office 3,025 2,988 2,675 313 
legal 6,157 7,057 6,824 233 
Mayor's Office 7,190 8,455 8,175 280 
Personnel 5,854 7,368 6,834 534 
Nondepartmental 41,936 42,469 40,269 2,200 

Debt Service: 
Principal 10,480 8,828 8,828 
Interest and fees 6,215 5,977 5,946 31 

Cap~al Outlay: 
Cap~al outlays 280 525 1,549 (1,024) 

Total Expend~ures: 365,651 370,625 363,131 7,494 

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over (Under) 
Expend~ures: 198 9,235 9,705 470 

Other financing sources (uses): : 
Proceeds from capital lease 1,074 1,074 

Transfers in 13 10 (3) 

Transfers out (198) (9,406) (9,406) 
Total Other financing sources (uses): (198) (9,393) (8,322) 1,071 

Net Change in Fund Balances: (158) 1,383 1,541 

Fund Balances - Beginning 92,113 92,113 92,113 
Fund Balances - Ending: $ 92,113 $ 91 ,955 $ 93,496 $ 1,541 

The notes to the financial statements are an Integral part of this statement 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
June 30,2013 
(in thousands) 

Total Nonmajor 
Special Revenue Debt Service Capital Projects Governmental 

Funds Funds Funds Funds 
Assets 

Cash and investments $ 11,355 $ 2,920 $ 28,168 $ 42,443 
Cash with fiscal agent 3,315 3,315 
Receivables: 0 

Accrued interest 74 74 
Accrued taxes 357 357 
Accounts (net of uncollectibles) 938 2 940 
Notes (net of uncollectibles) 32 32 
Loans 119 119 

Total Assets: $ 12,801 $ 6,237 $ 28,242 47,280 

Liabitities and Fund Balances 
Liabilities: 
Accounts and vouchers payable 572 289 862 
Contracts payable-retainage 28 117 765 910 
Accrued payroll and payroll taxes payable 5 5 
Deferred revenue (1,073) (1,073) 
Other liabilities (38) (38) 

Total Liabilities: (506) 117 1,054 666 

Fund Balances: 
Spendable: 

Restricted: 
Debt Service 5,147 5,147 
Capital Projects 781 972 27,187 28,941 
Other 293 293 

Assigned: 
Committed to: 

Neighborhood Improvements 8,376 8,376 
Other Purposes 3,148 3,148 

Unassigned 709 709 
Total Fund Balances: 13,307 6,119 27,187 46,614 

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances: $ 12,801 $ 6,236 $ 28,241 $ 47,280 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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Neighborhood 
Allocation 

Asse .. 
Cash and investments $ 8,453 $ 
Cash with fiscal agent 

Receivables: 

Accrued interest 

Acaued taxes 
Accounts (net of uncol1ectibfes) 90 
Notes (net of uncol1ectibles) 
Loans 119 

Total Assets: $ 8,662 $ 

Liabilities and Fund Balances 
Liabilities: 

Accounts and vouchers payable 56 
Contracts payabfe-retainage 

Accrued payroll and payroll taxes payable 

Deferred revenue 268 
Other liabilities (38) 

Total Liabilities: 286 

Fund Balances: 
Spendable: 

Restricted: 
Debt Service 

Capital Projects 

Q1h.c 

Assigned: 
Committed to: 

Neighborhood Improvements 8,376 
Other Purposes 

Unassigned 

Total Fund Balances: 8,376 
Total Liabilities and Fund Balances: $ 8,662 $ 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
June 30, 2013 
(in thousands) 

Highway 
Improvement 

Grants Fund Fund Fuel Tax Fund Stann Water Fees 

(1,948) $ $ 441 $ 696 

234 106 16 
324 

(1,624) $ 234 $ 547 $ 712 

155 3 

155 3 

234 546 

(1,nS) 

709 
(1 ,779) 234 546 709 
(1,624) $ 234 $ 546 $ 712 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement 
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Special Revenue Funds 

Municipal Court 
Technology Correction Fund JudIcial Admin 

$ 41 $ 2,490 $ 297 

$ 41 $ 2,490 $ 297 

23 14 4 

23 15 4 

293 

19 2,474 

19 2,474 293 
$ 42 $ 2,489 $ 297 



HUD Block Grant 
Fund 

Asse1S 
Cash and investments $ (1 ,115) S 
Cash with fiscal agent 
Receivables: 

Accrued interest 
Accrued taxes 
Accounts (net of uncoUectibles) 419 
Notes (net of uncollectibles) 32 
Loans 

Total Assets: $ (664) $ 

liabilities and Fund Balances 
liabilities: 
Accounts and vouctlers payable 209 
Contracts payable-retainage 28 
Accrued payroll and payroll taxes payable 4 
Deferred revenue (904) 
Other liabilities 

Total Liabilities: (663) 

Fund Balances: 

Spendable: 
Restrided: 

Debt Service 

Capital Projects 
0'10,,, 

Assigned: 

Committed to: 

Neighborhood Improvements 
Other Purposes 

Unassigned 
Total FI.Ild Balances: 

Total liabil ities and Fund Balances: $ (663) $ 

City of Binningham, Alabama 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
June 3D, 2013 
(in thousands) 

Special Lodging Tax Increment 
Home Fund Tax Revenue Total Financing 

(432) $ 2,434 S 11,357 S 1,948 
3,315 

356 
104 937 2 

32 
119 

(328) $ 2,434 S 12,801 S 5,265 

109 573 
28 117 

5 
(437) (1,073) 

(38) 

(328) (505) 117 

5,147 

780 
293 

8,376 

2,434 3,148 
709 

2,434 13,306 5,147 
(328) $ 2,434 $ 12,801 $ 5,264 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement 
79 

Debt Service Funds 

Alabama Trust 
Fund Total 1992 Bonds 

$ 972 S 2,920 S 52 
3,315 

2 

S 972 S 6,237 $ 52 

117 

117 

5,147 

972 972 52 

972 6,119 52 
$ 972 $ 6,236 S 52 



1993 Bonds 

Assets 
Cash and investments $ 228 $ 
Cash with fiscal agent 

Receivables: 
Acaued interest 

Accrued taxes 
Accounts (net of uncollectibles) 

Notes (net of uncollectibles) 

Loans 
Total Assets: $ 228 $ 

Liabilities and Fund Balances 
liabilities: 
Accounts and vouchers payable 

Contracts payabte-retainage 

Accrued payroll and payroll taxes payable 

Deferred revenue 

Other liabilities 
Total Liabilities: 

Fund Balances: 

Spendable: 

RestJided: 

Debt Service 

Capital Projects 228 
Q1he, 

Assigned: 

Committed to: 

Neighbortlood Improvements 

Other Purposes 
Unassigned 

Total Fund Balances: 228 
Total Liabilities and Fund Balances: $ 228 $ 

City of Binningham, Alabama 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
June 3D, 2013 
(in thousands) 

1995 Bonds 1997 Bonds 1998·A Warrants 1998-8 Warrants 

438 $ 531 $ 572 S 271 

438 $ 531 $ 572 $ 271 

4 5 

8 412 

8 4 417 

430 527 156 271 

430 527 156 271 
438 $ 531 $ 573 $ 271 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement 
80 

Capital Projects Funds 

2001·A School 
1999·8 Bonds 2OOO-A Warrants Warrants 

$ 60 $ 540 $ 93 

$ 60 $ 540 $ 93 

4S 

46 

60 495 93 

60 495 93 
$ 60 $ 541 S 93 



2002 Bonds 

Assets 
Cash and investments $ 2,391 $ 
Cash with fiscal agent 

Receivables: 

Accrued interest 

Accrued taxes 

Accounts (net of uncollectibles) 
Notes (net of uncolfectibles) 

Loans 
Total Assets: $ 2,391 $ 

Liabilities and Fund Balances 
Liabilities: 

Accounts and vouchers payable 60 
Contracts payable-retainage 

Accrued payroll and payroll taxes payable 

Deferred revenue 
Other liabilities 

Total liabilities: 60 

Fund Balances: 

Spendable: 

Restricted: 

Debt Service 

Capital Projects 2,331 
Other 

Assigned: 
Committed to: 

Neighborhood Improvements 

Other Pwposes 

Unassigned 
Total Fund Balances: 2,331 

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances: $ 2,391 $ 

City of Binningham, Alabama 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
June 30, 2013 
(in thousands) 

2006-C G.O. 2007·8 G.O. 2007-A G. O. 
WalTants Warrants Bonds 2009·A Warrants 

1,554 $ 1,806 $ 19,484 $ 147 

72 

1,554 $ 1.B07 $ 19,556 $ 147 

221 
13 48 239 

13 48 460 

1,541 1,760 19,097 147 

1,541 1,760 19,097 147 
1,554 $ 1,808 $ 19,557 $ 147 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement 
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PennanentFunds 
Total Nonmajor 
Governmental 

Total Total Funds 

$ 28,167 $ $ 42,443 

3,315 

73 74 
357 
940 
32 

119 
$ 28,240 $ $ 47,260 

290 862 
766 910 

5 

(1,073) 

(38) 

1,056 666 

5,147 

27,187 28,941 

293 

8,376 
3,148 

709 
27,187 46,614 

$ 28,243 $ $ 47,280 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2013 

(in thousands) 
Total Nonmajor 

Special Revenue Debt Service Capital Projects Governmental 
Funds Funds Funds Funds 

Revenues 
Taxes $ 3,190 $ 387 $ $ 3,578 
Intergovernmental 28,687 4,770 33,458 
Charges for services 72 72 
Fines and forfeitures 2,053 2,053 
Investment income 41 285 326 
Other operating revenues 2,001 2,435 4,436 

Total Revenues: 36,044 7,592 285 43,923 

Expenditures 
Current Expenditures: 

Public safety: 

Police 3,064 3,064 
Fire 1,218 1,218 
Planning,Engineering & Permits 1,296 394 1,690 
Municipal Court 2,533 2,533 
Nondepartmental 56 56 

Street and sanitation: 
Public Works 16 (45) (29) 

Cultural & recreational: 
Park & Recreation 126 81 207 
Nondepartmental 329 329 

General government 
Finance 622 622 
Community Development 13,001 13,001 
Mayor's Office 7 7 
Nondepartmental 1,089 43 529 1,661 
Municipal Court 9 9 

Debt Service: 
Principal 3,835 3,760 7,595 
Interest and fees 2,138 1,785 3,923 

Capilal Oullay: 

Capital outlays 7,742 20 6,338 14,100 
Total Expenditures: 36,696 5,608 7,682 49,986 
Excess (DefiCiency) of Revenues Over (Under) 
Expenditures: (652) 1,984 (7,397) (6,063) 

Other financing sources (uses):: 
Transfers in 204 204 
Transfers out (310) (310) 

Total Other financing sources (uses):: (106) (106) 
Net Change in Fund Balances: (758) 1,984 (7,397) (6,168) 

Fund Balances - Beginning 14,064 4,133 34,585 52,782 
Fund Balances - Ending: $ 13,306 $ 6,117 $ 27,188 $ 46,614 

The notes to the financial statements are an Integral part of this statement. 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2013 

(in thousands) 

SpecIal Revenue Funds 
Highway 

Neighboctlood Improvement Fair Trial Tax Municipal Court 
Al location Grants Fund Fund Fuel Tax Fund Storm Water Fees Technology Correction Fund Fund Judicial Admin 

Revenues 
Taxes $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Intergovernmental 15 14,693 2,629 1,223 820 
Charges for services 72 
Fines and forfeitures 30 53 1,240 427 301 
Investment income 37 4 
Other operating revenues 635 1,329 

Total Revenues: 759 16,052 2,629 1,223 620 53 1,244 427 301 

Expenditures 
Current ExpenditlXes: 

Public safety. 

Police 322 2,717 26 
Fire 1,218 
Planning,Engineering & Permits 451 845 
Municipal Court 729 62 1,445 297 
Nondepartmenlal 

Street and sanitation: 
Public WQri(s 16 

Cultural & recreational: 

Park & Recreation 110 16 
Nondepartmental 

General government 

Finance 622 
Community Development 597 3,058 
Mayor's OffICe 7 
Nondepartmental 326 144 488 
Municipal Court 9 

Debt Service: 
Principal 2,195 560 
Interest and fees 219 203 

Capital Outlay: 
Capital outlays 65 7,567 (29) 54 84 

TOlal Expenditures: 1,436 16,385 2,529 1,251 899 62 1,555 297 9 
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over (Under) 
Expenditures: (677) (333) 100 (28) (79) (9) (311) 130 292 

Other financing sources (uses):: 
Transfers in 204 
Transfers out (310) 

Total Other financing sources (uses): : (106) 
Net Change in Fund Balances: (783) (333) 100 (28) (79) (9) (311 ) 130 292 
Fund Balances - Beginning 9,158 (1,446) 135 575 788 27 2,785 (130) 1 

Fund Balances - Ending: $ 8,375 • ~ $ 235 • 547 $ 709 $ 18 $ 2,474 S $ 293 

The notes to the flnandal sutements are an Integral part of this statement. 
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City of Binningham, Alabama 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2013 

(in thousands) 

Debt Service Funds 

HUD Block Grant Specia l Lodging Tax lncrement Alabama Trust 
BWWBP_ Fund Home Fund Tax Revenue To tal Anancing Fund Total 1992 Bonds 

Revenues 
Tax .. $ , • $ 3,190 • 3,1 90 $ 387 • • 387 $ 
Intergovernmental 8,123 1,185 28,688 4,nO 4,770 
Charges for SEHVices 72 
Fines and forfeitures 2,051 
Investment income 41 
Other operating revenues 12 25 2,001 2,435 2,435 

Total Revenues: 8,135 1,210 3,190 36,043 2,822 4,770 7,592 

Expenditures 
Current Expenditures: 

Public safely: 
Police 3,065 
Fire 1,218 
Planning,Engineering & Permits 1,296 
Municipal Court 2,533 
Nondepartmental 

Street and sanitation: 

Public Won:.s ,. 
Cultural & reaeational; 

Park & Recreation 126 
Nondepartmental 

General government 
Finanoe .22 
Community Development 8,135 1,211 13,CXI1 
Mayots Office 7 
Nondepartmental 131 1,090 43 43 

Municipal Court 9 

Debt Service: 
Principal 1,080 3,635 855 2,905 3,760 
Interest and fees 1,717 2,139 692 693 1,785 

Capital Outlay. 

Capital outlays 7,741 20 20 
Total Expenditures: 8,135 1,21 1 2,928 36,698 1,810 3,798 5,608 
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over (Under) 
Expenditures: (1) (1) 262 (655) 1,012 972 1,984 

Other financing SOlXC&S (uses):: 

Transfers in 204 
Transfers out (310) 
Total Other financing sources (uses):: (106) 

Net Change in F1Xld Balances: (1) (1) 262 (761) 1,012 972 1,964 
Fund Balances· Beginning 2,171 14,065 4,133 4,133 52 

Fund Balances· Ending: $ • $ (1) $ 2,433 • 13,304 $ 5,145 • 972 $ 6,117 $ 52 

The notes to the flnandal stateme nts are an Int egral part of t his statement. 
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City of Binningham, Alabama 
Combining Statement of Revenues. Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2013 

(in thousands) 

Capital Projects Funds 
-----_ .. 

2001.A. School 
1993 Bonds 1995 Bonds 1997 Bonds 1998·A Warrants 1998·8 Warrants 1999·8 Bonds 2000-A Warrants W.".",. 2002 Bonds 

Revenues 
Taxes $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ • Intergovernmental 
Charges for services 
Fines and forfeitures 
Investment income 2 2 2 13 
Other operating revenues 

Total Revenues: 2 2 2 13 

Expenditures 
Current Expenditures: 

Public safely: 

Police 

Fire 
PIaMing,Engineering & Permits 17 125 26 4 
MlXlicipal Court 

Nondepartmen1al 56 
Street and sanitation: 

Public Wor1ts (72) 4 23 
Cultural & reaealional: 

Park & Recreation 7 73 

Nondepartmental 

General govemment: 

Finance 
Community Development 

Mayor's Office 
Nondepartmental 

Municipal Court 

Debt Service: 
Principal 

Interest and fees 

Capital Outlay: 

Capital outlays 103 39 76 53 
Total Expenditures: (72) 103 28 39 125 26 80 205 
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over (Under) 
Expenditures: 72 (102) (26) (37) (123) (26) (80) (192) 

Other financing SOI.XC6S (uses):: 

Transfers in 

Transfers out 
Total Other financing sources (uses):: 

Net Change in Fund Balances: 72 (102) (26) (37) (123) (26) (80) (192) 
Fund Balances· BegiMing 156 533 552 193 395 86 575 93 2,524 

Fund Balances· Ending: $ 228 S .!ll... $ 526 $ 156 $ 272 $ 60 • 495 • 93 • 2,332 

The notes to the flnandal statemenu are an integral part of this statement. 

8' 



City of Binningham, Alabama 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2013 

(in thousands) 

Total Nonmajor 
2006-CG.O. lOO7·BG.O. 2oo7·AG. O. Governmental 
W"""',. W"""',. Bonds 2009·A Warrants Total Funds 

Revenues 
Taxes , , $ , $ , 3,578 
Intergovemmental 33,458 
Charges for services 72 
Fines and fort"eilures 2,053 
Investment income (8) 271 283 326 
Other operating revenues 4,436 

Total Revenues: (') 271 283 43,923 

Expenditures 
Current Expenditures: 

Public safety: 

Police 3,064 
Fire 1,218 
Planning,Engineering & Permits 63 15. 394 1,690 
Municipal Court 2,533 
Nondepartmental 56 56 

Street and sanitation: 

Public Works (4S) (29) 
Cultural & recreational: 

Park & Recreation 80 207 
Nondepartmental 329 329 329 

General government 

Finance 622 
Community Development 13,001 
Mayor's Office 7 
Nondepartmental 494 4 31 529 1,661 
Municipal Court • 

Debt Service: 
Principal 7,595 
Interest and fees 3,923 

Capital Outlay: 

Capital outlays 741 5,324 6,336 14,100 
Total Expenditures: 494 808 5,843 7,679 49,986 
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over (Under) 
Expenditures: (494) (816) (5,572) (7,396) (6,063) 

Other financing sources (uses):: 

Transfers in 204 
Transfers out (310) 

Total Otherfinancing sources (uses):: (106) 
Net Change in Fund Balances: (494) (816) (5,572) (7,396) (6,168) 
Fund Balances · Beginning 2,035 2,5n 24,668 147 34,566 52,782 

Fund Balances· Ending: , 1,541 , 1,761 $ 19,096 , 147 $ 27,190 , 46,614 

The notes to the flnandal statements are an Integral part of this statement. .. 



City of Birmingbam, A labama 
Net Position by Component 

Last Nine Fiscal Years 
(in tbousands) 

Table A-I 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30 

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 201l 2012 2013 

Governmental activities: 

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt (SI8,295) 553,708 $73,876 $74,322 S65,727 S72,325 590,213 S133,210 $104,846 
Restricted 361,917 205,388 271,686 277,817 264,602 157,454 146,478 134,295 189,391 
Unrestricted (25.033) 24,187 {91,459} (78.863) (88,588) (51,384) {62,151} (SS,574) {93,426) 

Total governmental activities net assets 318,589 283,283 254,103 $273,276 5241,741 S178,395 S174,540 S181,931 S200,811 

Business-type activities: 

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 764 942 922 901 1,022 855 919 919 722 
Unrestricted 290 (8) 74 ~4641 p,1671 {1,s22~ 61 2,032 3.861 

Total business-type activities net assets 1.054 934 996 437 (145) (667) 980 2,951 4,583 

Primary Government: 

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt (17,531) 54,650 74,798 75,223 66,749 73,180 91,132 134,129 105,568 
Restricted 361,917 205,388 271,686 277,817 264,602 157,454 146,478 134,295 189,391 
Unrestricted (24,743) 24,179 (91,385) (792.27) (89.755) (52.906) (62.090) (83,542) (89,565) 

Total primary government net assets S 319,643 S 284J:17 S 255,099 S 273,713 S 241.596 5 177.728 S 175,520 S 184.882 S 205,394 

Source: City Finance Department Data 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 

Changes In Net Position 

Last Nine Flual Yean 

(in thousands) 

TableA-2 

(1 of2) 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30 

2005 2006 2007 2008 
EXllenses: 
Governmental activities: 

594,662 S122,163 S106,000 , 88,799 

Public safety 160,097 181,014 163,704 163,149 
Struts & sanitation 80,229 68,749 95,381 93,821 
Culture & recreation 39,047 38,547 42,222 43,895 
InteUlt on lone-term debt 13,000 22,414 23,989 27,643 

Total governmental activities expenses 387,035 432,887 431,296 417,307 

Duslneu-Iype activities: 
E-9tl Services 3,258 3,157 3,196 3,935 

Total primary eovemment expenses S390,293 S436,044 S434,492 S421,242 

Program Revenues: 

Governmental activities: 

Charges for services 
General government: 

Buslneu licenses & permits 50,334 54,951 60,002 85,721 

Non-business licenses & Ilermits 5,288 5,613 5,347 5,342 
Public safety 18,328 17,244 17,327 14,739 
Streets & sanitation 1,533 1,706 1,971 1,450 

Culture & recreation ... 977 1,252 1,275 

0llerating grann and contributions 13,797 8,221 18,606 19,830 
Total governmental activities program revenuu 90,279 88,712 104,505 128,357 

Dusiness-type activitiu: 

E-9 11 Services 2,954 2,998 3,156 3,308 

Total primary eovernment Ilrogram revenues S93,233 591,710 SI07,661 S131,665 

Net (Expense)fRe\·enue 

Governmental activities (S296,756) (SJ44,175) (S326,791) (5288,950) 
Dusiness-tylle activities P041 (159) (40) (627) 

($297,060) (5344,334) (5326,831) (5289,577) 

General Revenues and Other Changu in Net Assets: 

Governmental activities: 

TlIXu: 
Sales and use taxes 5107,271 S109,085 S1 09,665 S129,732 
Occupational taxes 69,346 72,297 75,269 76,9J8 
Property taxes 50,618 52,669 54,920 62,698 

UnreJtricled grants and contributions 21,618 19,585 23,853 19,975 

Investment earnings 12,562 10,834 21,168 10,684 
Other 7,682 10,189 12,736 8,116 

Total governmental activities 269,097 274,659 297,611 308,123 

Dusiness-type activitiu: 

Investment earnings 34 39 102 68 

Total primary government $2691131 5274,698 5297,713 $308,191 

Change (decrease) in Net Assets: 

Governmental activitiu ($27,659) (S69,516) ($19,180) S19,173 
Dusiness-type activities (270} (110) .2 (5591 
Total primary government ~$27,9291 ($69,636) 1$2911181 Sl8,614 

Source:City Finance Dellartment Data 
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City ofBirmingbam, Alabama 

Changes in Net Position 

Last Nine Fiscal Years 

(in thousands) 

TableA-2 
(20f2) 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30 

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 
Expenses: 
Governmental activities: 
General government • 121,554 5 163,581 5114,375 5126,871 $127.856 
Public safety 169,083 210,132 202.706 194,761 195,022 
Streets & sanitation 121,848 59,822 54,553 56,109 53,055 
Culture & recreation 36,132 41,907 40,024 42,705 42,927 

Interest on long-term debt 25,381 211473 191861 171381 141933 

Total governmental act ivit ies expenses 473,998 496,915 431,519 437,827 433,793 

Business-Iype activities: 
E-911 Services 41044 41937 41754 41641 41571 

Total primary government expenses 54781042 55011852 5436,273 54421468 54381364 

Program Revenues: 
Governmental activities: 
Charges for services 

General government: 
Bus iness licenses & permits 9 1,493 82,726 90,139 97,443 97,495 

Non-business licenses & permits 4,506 3,747 0 0 0 
Public safety 17,502 21,488 17,778 17,011 15,893 

Streets & sanitation 1,577 595 966 1,196 449 
Culture & recreation 1.341 1,327 1,171 1,506 2,073 

Operating grants and contributions 151094 181898 241276 251118 19.540 
Total governmental activities program revenues 131,513 128,781 134,330 142,274 135,450 

Business-type activit ies: 
E-911 Services 31447 41517 61392 6,608 61196 

Tota ilirimary government Ilrogram revenues 5 1341960 51J31298 5 140,722 51481882 51411646 

Net (Expense)/Revenue 
Governmental activities ($342,485) 5368,134 5297,186 5295,553 $298,343 

Business-type aclivities (597) 420 {l1638l 11967 1,632 

($3431082~ 53681554 $295,548 $293,583 5296,711 

General Revenues and O ther Changes in Net Posit ion: 
Governmental aclivities: 

Taxes: 
Sales and use taxes 5131,904 $127,197 5 131,162 $134,829 5140,832 

Occupational taxes 76,325 73,008 74,909 77,703 77,844 
Property taxes 61,663 56,699 51.369 55,656 50,367 

Unrestricted grants and contributions 26,060 23,730 22,548 19,500 25,467 

Investnlent earnings (4,201) 8,233 13,560 5,067 8,362 

Other 81407 71145 (217) 101188 141353 
Total governmental activities 300,158 296,012 293,331 302,943 317,225 

Business-type activities: 
Investment earnings 15 11 4 

Total primary government 5300.173 52961° 13 52931342 53021947 53171225 

Change (decrease) in Net Position: 
Governmental activities ('42,327) (S72,lZZ) (S3,855) 57,393 518,880 
Business-type aclivities (582) (419) 11649 11971 1,632 

Total primary government (542.909) ~572.5411 (521206) 591364 SlO.512 

Source:City Finance Department Da ta 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 

Fund Balances, Governmental Funds 
Last Nine Fiscal Years 

(in thousands) 

TableA-3 
Page 1 of2 

Fisc:ai Year Ended J uoe 30 

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 

General Fund 
Reserved $13,969 $7,584 $10,448 $11,417 $280 $253 
Unreserved 60,209 70,389 85,368 106,065 94,501 92,027 
Total general fund $74,178 $77,97}_ $95,816 $117,482 $94,781 $92,280 

Other Governmental Funds: 
Reserved, reported in: 

Special revenue funds $216,063 $160,123 $134,246 $113,754 $96,755 $77,026 
Debt service funds 53,097 46,674 45,394 44,216 40,175 50,947 
Capital projects funds 99,964 76,151 155,487 160,696 138,479 94,500 

369,124 282,948 335,127 318,666 275,409 222,473 
Unreserved, reported in: 

Special revenue funds (2,663) (1,744) (2,278) (2,484) (1,847) (1,866) 
Debt service funds (3,666) (5,805) 
Capital projects funds (731) (102) 

(3,394) (1,846) (2,278) (2,484) (5,513) (7,671) 
Total other governmental funds $365,730 $281,102 $332,849 $433,664 $364,677 $307,082 

Source: City Finance Department Data 
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General Fund 
Nonspendable: 
Prepaid 
Inventory 
Spendable: 
Restricted 
Committed 
Assigned 

Unassigned 
Total General Fund 

Other Governmental Funds: 
Restricted 
Committed 
Assigned 
Unassigned 

City ofBirmingbam, Alabama 
Fund Balances, Governmental Funds 

Last Nine Fiscal Years 
(in tbousands) 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30 

2011 

280 

98,935 
$99,215 

117,183 
$1,338 

104,963 
(4,627) 

Total other governmental funds 218,857 

Total Fund Balance $318,072 

Change in fund balance Designation due to GASB Statemtent 54 

Source: City Finance Department 

2012 

344 
1573 

90,197 
$92,114 

109,846 
$95,668 

(14) 
788 

206,288 

$298,402 
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TableA-3 
Page 2 of2 

2013 

344 
1573 

91,581 
$93,498 

162,524 
$97,836 

382 
709 

261,451 

$354,949 



City or Birmingham, Alabama 

Cbanges in Fund Balances, Governmental Funds 

Last Nine Fiscal Years 

(in thousands) 

TableA-4 

Fis~1 Year Ended June 30 

~ 2006 2007 200S 2009 2010 2011 2012 ----1!!!L 
REVENUES: 
Taxes $ 227,235 $ 234,051 S 239,854 S 269,348 S 276,738 S 265,398 S 267,324 S 280,062 S 280,515 
Licenses and permits 55,622 60,564 65,349 91,063 87,525 78,556 79,984 87,671 86,709 
Intergovernmental 33,699 39,273 41,669 39,805 41,327 44,298 45,954 45,729 44,820 
Charges for services 16,119 15,746 16,432 12,927 14,069 13,943 13,856 12,826 12,586 
Fines and forfeitures 4,741 4,181 4,118 4,537 7,944 6,770 5,483 4.'" 4,803 
InveshDent income 12,562 10,834 21,168 10,684 (4,199) 8,235 13,560 5 .... 8,361 
Other operating revenues 6,862 5,471 9,934 8,157 7,622 9,168 20,959 10,888 15~97 

TOTAL REVENUES 356,840 370,120 398,524 436,521 431,026 426,368 447,120 447,206 453,091 

EXPENDITURES: 
Current: 

Public safety 140,215 145,688 148,485 155,120 177,188 194,348 181,158 178,555 172,498 
Stnct and sanitation 77,573 68,483 64,359 66,788 52,414 57,871 49,886 48,340 46,4,. 
Cultural and rec:reationai 37,854 38,547 oW,752 42,480 34,990 37,699 34,797 33,856 36,J<i9 
General government 91,708 126,133 102,804 82,681 118,030 141,660 123,338 125,548 123,411 

Other 41. 242 139 
T(ltal current operations _~~I.,J~ 379,267 356,642 347,208 382,622 431,578 389,179 386,299 378,714 

Debt service: 
Prindpal 19,457 23,669 24,918 27,424 25,935 42,050 33,193 38,306 38,648 
Interest 18,180 15,975 20.508 25,418 24,204 24.302 22,701 231130 22,431 
Total debt service 37,637 39,644 45,426 52,842 50,139 66.352 55,894 61,436 ----.!h079 

Capital (luttays 31,079 38,075 34,641 31,749 93,751 10,983 37,854 19,172 31,808 
Warrantl&nd issue costs 217 541 11,772 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 416,283 457,527 448,481 431,799 526,513 508,9]3 482,927 ~907 471,599 

Excess (defidency) (If revenues 
(lver (under) expenditures (59,443) (87,407) (49,957) 4,722 (95,487) (82,545) (35,807) (19,701) (18,508) 

Other finandn(: sources (uses): 
Proceeds from sale of property 887 4,812 4,634 278 
Proceeds of issuance of debt 21,000 110,476 70,061 
Issuance (If refunding bonds ,,9" 28,230 316,880 19,960 8,400 
Refunded bonds redeemed (19,967) 
Capital lease 431 1,845 2.,500 1,074 
Premiumsl(dist(lunts)on warrantslbonds (35) 1,767 12,300 31' 3,834 (164) 5,877 
Payment to escrow age.nt (8,733) (30,O80) (214,267) (67,511) (8,205) (1,955) 
Transfers in 63,764 49,221 40,559 69,971 63,250 59,742 40,169 43,988 44,295 
Transfers (lut {63,764l {49,2211 {40,559} {69.971l {63,2501 {59,7421 {40,1691 {43.9881 {44,2951 

Net other fmanting rouues 1,535 6,574 119,547 278 26,500 21.309 46,799 31 75,056 

Net cllaoge in fund balaD«s (57,908) (80,833) 69,590 5,000 (68,987) (61,236) 10,992 (19,670) 56,548 

Debt service as a percentage (If 
nontapital expenditures 10.50% 10.000/. 11.60% 14.200/ .. 13.10% 15.37% 14.36% 15.90% 16.13% 

SGu«e: City Finance Department Data 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Sales and Use Tax Revcnues 

Last Tea Fiscal Years 
(in thousauds) 

FLSUl Year Ended Junc 30 

2004 2005 2006 2007 

Sales and Use Tax Rcvcuue SI00,608 S107,271 SI09,085 SI09,665 

Perccntage Change from Prior Year -1.20% 6.62% 1.69-;. 0.53-;. 

Breakdown ofSalcslUse Tax By Industry Type: 
Apparel 5.5.4 5,950 5,001 6,298 
Automotive, RV's, Motor Homes 9,419 9,154 8,581 9,951 
Building & Construction Related 10,013 11,103 10,241 11,836 
Communications 1,794 1,481 1,520 1,886 
Equipmeat & Machinery 9,422 9,633 8,636 10,680 
Food and Restaurants 18,SOO 18,436 16,239 18,661 
Furniture and Furnishing! 2,261 2,457 2,154 2,804 
Insurance, Finance, Real Estate 1,022 811 459 528 
Medical 2,874 2,418 1,332 1,647 
Pcrsonal Services, Entntainment 7,891 7,508 6,483 7,615 

All Other Industries 2!.2!!2. 33.320 48,43. 371759 
100,608 107,211 109,085 109.665 

.. The City of Birmingbam incruscd its sales tax on retail sales of automative vehicles, bouse trailers, and mobile bome 
set-up materials and lupplies; rctail sales of machines, machinery, or equipment used in mining, qusrrying, compounding, 
processing, and manufacturing tangible personal property from 10/. to 2-;. in FY 2008. The City also incruscd 
its sales tax on the retail HIes of other tangiblc personal proper ty from 3% to 4·/0 in FY200S. 

Sou.rcc: City ofBirmingbam Rcvcauc Division 
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2008 " 

S129,732 

18.30% 

6,402 
]0,787 

11,423 
2,182 

10,758 
15,853 
2,852 
2,071 
1,958 
7,588 

57,858 
129,732 

Tablc B-1 

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

$131.904 5127,197 S131,162 SI34,869 SI40,832 

1.67·1. -3.57-;. 3.12°/. 2.83% 4.50% 

6,190 6,685 7,432 7,724 8,016 

9,845 10,312 12,328 12,291 12,891 

14,551 12,667 13,821 14,730 15,401 
2,677 2,155 1,9" 2,047 2,130 

10 .... 9,855 10,404 11,148 11,650 

23,804 22,041 24,974 24,333 25,389 
3,447 3,329 4,241 4,351 4,5SO 
2,751 2,516 2,302 1,760 1,840 
3,556 3,448 4,995 5,179 5,410 
6,623 6,495 6,750 6,519 ' .... 

47.576 47,694 41z2!9 44,781 46.755 
131,904 127,197 131,162 134,869 140,832 



City of Birmingham 
Sales and Use Tax Reveuues to Total Taxes 

Last Nine Years 
(in thousands) 

Fiscal Year Ended JUDe 30 

Breakdown of Tax Revenues: 
Sales and Use Tax 
Occupational Tax 
Property Tax 

% of Sales & Use to Total Taxes 

$ 

$ 

2003 

101,434 $ 

64,s12 
42,858 

208,814 S 

48.58-;. 

2004 2005 

100,608 $ 107,271 
65,537 69,346 

48,59' SO,618 
214,741 $ 227,235 

46.85·/. 47.21"1. 

2006 2007 200. 

$ 109,085 $ 109,665 $ 129,732 
72,297 75,269 76,918 
521669 54,920 62,698 

$ 234,051 $ 239,854 $ 269,348 

46.61-;. 45.72°/. 48.17% 

Note: Prior to 2010, the portion of ad valorem tax revenues due to be paid, by statute, to the Jefferson County Board of 
Health ("Board of Health") and the Birmingham-Jefferson County Transit AuthOrity (the "Transit Authority") were 
included in the total amount of property tues coUttteei as revenue on the City's financial statements and were also 
deducted as an expense. Prior to and after 2010, tbe amounts owing to the Board of Health and the Transit AuthOrity 
were and continue to be remitted dirtttly to Transit Autbority and Board of Health by tbe City's tax collector. As a 
result of a cbange in accounting procedures, tbe City no longer treats the portion of the ad valorem tax revenues due the 
Transit Authority and tbe Board of Health as an item of revenue and expense on the City's financial statements. 
Accounting for the amounts due the Transit AuthOrity on the City's financial statements ceased beginning in 2010 and 
accounting. for tbe amounts due the Board of Health ceased beginning in 2011. The ad valorem tax revenue due the 
Transit Authority after tbe accounting procedure cbange and not included in tbe "Property (ad valorem) tax" calculation 
above was 53,483.527.49, 53,947,279.83, 53,144,824.23 and 54,009,941 in 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013, respectively. Tbe ad 
valorem tax revenue due the Board of Health after tbe accounting procedure change and not included in tbe "Property 
(ad valorem) tax" calculation above was SI,534,510.60, 51.159,722.18 aDd Sl,172;297 in 2011. 2012 and 2013. respectively. 

Source: Finance Departrneut Data 
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S 

Table B-2 

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

131,904 $ 127,197 $ 131,162 $ 134,829 $ 140,832 
76,325 73,008 74,909 77,703 77,844 
61,663 56,699 51.,369 5~6S6 56288 

269,892 $ 2S6,904 $ 257,440 $ 26&,188 $ 275,064 

48.87-;. 49.51% 50.95% SO.27% 51.20% 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

TableC-l 

General General Percentage 
Fiscal ObUgation Ohligation Revenue Capital Aggregate of Personal Per 
Year Bonds Warrants Warrants Leases Total Income Income Ca~ita 

2004 344,655,000 212,695,000 13,000,000 0 570,350,000 3,803,289,660 15.00% $2,349 

2005 325,340,000 205,935,000 12,430,000 417,000 544,122,000 3,803,289,660 14.31% $2,241 

2006 309,920,000 197,435,000 11,835,000 2,094,000 521,284,000 3,803,289,660 13.71% $2,147 

2007 353,750,000 237,885,000 11,210,000 1,690,000 604,535,000 3,803,289,660 15.90% $2,490 

2008 337,120,000 229,445,000 7,365,000 1,266,000 575,196,000 3,803,289,660 15.12% $2,369 

2009 318,045,000 219,805,000 7,365,000 27,331,000 572,546,000 3,803,289,660 15.05% $2,358 

2010 298,070,000 138,615,000 21,000,000 20,950,000 478,635,000 3,803,289,660 12.58% $1,971 

2011 277,260,000 192,185,000 20,810,000 51,779 490,306,779 3,927,870,159 12.48% $2,310 

2012 256,170,000 175,555,000 20,410,000 0 452,135,000 3,927,870,159 11.51% $2,130 

2013 302,005,535 161,215,000 19,615,000 971,093 483,806,628 3,927,870,159 12.32% $2,280 

Source: City Finance Department data 
Personal income computed from 2000 census population and per capita income data (see table D-l). 
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Fiscal Population 
year Census Year Number 

2004 2000 242,820 
2005 2000 242,820 
2006 2000 242,820 
2007 2000 242,820 
2008 2000 242,820 
2009 2000 242,820 
2010 2000 242,820 
2011 2010 212,237 
2012 2010 212,237 
2013 2010 212,237 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Ratio of Net General Obligation Bonded Debt to 
Assessed Value and Net Bonded Debt Per Capita 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Gross Less Debt 
Assessed Bonded Service 
Value* Debt** Funds 

2,422,011,707 570,350,000 58,850,000 
2,515,810,000 543,705,000 51,208,000 
2,567,735,000 519,190,000 45,161,000 
2,631,971,182 602,845,000 44,153,000 
2,810,565,632 566,565,000 43,205,000 
2,937,624,552 537,850,000 40,175,000 
2,880,265,253 436,685,000 36,317,088 
2,826,110,356 469,445,000 32,191,620 
2,755,748,375 431,725,000 29,668,690 
2,689,227,218 463,220,535 23,538,147 

Ratio of Net 
Bonded Debt 

Net Bonded To Assessed 
Debt Value (%) 

511,500,000 21.12% 
492,497,000 19.58% 
474,029,000 18.46% 
558,692,000 20.07% 
523,360,000 19.88% 
497,675,000 17.70% 
400,367,912 13.63% 
437,253,380 15.47% 
402,056,310 14.59% 
439,682,388 16.35% 

*Source: Jefferson County Tax Assessor and Department of Revenue; Shelby County Property Tax Commissioner and 
Judge of Probate 

"Does not include revenue warrants and capitalized leases. 
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Table C-2 

Net 
Bonded 

Debt Per 
Capita 

2,106 
2,028 
1,952 
2,301 
2,155 
2,050 
1,649 
2,060 
1,849 
2,072 



cw.1 
Property of 

Tax Year Utilities 
Ending """"" Estimated 

~ Value True Value 

'006 221,316,191 737.720,637 

'007 218,646,340 728,821,134 

, ... 209,898,240 699,660,800 

'00' 215,101,040 711,003,467 

2010 212,316,380 701,121,267 

2011 212,799,421 709,331,403 

2012 208,111,380 693,704,600 

City of BirmiDCham, Alabama 
Assessed Value and Estimated True Value of All Tauble Property 

Last SevenTax Years 

cw., cw.' C1.w4 
AU Unclassified Real A&ricuUurt, Forest, Motor 

and Pel"$Onal Prol!!;!:!l:': ResMientiai. Historic Pro2!:!:!l:': Vehicles 

""""" Estimated A ....... Estimated """"" Estimated 
Value True Value Va lue True Value Value Value 

1,715,444,558 8,577,222,790 409,710,653 4,097,106,530 285,499,780 1,903,331,867 

J ,866,230,738 9,331,153.690 440,451,774 4,404,517,740 285,236,780 1,901,578,534 

1,984.448,984 9,922,244,920 462,407,628 4,624,076,280 280,869,700 1,872.464,667 

l,m,102,351 9,860,511,155 448,535,382 4,485,353,820 244,526,480 1,630,116,534 

1,944,617,951 9,723,089,155 433,614,085 4,336,140,850 235,501.940 1,570,012,934 

1.870,926,188 9,354,630,940 439.146,266 4,391,462,660 232,816,500 1 ,s52,sJ 0,000 

1,&35,441,332 9,171,206,660 391,699.466 3,916,994,660 253,915,040 1,693,166,933 

Total 

""""" Value 

2.631,971,182 

2,810,565,632 

2,937,624,552 

2,880,265,253 

2,826,110,356 

2,155,148.,315 

2,689,221,218 

'" , TIle dAuificatioDS of propnt)' for ad yaJo_ laUtioa, as Sd: forth above, art. ~ by ~I No. 313 10 tIw: Con$titutioa of Alabama of 1901, as amended. 

'The assessed .... Iues art. provided by: 

ForOau 1,1I ... d III Property in Birmingbam in Jerrcrsoa Count)'.AlIb ...... : Tu Aua:sornf Jerrerson CCIiUlly 

ForClass 1,IIaad IIII'roputy in Birmitlgbam ill Sbdby CouDt)'.A1aIwna; ProputyTu Cocami$siODU ofSbdby Count)' 

For Oass IV Property in BirmiDpam in Jerr~ eo..aly.Alabama: .leftCrsoa CO\UIly DepartmctOl ofRcnauc 

For OUS IV Property in Birmingham in Sbdby ColUlly, Alabama: J...ctgc ofProbalc ofSbdby Count)' 

Tbe est1nuoled market values of pro~ a .... tile quotieal of tbc: ~ values of property in a cla$slfteation divided by tbe usessmenl rltio appliablc 10 thaI dassif",atioa, as Id forth below. 

PI Clan I Propierty CODSists of aU proprt't)' or utilities used in tbe bu.siDas or sucb utilities and is useued al the ... ta of thirtY ""!Jt!!1 (3O%l of tIM: fllir ... d ruJOAable market nlut: ttoemtf. 

PI Clay II Property consists of all ..... 1 and penooal property not otherwise dusifotd in another c1us (ceaenI1,. comroercial property) Ind is usased al tile ... rio of fwrn'! J>!ryn' nO-I_) of the 

of 1M (Ilir IlId reuoa.al~ mlrl<el yalut: tIIe~f. Class IIlllDounts do nOI iaduclc tile amounts or Yalua of lUIy IbaltmcQ!s. ind l.lllti ... 1 uemplioll$, otllerucmplioll$ or 

or pcaaItia with rapecc 10 sudl propnt)'. 

'" a.u III Property consists orin a,"cultural, forat,sinp,.family Olll'n«-oc:cupied resKitfttiai property. and biscoric buildillp and $ita, and is useuecI. upllllapplKalioa by tbe cnnIU.at 

1M ... tio of len percenl or lhe curnul II$C YallIC (IIOI fair and reason.n,e market: values of sudl property). The amounts shown above IS assessed yalua of Class III property a .... net of, Ind 

do not include, tbe IIDOIUII of Illy bo<nateaduemptions wilb raped: 10 sucb property. 

1'1 Class IV Pn>peI1y coouists of motor vehidts 0W'II0ed aDd .... ted by individu.a.ls for penoIIaI or privalE LIK, and DOl for biI"II!, renl Or compcD$&lioa. aDd is usased al tbe ... rio of fifttt!! Iltrtt!!l 

pautli of tbe {Ilir ud reasonable ......kg YalUE thereof. 
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TabJeC...J 

Ratio of .......... 
Total Value to 

Estimated Estimated 
True Value True Value 

15,315,381,824 17.19% 

16,366,071,098 17.17-;' 

11,118,446,667 11.16-;' 

16,693,045,576 17.25% 

16,337,564,806 11.30% 

16,007,935,003 11.22Y_ 

15,481.072,853 11.37Y_ 



City of Birmingham. Alabama 
Schedule ofDirttt an Overlapping Debt 

Last Seven Fiscal Years 
(in thousands) 

Direct Debt 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 
City of Birmingham: 
Gross bonded debt and warrants outstanding· S 602,845 S 566,565 $ 537,850 S 436,685 S 469,445 431,725 
Less debt service funds net assets (44,153) (43,20~ (40,175) (36,3I:D (32,192) (29,688) 
Direct Debt 558,692 523,360 497,675 400,368 437,253 402,037 

Overlapping Debt 

Jefferson County, Alabama overlapping debt 1 1,407,225 1,328,870 1,266,885 1,141,290 1,190,200 1,014,595 

Jefferson County Board of Education 1 90,910 86,150 81,160 75,930 81.680 85,930 
Total bonds and warrants outstanding 1,498,135 1,415,020 1,348,045 1,217,220 1,271,880 1,100,525 
0/. of debt applicable to City of Birmingham 31.7% 31.8% 31.4% 31.5% 31.3% 31.3% 
City of Birmingham Debt Burden 474,909 449,976 423,286 383.424 398,098 344,464.33 

Shelby County, Alabama 1 

Sbelby County, Alabama Board of Education' 161.420 154,930 155,390 161,610 155.120 144.080 
161,420 154,930 155,390 161.610 155,120 144,080 

% of debt applicable to City of Birmingham 1.6% 1.7% 1.7% 1.7% 1.8% 1.8% 
City of Birmingham Debt Burden 2.583 2,634 2,642 2,747 2,792 2,593 

Total Overlapping Debt 477,492 452,610 425,928 386,172 400,891 347,058 

Total Direct and Overlapping Debt S 1.036,184 S 975.970 S 923.603 S 786.540 S 838,144 S 749,095 

The debt for scbools of tbe Board of Education of the City of Birmingham, Alabama, is included in the City's general obligation debt shown above. 

The figures for Jefferson County, the Jefferson County Board of Education, and tbe Sbelby County Board of Education are for tbeir rlSC81 years ended 9/30. 

1 Source: Jefferson County Director of Finance 

1 The entire debt of tbe Jefferson County Board of Education is paid by appropriations from specifically pledged taxes. No portion of this debt 
is paid from the school funds of tbe City of Birmingbam. 
Source: Jeferson County Board of Education 

1 Sbelby County reports no debt. Source: Shelby County Finance Manager 

, AU of the gross debt of Sbelby County Board of Education is payable from one of several specially pledged revenues, each of wbicb produces 8 

substantial margin of revnue above the necessary debt sen-ice requirements. 
Source: Shelby County Board of Education 

·noes not include capitalized leases and revenue warnmts 
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TableC4 

2013 

463,221 
(23,538) 
439,683 

982,080 

78.990 
1,061,070 

31.3D
/. 

332,115 

181,530 
181,530 

1.8% 
3.268 

335,382 

S 775,065 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Property Taxes - Direct and Overlapping Governments 

Birmingbam, Jefferson and Shelby Counties 
Last Ten Fiscal Years 

(per 5100 of Assessed Value) 

Ci!l: of Birmingham 
Debt Board of 

Fiscal General Service Education 
Year Fund Fund Fund Libra~ Total Coun!! 
2004 SO.9O S1.20 S1.98 50.05 S4.13 S135 
2005 SO.9O S1.20 S1.98 SO.05 S4.13 S135 
2006 SO.9O 51.20 S1.98 SO.05 S4.13 S135 
2007 SO.90 S1.20 S1.98 SO.05 S4.13 S135 
2008 SO.90 51.20 S1.98 50.05 S4.13 S135 
2009 50.90 S1.20 51.98 50.05 S4.13 S135 
2010 SO.90 S1.20 S1.98 SO.05 S4.13 5135 
20ll 50.90 S1.20 S1.98 SO.05 S4.13 5135 
2012 50.90 S1.20 S1.98 50.05 54.13 S1.35 
2013 50.90 S1.20 51.98 50.05 S4.13 Si.35 

Source: Jefferson County Tax Assessor 

Ci!}'.ofBirmingham 
Debt Board of 

Fiscal General Service Education 
Year Fund Fund Fund Libra!! Total Coun!):: 
2004 $0.90 SI.20 52.07 SO.05 S4.22 SO.75 
2005 SO.9O S1.20 S2.07 50.05 54.22 50.75 
2006 SO.9O $1.20 S2.07 SO.05 54.22 SO.75 
2007 $0.90 S1.20 S2.07 50.05 S4.22 50.75 
2008 SO.90 51.20 51.47 SO.05 S3.62 SO.75 
2009 SO.9O S1.20 51.47 SO.05 53.62 SO.75 
2010 50.90 S1.20 51.47 SO.05 53.62 SO.75 
20ll SO.90 SI.20 S1.47 50.05 53.62 50.75 
2012 50.90 51.20 51.47 50.05 S3.62 SO.07 
2013 SO.90 S1.20 S1.98 SO.05 S4.13 SO.07 

Source: Shelby County Tax Assessor 
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Table C-5 

Jefferson Coun!l: 

County State of Total 
Schools Total Alabam: Tax 
SO.82 S2.17 SO.65 S6.95 
SO.82 S2.17 50.65 56.95 
50.82 $2.17 SO.65 S6.95 
SO.82 S2.17 SO.65 S6.95 
SO.82 S2.17 SO.65 56.95 
50.82 S2.17 SO.65 56.95 
SO.82 52.17 50.65 S6.95 
SO.82 S2.17 SO.65 S6.95 
SO.82 S2.17 50.65 56.95 
SO.82 S2.17 50.65 S6.95 

Shelby County 

County State of Total 
Schools Total Alabam: Tax 
51.60 52.35 50.65 S7.22 
51.60 S2.35 SO.65 S7.22 
51.60 $2.35 SO.65 57.22 
51.60 S2.35 SO.65 S7.22 
51.60 $2.35 SO.65 56.62 
S1.60 S2.35 SO.65 56.62 
S1.60 S2.35 50.65 56.62 
S1.60 S2.35 SO.65 S6.62 
S1.60 S2.35 SO.65 S6.62 
S1.60 S2.35 SO.65 S6.62 



City of Birmingham 
Estimated Legal Debt Margin 
As of June 30, 2013 

Net Assessed Value of Real and Personal Property(l) 

Debt Limit (20% of Assessed Value, see note below) 

Outstanding General Obligation Bonds, Warrants and Leases(2) 
Less Exemption for School and Sewer Debt(3) 
Less Debt Service Fund Balance(4) 

Legal Debt Margin 

$2,689,227,218 

537,845,443 

$ 483,532,346 
(83,504,680) 
(23,538.147) 
376.489,519 

$ 161,355,924 

Table C-6 

(1) As reported by the Jefferson County Tax Assessor, Jefferson County Department of Revenue (motor vehicles) Shelby County Property Tax 
Commissioner and Shelby County License Officer (motor vehicles). 
(2) Includes the aggregate principal amount of general obligation bonds, general obligation warrants, Economic Development Incentive 
Obligations ($2,451,453), Binningham Zoo Obligations ($16,500,000), a lease ($971,093) and the Funding Agreement for the Honda Project 
($389,265), all as of June 30, 2012. Does not include any other obligation of the City and does not reflect principal payments made on any 
obligations after June 30, 2013. Does not included the obligations of the city incurred pursuant to Amendment No. 772 to the Constitution of 
Alabama, as amended. 
(3) Not less than the stated amount was issued for schools, water works or sewers and is not chargeable against the City's constitutional debt limit. 
(4) Book Value as ofJune 30, 2013 
Note: Section 225, as amended, of the Constitution of the State of Alabama limits debt of the City of Binningham to 20% of the assessed value of 
taxable property, Excluded from this limitation is debt issued for schools and sewers (General Constitutional Debt Limitation). 

Special Constitutional Debt Limitation for Economic Development Obligations 
Amendment No. 772 to the constitution of Alabama authorizes the counties and municipalities within the State to use public funds for certain 
purposes intended to further the economic development of such political subdivisions. Amendment 772 authorizes any county or municipality to 
(i) acquire real property, buildings, plants, factories, facilities, machinery and equipment of any kind and to improve and develop such properties 
for use as sites for industry of any kind or as industrial parks, (ii) lease, sell, grant, exchange or otherwise convey all or any part of any real 
property, buildings, plants, factories, machinery and equipment or any industrial park project to any individual, firm, corporation or other entity, 
public or private, for the purpose of constructing, developing, equipping and operating industrial, commercial, research or service facilities of any 
kind or (iii) lend its credit to, or grant public funds and things of value for the benefit of any individual, firm, corporation or other entity, public or 
private, for the purpose of promoting the economic and industrial development of such political subdivision. 
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Amendment 772 also authorizes counties and municipalities to issue bonds, warrants, notes and other evidences of indebtedness and to use the 
proceeds thereof in furtherance of the powers discussed in the paragraph immediately above, subject to the limitation that the aggregate principal 
amount of obligations issued for such purposes may not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the assessed value of taxable property in such county or 
municipality. Amendment No. 772 provides that the bonds, warrants, notes or other evidences of indebtedness may be secured by the full faith 
and credit of the issuer or may be limited as to the source of payment. 

The issuance of bonds, warrants, notes and other evidences of indebtedness pursuant to Amendment No. 772 is not subject to the City's twenty 
percent constitutional debt limit. Pursuant to, and in accordance with, Amendment No. 772, in recent years the City has delivered agreements with 
various entities for economic development purposes as provided in Amendment No. 772, whereby the City agrees to rebate, over a stated period of 
years, to the other parties to such agreements, certain percentages of the proceeds of various City taxes received by the City from the construction 
and operation by such other parties of the facilities described in such agreements. The obligations of the City under such agreements (the 
"Amendment No. 772 Obligations") (i) are not general obligations ofthe City and (ii) are limited obligations of the City payable solely from the 
tax proceeds specified in such agreements, and produced solely from the facilities and projects described in such agreements, when and if such tax 
proceeds are actually received by the City, except a Funding Agreement with the Commercial Development Authority of the City of Birmingham, 
which is a general obligation and a Funding Agreement with the Public Athletic, Cultural and Entertainment Board of the City of Birmingham, 
which is a general obligation. The economic development office of the City, based on certain assumptions which it believes to be reasonable, has 
projected the total tax revenues to be received by the City from each of the facilities for which such a tax rebate agreement is in effect, will exceed 
the amount of the City tax proceeds to be rebated pursuant to such agreement. 

The City has obligations outstanding under Amendment No. 772 in the aggregate amount of approximately $217,520,048. These obligations are 
limited obligations of the City payable generally as rebates of taxes received by the City from the private entity, except for funding agreements to 
cover bonds issued by the Commercial Development Authority of the City of Birmingham (currently outstanding in the principal amount of 
$70,555,000) and the Public Athletic and Entertainment Board of the City of Birmingham (currently outstanding in the principal amount of 
$62,920,000), both, of which, are general obligations of the City. The City treats the obligations thereof under Amendment No. 772 (i) as exempt 
from the general constitutional debt limitation and (ii) as subject to the special constitutional debt limit under Amendment No. 772. 
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Beginning 
October 1 

2003 
2004 
2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
2010 
2011 
2012 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Property Taxes Levied and Collected for 

The City of Birmingham 
Last Ten Fiscal Years 

City of Birmingham 
Total Taxes Total Taxes 

Levied Collected 
59,048,850 58,356,048 
61,440,447 61,078,411 
62,890,413 62,386,134 
66,224,605 64,416,414 
71,268,264 69,999,820 
74,939,011 71,593,360 
74,462,772 71,390,609 
72,971,185 68,536,652 
71,571,040 67,909,751 
68,753,822 66,151,831 

'Jefferson Connty only 
Sources: Jefferson County Tax Assessor and Tax Collector 
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Table C-7 

Percentage 
98.83% 
99.41% 
99.20% 
97.27% 
98.22% 
95.54% 
95.87% 
93.92% 
94.88% 
96.22% 



Assessed Entity 

Alabama Power Company 
American Cast Iron & Pipe Company 
AT & T Property Tax Group 
GSA Birmingham Realty 
BBV A Compass Bank 
SL Regions LLC 
AT&T Mobility 
Alabama Gas Corp 
Cbase Bank of Texas NA 
Tish Robert Preston 
Bellsouth Telecommunications 
HealthSouth Corporation 
St. Vincent Hospital 
EnergeD Corporation 
Marray-Ash Communications 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Principal Property Taxpayers 

Current Fiscal Year and Ten Year Prior 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Total Assessed % of Total 
Value of Property Assessed Valuation 
Within City Limits Rank 

$121,989,780 1 4.54% 
$50,549,619 2 1.88% 
39,184,960 3 1.46% 
29,020,540 4 1.08% 
22,477,980 5 0.84% 
20,345,980 6 0.76% 
18,258,540 7 0.68% 
16,107,320 8 0.60% 
13,336,000 9 0.50% 
11,716,000 10 0.44% 

$342,986,719 12.75% 

Source: Jefferson and Shelby Counties Tax Collectors 
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Table C-8 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2003 

Total Assessed % of Total 
Value of Property Assessed Valuation 
Within City Limits Rank 

$98,528,400 1 4.34% 
$14,322,238 4 0.63% 

13,116,960 5 0.58% 
3 0.00% 
6 0.00% 

0.00% 
0.00% 

8 0.00% 
14,722,900 9 0.65% 
14,933,500 . 7 0.66% 
64,186,020 2 2.83% 
19,749,960 0.87% 
16,284,300 0.72% 
16,000,440 0.70% 
15,684,300 10 0.69% 

$287,529,018 10.17% 



Year Population 
2004 242,820 
2005 242,820 
2006 242,820 
2007 242,820 
2008 242,820 
2009 242,820 
2010 242,820 
2011 212,237 
2012 212,237 
2013 212,237 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Demographic and Economic Statistics 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Median Per Capita 
Household Personal Unemployment 

Income Income Rate 
31,851 15,663 8.2% 
31,851 15,663 5.0% 
31,851 15,663 4.7% 
31,851 15,663 3.7% 
31,851 15,663 4.9% 
31,851 15,663 12.4% 
31,851 15,663 9.7% 
30,212 18,507 11.2% 
30,212 18,507 8.9% 
30,212 18,507 7.9% 

Population figures based on 2000 and 2010 census 

Table D-l 

Birmingham Hoover 
MA Annual Average 

Unemployment 
Rate 
4.4% 
3.5% 
3.2% 
3.1% 
4.5% 
9.2% 
8.9% 
8.3% 
7.0% 
5.9% 

Unemployment rates source: Alabama Department of Labor in cooperation with the Bureau of 
Labor Statistics. 2013 City and MA rate is preliminary June 2013 rate. 
Personal income and per capita personal income source: U. S. Bureau 
of the Census 2010 
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Birmingham Metro Employers 
Principal Private Sector Employers 

Current and Ten Years Prior 

------Decembcr 2013-------- -------May 2003-----------
#d #d 

Employer 

University of Alabama in Birmingham 
Regions Financial Corporation/AmSouth 
Bellsouth! A IT 
St. Vincent's Health System 
Honda Manufacturing of Alabama, LLC·· 
Blue Cross-Blue Shield of Alabama 
Alabama Power Company 
Children's Health System 
Mercedes-Benz U. S International, Inc,*'" 
Baptist Health System 
United States Postal Service 
Univ of Alabama Health Services Fou ndation 
BBVA Compass Bank 
American Cast Iron Pipe 
Buffalo Rock Company 
Southern Company Services· 
Bruno's Inc. 
HcalthSouth Corporation 
South Trust Bank 
Drummond Company 
USX 

·Part of Southern Company 
**Located Outside Metro Area 

Employees 

23,000 
7,668 
5,750 
4,644 
4,500 
4,000 
3,982 
3,975 
3,500 
3,200 
2,800 
2,800 
2,606 
2,400 
2,200 
2,116 

Docs not include aggregated multiple location employers 

Rank 

Source: Birmingham Business Alliance/Birmingham Chamber of Commerce 
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Employees 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
II 
II 
12 
13 
14 
15 

16,271 
6,624 
5,750 

2,750 
3,000 
2,800 

6,000 

2371 
2,400 

3,207 
5,374 
3,960 
3,207 
2,900 
2,400 

Table D-2 

Rank 

3 
2 

not ranked 

12 
9 

11 

4 
not ranked 

13 
15 
14 

not ranked 
7 
5 
6 
8 

10 
14 



Metropolitan Birmingham Largest Employers 

by Industry 

Rank Company Employment 

1 University of Alabama at Birmingbam* 23,000 
2 Regions Financial Corporation 7,668 
3 AT&T 5,750 
4 St. Vincent's Healtb System 4,644 
5 Honda Manufacturing of Alabama, LLC** 4,500 
6 Blue Cross-Blue Shield of Alabama 4,000 
7 Alabama Power Company 3,982 
8 Cbildren's Health System/Cbildren's of Alabama 3,975 
9 Mercedes-Benz U.S. International, Inc. ** 3,500 
10 Baptist Health System, Inc. 3,200 
11 United States Postal Service 2,800 
11 Univ. of Alabama Healtb Services Foundation 2,800 
12 BBV A Compass 2,606 
13 American Cast Iron Pipe Company 2,400 
14 Buffalo Rock Company 2,200 
15 Southern Company Services 2,116 
16 Brookwood Medical Center 2,037 
17 U. S. Steel 1,900 
18 Trinity Medical Center 1,879 
19 U.S. Social Security Administration 1,800 
20 Drummond Company, Inc. 1,625 
21 Birmingham Veterans Affairs Medical Center 1,525 
22 Wells Fargo 1,466 
23 Protective Life Corporation 1,340 
24 State Farm Insruance 1,300 
25 McDonalds (CLP Corporation) 1,300 

Source: Birmingham Business Alliance 

,. University of Alabama at Birmingham (UAB) and University of Alabama at Birmingham 

.... Not located in metropOlitan Birmingham 

*** December 2013 

Product 

Education and Healthcare Services 
Financial Services (Banking) 
Communications 
Healtbcare Services 
Automotive Manufacturing 
Healtb Insurance Headquarters 
Utilities Services, Electrical 
Healtbcare ServiceslPediatrics 
Automotive Manufacturing 
Healthcare Services/Management 
GovernmentIPostal ProcessinglDelivery 
UAB Physician PracticelKirkiin Clinic 
Financial Services (Banking) 
Manufacturing Metal Fabrication 
Food Products, Pepsi Bottler 
UtilitiesiEngineering 
Healthcare and Management Services 
Manufacturing/Pipe Mill 
Healthcare and Management Services 
U.s. Government, Benefits 
Mining and Natural Resources 
Healtbcare and Management Services 
Financial Services (Banking) 
Financial Services (Insurance) 
Insurance, Regional Operations Center 
Management Franchise Operation 
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Table D-3 

Presence 

Headquarters 
Headquarters 
Regional 
Headquarters 
Major Operations 
Headq uarters 
Headquarters 
Headquarters 
Major Operations 
Headquarters 
Major Operations 
Major Operations 
Headquarters 
Headquarters 
Headquarters 
Major Operations 
Headquarters 
Major Operations 
Major Operations 
Regional 
Headquarters 
Headquarters 
Major Operations 
Headquarters 
Regional 
Major Operations 



FundionIProgr-am 

Gene .... 1 Government: 
CityCle.-k 
City Council 
Community Development 
Finance 
Law 
Mayo.-'s Office 
Equipment Management 
Info.-mation Management Se.-vices 
Personnel 

Public Safety: 
Planning, Engineering, & Permits 
Communications 
Parole & Probation 
Municipal Court 
T .... ffic Enginee.-ing 

Police: 
Officers 
Civilians 

Fi.-e: 
Officers 
Civilians 

Streets & Sanitation: 
Public Works 

Horticulture & Urban Forestry 

Culture & Rec.-eation: 
State Fairgrounds 
Auditorium 
Arlington 
Libr-ary 
Museum of Art 
Parks & Recreation 
Southern Museum of Flight 
Sloss Furnaces 

Totals 

Source: City Budget Office 

2004 

8 
43 
11 

116 
34 

53 
86 
58 
17 

226 

o 
10 
67 

86 

862 
327 

628 

58 

1,177 
o 

34 
8 

305 

30 
264 

6 
17 

4,532 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Numbe.- of City Employees by FundionIProgr-am 

Last Nine Fiscal Years 

2005 

8 
43 

11 
119 

38 
53 

86 
65 
18 

225 

o 
10 
66 
86 

864 
323 

628 

58 

1,174 
o 

34 
8 

305 
30 

265 

6 
17 

4,541 

2006 

8 
44 
11 

118 
36 
53 

86 
61 

19 

213 

o 
10 
64 

84 

859 

620 

648 
75 

1,166 
o 

23 
7 

305 

28 
263 

6 
14 

4,822 

2007 

12 
44 

11 
117 

35 

67 

86 

61 
38 

204 
o 

10 
66 
86 

859 
320 

648 
61 

1,164 
o 

5 
23 
12 

300 

42 
269 

9 
14 

4,563 

105 

2008 

12 
44 
11 

111 
34 
65 
83 
55 
35 

194 

o 
10 
63 

84 

859 
322 

648 
61 

1,088 
o 

5 
21 

12 
300 

42 
305 

9 
14 

4,487 

2009 

12 
44 

11 
115 
34 

82 
83 
45 

35 

194 

o 
10 
61 

84 

909 
373 

648 
61 

1071 
o 

5 
21 

12 
326 

42 
303 

9 
14 

4,604 

2010 

12 

43 
9 

112 
34 
78 

99 
53 
32 

172 

9 
o 

66 
78 

822 
373 

626 
61 

982 

153 

4 
21 

10 
320 

40 
172 

9 
12 

4,402 

2011 

8 
39 

7 
104 

36 
79 

89 
42 

29 

141 

o 
o 

66 
63 

839 
283 

634 
63 

906 
o 

3 
31 

9 
290 

39 
257 

8 
8 

4,073 

2012 

10 
40 

7 

106 
38 
89 
85 
43 

32 

149 

o 
o 

66 
65 

854 

289 

617 
73 

878 

o 

14 
28 
10 

292 

39 
245 

9 
5 

~ 

TableE-l 

2013 

10 
37 
7 

104 
40 
89 
88 
47 

31 

150 
o 
o 
69 
66 

842 
285 

603 
.2 

928 
o 

17 

2' 
10 

298 

39 
237 

11 
13 

4109 



FunctionlProgram 

Police precincts 
Police substations 

Fire stations 

Street lights 
Traffic signals 
Street miles 

Parks & recreation: 
# orParks 
Acreage of Parks 
Recreation/community centers 
Playgrounds 
BasebalVsoftbali fields 
Soccer/football fields 

Libraries: 
Central 
Branches 

Source: Various City departments 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Capital Asset Statistics by FunctionlProgram 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

2004 

4 

6 

30 

28,000 
700 

1,500 

106 
2,137 

18 
73 
45 
18 

1 
19 

2005 

4 

6 

30 

28,000 
700 

1,500 

106 
2,137 

18 
73 
45 
18 

1 
19 

2006 

4 
6 

31 

28,000 
700 

1,500 

106 
2,137 

18 
73 
45 
18 

1 
19 

106 

2007 

4 

6 

31 

28,000 
700 

1,500 

106 
2,137 

18 
73 
45 
18 

1 
19 

2008 

4 

6 

31 

39,000 
710 

1,500 

111 
2,635 

18 
79 
40 
15 

1 
19 

2009 

4 
6 

31 

39,000 
710 

1,500 

111 
2,635 

18 
79 
40 
15 

1 
19 

2010 

4 
4 

31 

39,000 
710 

1,500 

112 
2,635 

19 
79 
40 
15 

1 
19 

Table E-2 

2011 2012 2013 

5 
3 

31 

4 
6 

31 

39,000 32,000 
710 702 

1,500 1,500 

114 114 
2,683 2683 

20 22 
81 78 
42 35 
16 15 

1 1 
18 18 

4 

5 

32 

32,000 
702 

1,500 

115 
2,746 

23 
125 
41 
12 

1 
18 



Calls Answered I 

911 Calls 
328-9311 Calls 
254-0800 Calls 
254-2000 Calls 
Total 

Calls Dispatched 2013 I 

Day 
Evenine; 
Morning 
Total 

Arrestrrraffic Calls I 2007 I 

Arrest Calls 21,171 
Traffic Citations Calls 26,132 

Total 47,303 

City of Birmingham 
E911 Call Center Statistics 

2008 I 2009 I 2010 

398,862 
220,728 
150,113 

769,703 

2008 I 2009 I 2010 

261,598 252,292 256,855 
330,979 320,503 313,418 
155,872 142,710 154,531 
748,449 715,505 724,804 

I 

I 

2008 I 2009 I 2010 I 

26,784 25,591 24,863 
37,861 32,846 37,375 
64,645 58,437 62,238 
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Table E3 

2011 I 2012 J 2013 

421,071 245,198 413,033 
188,382 44,248 154,669 
161,572 93,984 38,582 

60,899 
771,025 383,430 667,183 

2011 I 20J2 I 2013 

261,347 236,061 254,080 
321,500 276,779 284,828 
137,162 124,639 117,952 
720,009 637,479 656,860 

2011 I 2012 I 2013 

17,170 14,808 8,695 
28,815 25,999 26,442 
45,985 40,807 35,137 



CRIMK 
TOTAL 

RATE 

CRIME 
TOTAl 

RATE 

69\'. 

67 
38 

57% 

RAPE 
79 
9 

11% 

RAPE 
15 

18% 

455 
168 

37% 

City of Birmingham 
Police Department Statistics 

,NUARY - JUNE 

895 
222 

25% 

',035 
477 
23% 

ZUIZ 

ZUII 

1,942 
341 
18% 

4,704 
623 
13% 

THEFT 
3,964 
243 
6% 

THEFT 
9.041 
892 
10% 

Table E·4 

AI)TQ.!!!~I'~ TOTAL PART ONES 
451-- 7,825 

77 1,087 
17% 14% 

AUTOTHKt-' TOTALPART~ 
1.042 18,025 
170 2,607 
16% 14% 

CRIME RAPE THEFl IAUTOTHEtl I"OTALPAR"I ONK~ 

C~~~D-r~i7.b:~ __ ~15~~;-t~~~~II __ r-~I~,~%j(~6~_7.~5~~;~6-t __ IO~8)''95~12!12 __ r-_7.~'~~'1:7~5-t ____ ~~~: __ -i 
rifff 56% 29% 31% 28% 11% 8% 16% % 

CRIME 
TOTAL 

CRIME 
TOTAL 

RATE 

ZUlU 
RAPE THEF I AUTO THEF r ONE~ 

_511. 155 881 1.701 5,464 .11.042 1,299 20,601 

65 
37 

57% 

RAPE 
198 
89 

45% 

1,150 
341 

30% 

1,399 
245 
18% 

201 

5,019 
411 
8% 

THEFT 
11,546 
1,012 
9% 

I AUTO THEF TOTAL PART ONES 
1,594 20,971 
138 2,273 
9% 11% 

201 

1--';: ~C,,,,R)TI;;';rM,17-1~-j~!!: "9---' IL,:;,~ 21;.~"E,,--t" R",C~Y ~~~;' 1~5C3A~\IRm::'J~!j~~,,~I~g6F~;-rI=!!ill.!~2:,,;r14·¥HoIIE[jgF!:i+T[!O,[j)1T~A~I, 2~ P3I"A'3~\0IRg3T~~ OO~NE' 
51 76 650 256 411 1,312 251 3,007 

RATE 62% 36% 43% 18% 8% 10% /% 13% 

201 
CRIME RAPE THEFT TOTAL PART ONESI 

C~~~D~~=~1~2~4-_7.21~~:-+ __ ~~~~ __ +-~I';~.~6~r-~~1,8~816;7~4+-~1~~':':~i:~ __ 7~~~ __ +-___ ~/32'~'198~578 __ -1 
rifff 37% 40% 41% 17% 10% 11% 18% 15% 

CRIME 
TOTAL 

RATE 

: RIME 
TOTAL 

RATE 

CRIME 
TOTAL 

RATE 

104 
67 

64% 

RAPE 
220 
93 

42% 

1,429 
646 
45% 

1,422 
/30 

16% 

2006 

ZUU5 

4,813 
511 
11% 

THEFT 
12,113 
1,305 
11% 

AI)TOTHEFC 
2,081 
374 
18% 

TOTAL PART ONE~ 
/2,181 
3,226 
15% 

RAPE THEFT AI)TO THEFl I"OTAL 
104 241 1,429 1.675 4.933 11.962 2,028 22.371 

~~+-~4~120%~1-r~~~+-~~~13%~2~_~1408~%1-r-711,~~~1~6t-_~~ ~--j----~~~~---j 

59 
36 

61% 

RAPE 
240 
110 

46% 

1,369 
740 

54% 

1,593 
870 

55% 

2004 

5,156 
440 
9% 

108 

THEFl 
11,970 
1,406 
12% 

AUTO THEFl I TOTA r ONES 
2,351 22,738 



2008 
2009 
2010 
2011 
2012 
2013 
6 Year Totals 

10000 

8000 

6000 

4000 

2000 

City of Birmingham 
Police Department Supplemental Statistics 

" N'l\.WJOll'I CS 
RR@jE€l' ATF SEA)RCIiI 

S.A.F:E. R]jJ.l1J))R!R:A<LS WAR1:UNl'S , , . , 

449 1996 N/A 206 
406 1600 95 214 
406 1714 144 206 
435 1493 144 225 
318 1468 116 248 
154 970 87 203 

2,168 9,241 586 1,302 

POLICE 6 YEAR PERFORMANCE MEASURE TOTALS 

a ~-------r--------r-------~------~--------~ 
PROJECT 
S.A.F.E. 

SOURCE: Police Department 

FIREARM 
SEIZURES 

ATF 
REFERRALS 

109 

NARCOTICS 
SEARCH 

WARRANTS 

NARCOTICS 
ARREST 

E-5 

N2\:lJ{)OIDI€S , 
A}RREST 

331 
355 
355 
315 
268 
378 

2,002 



E-6 

MUNICIPAL COURT STATISTICS 
Last Five Fiscal Years 

COURT CASE STATISTICS 
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 TOTAL 

DRUG/ALCOHOL RELATED CASES 2,851 2,182 1,919 1,793 793 9,538 
GUN COURT CASES 121 250 309 383 490 1,553 
TRAFFIC CASES 71,844 61,276 66,862 58,300 57,208 315,490 
NON-TRAFFIC CASES 13,733 14,480 7,539 9,276 12,218 57,246 

TICKETS ISSUED 
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 TOTAL 

PARKING TICKETS 146,728 84,261 94,194 60,626 61,573 447,382 
EQUIPMENT REPAIR TICKETS(LIGH' 5,179 5,850 6,200 6,531 5,279 29,039 

Source: Municipal Court 
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City of Birmingham 
Permit Valuations and Counts 

2008-2013 
Table E-7 

2008 Permits 2012 Permits 
Permit Type Valuation Count Permit Type Valuation Count 
BLD $590,076,464 2,646 BLD $866,620,673 2,446 

ELE $85,320,203 4,169 ELE $49,121,362 3,780 

GAS $3,634,460 954 GAS $1,125,387 829 

MEC $61,915,171 1,028 MEC $32,280,820 823 

MFD $558,207 26 MFD $355,427 13 

PLB $23,736,864 1,166 PLB $15,993,395 878 

Totals $765,241.369 9.989 Totals $965.497.064 8.769 

2009 Permits 2013 Permits' 
Permit Type Valuation Count Permit Type Valuation Count 
BLD $479,714,373 2,245 BLD $683,307.370 2,446 

ELE $99,3 14,427 3,287 ELE $68,414,761 3.780 

GAS $2,448,995 889 GAS $10, II 7,775 829 

MEC $46,375,977 741 MEC $34.565,101 823 

MFD $158,788 9 MFD $262,565 13 

PLB $15,451 ,502 939 PLB $18,443.964 878 

Totals $643,464.062 8.110 Totals $815,111.536 8.769 

°first six months of calendar year totals 

2010 Permits 
Permit Type Valuation Count 
BLD $431,983,703 2,117 

ELE $56,307,331 2,989 

GAS $230,061 1,035 

MEC $79,027,620 813 

MFD $228,272 15 

PLB $46,690,8 11 868 

Totals $614.467.798 7.837 

2011 Permits 
Permit Type Valuation Count 

BLD $304,101,510 2,441 

ELE $107,042,36 1 3,506 

GAS $1,179,574 991 

MEC $37,734,485 926 

MFD $490,545 14 

PLB $19,360,273 1,001 

Totals $469,908,748.00 8.879 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 

Debt Service Schedules Table F-1 
General Obligation Warrants and Bonds 

Fiscal (;ellenl Obligation Warrants General Obligaton Bonds Total General Obligation Debt 

Year 
Elldiog Total Total Total 

JUIle30 Principal Interest (Net) Debt Service Principal Interest (Net) Debt Service Principal Interest (Net) Debt Service 

2014 15,360,000 6,584,867 21,944,867 20,225,000 10,862,924 31,087,924 35,585,000 17,447,791 53,032,791 

2015 11,735,000 6,033,519 17,768,519 21,230,000 9,822,643 31,052,643 32,965,000 15,856,162 48,821,162 

2016 12,230,000 5,518,788 17,748,788 20,065,000 8,843,499 28,908,499 32,295,000 14,362,286 46,657,286 

2017 13,730,000 4,987,454 18,717,454 14,171,200 8,053,318 22,224,518 27,901,200 13,040,772 40,941,972 

2018 14,360,000 4,364,222 18,724,222 15,835,000 11,306,818 27,141,818 30,195,000 15,671,040 45,866,040 

2019 5,880,000 3,835,983 9,715,983 16,303,833 10,612,361 26,916,193 22,183,833 14,448,344 36,632,176 

2020 6,060,000 3,606,436 9,666,436 10,126,813 9,927,181 20,053,993 16,186,813 13,533,617 29,720,429 

2021 5,460,000 3,365,099 8,825,099 8,646,610 9,560,573 18,207,183 14,106,610 12,925,672 27,032,282 

2022 5,620,000 3,158,053 8,778,053 7,589,413 9,156,393 16,745,805 13,209,413 12,314,446 25,523,858 

2023 5,815,000 2,927,602 8,742,602 9,566,135 8,816,648 18,382,783 15,381,135 11,744,250 27,125,385 

2024 5,680,000 2,696,441 8,376,441 7,623,570 8,3"57,810 15,981,380 13,303,570 11,054,251 24,357,821 

2025 5,840,000 2,469,414 8,309,414 8,019,249 7,972,977 15,992,225 13,859,249 10,442,391 24,301,639 

2026 6,030,000 2,220,012 8,250,012 11,038,171 7,522,392 18,560,563 17,068,171 9,742,404 26,810,574 

2027 4,710,000 1,969,739 6,679,739 11,591,214 7,006,148 18,597,363 16,301,214 8,975,887 25,277,102 

2028 4,915,000 1,763,257 6,678,257 12,165,136 6,461,964 18,627,100 17,080,136 8,225,220 25,305,357 

2029 5,135,000 1,542,527 6,677,527 12,775,545 5,893,467 18,669,013 17,910,545 7,435,994 25,346,540 

2030 5,370,000 1,311,178 6,681,178 13,416,833 5,294,030 18,710,863 18,786,833 6,605,208 25,392,041 

2031 3,680,000 1,068,984 4,748,984 14,085,485 4,666,290 18,751,775 17,765,485 5,735,274 23,500,759 

2032 3,845,000 909,713 4,754,713 14,793,259 4,006,616 18,799,875 18,638,259 4,916,329 23,554,588 

2033 3,995,000 757,925 4,752,925 15,535,155 3,313,295 18,848,450 19,530,155 4,071,220 23,601,375 

2034 2,010,000 597,597 2,607,597 2,955,295 2,886,205 5,841,500 4,965,295 3,483,802 8,449,097 

2035 2,085,000 522,423 2,607,423 3,099,556 2,737,694 5,837,250 5,184,556 3,260,117 8,444,673 

2036 2,165,000 444,444 2,609,444 3,264,426 2,584,824 5,849,250 5,429,426 3,029,268 8,458,694 

2037 2,245,000 363,473 2,608,473 3,425,174 2,421,076 5,846,250 5,670,174 2,784,549 8,454,723 

2038 2,330,000 279,510 2,609,510 3,598,288 2,250,212 5,848,500 5,928,288 2,529,722 8,458,010 

2039 2,420,000 189,805 2,609,805 3,771,401 2,068,849 5,840,250 6,191,401 2,258,654 8,450,055 

2040 2,510,000 96,635 2,606,635 3,965,124 1,881,377 5,846,500 6,475,1 24 1,978,012 8,453,135 

2041 4,154,724 1,681,276 5,836,000 4,154,724 1,681,276 5,836,000 

2042 4,377,299 1,476,702 5,854,000 4,377,299 1,476,702 5,854,000 

2043 4,591,630 1,256,871 5,848,500 4,591,630 1,256,871 5,848,500 

Total 161,215,000 63,585,099 224,800,099 302,005,535 178,702,429 480,707,964 463,220,535 242,287,528 705,508,063 

General obligation warrants are paid from tbe City's General Fund and general obligation bonds are paid from the City's Bond Reserve Fund, 

which receives 12 mills of ad·valorem tax. 
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City of Birmingham 
Debt Service Schedules 
Debt of Conduit Issuers that is a General Obligation of the City TableF-2 
The Commercial Development Authority of the City of Birmingham, Revenue Bonds 

Fiscal Series 2011-A (fax-Exempt) Series 2011-B (Federally Taxable) Total 
Year 
Eodiog Total Total Total 

Juoe 30 Principal loterest Debt Service Principal Interest Debt Service Priocipal Interest Debt Service 

2014 $3,118,988 $3,118,988 $940,000 $739,500 $1,679,500 $940,000 $3,858,488 $4,798,488 
2015 3,118,988 3,118,988 1,045,000 683,100 1,728,100 1,045,000 3,802,088 4,847,088 
2016 3,118,988 3,118,988 1,160,000 620,400 1,780,400 1,160,000 3,739,388 4,899,388 
2017 3,118,988 3,118,988 1,280,000 550,800 1,830,800 1,280,000 3,669,788 4,949,788 
2018 3,118,988 3,118,988 1,400,000 474,000 1,874,000 1,400,000 3,592,988 4,992,988 
2019 3,118,988 3,118,988 1,485,000 390,000 1,875,000 1,485,000 3,508,988 4,993,988 

2020 3,118,988 3,118,988 1,575,000 300,900 1,875,900 1,575,000 3,419,888 4,994,888 
2021 3,118,988 3,118,988 1,670,000 206,400 1,876,400 1,670,000 3,325,388 4,995,388 
2022 3,118,988 3,118,988 1,770,000 106,200 1,876,200 1,770,000 3,225,188 4,995,188 
2023 1,875,000 3,118,988 4,993,988 1,875,000 3,118,988 4,993,988 
2024 1,970,000 3,025,238 4,995,238 1,970,000 3,025,238 4,995,238 
2025 2,070,000 2,926,738 4,996,738 2,070,000 2,926,738 4,996,738 
2026 2,170,000 2,823,238 4,993,238 2,170,000 2,823,238 4,993,238 
2027 2,280,000 2,714,738 4,994,738 2,280,000 2,714,738 4,994,738 
2028 2,395,000 2,600,738 4,995,738 2,395,000 2,600,738 4,995,738 
2029 2,515,000 2,480,988 4,995,988 2,515,000 2,480,988 4,995,988 
2030 2,645,000 2,348,950 4,993,950 2,645,000 2,348,950 4,993,950 
2031 2,785,000 2,210,088 4,995,088 2,785,000 2,210,088 4,995,088 
2032 2,805,000 2,063,875 4,868,875 2,805,000 2,063,875 4,868,875 
2033 3,085,000 1,909,600 4,994,600 3,085,000 1,909,600 4,994,600 
2034 3,255,000 1,739,925 4,994,925 3,255,000 1,739,925 4,994,925 
2035 3,435,000 1,560,900 4,995,900 3,435,000 1,560,900 4,995,900 
2036 3,620,000 1,371,975 4,991,975 3,620,000 1,371,975 4,991,975 
2037 3,820,000 1,172,875 4,992,875 3,820,000 1,172,875 4,992,875 
2038 4,030,000 962,775 4,992,775 4,030,000 962,775 4,992,775 
2039 4,255,000 741,125 4,996,125 4,255,000 741,125 4,996,125 
2040 4,485,000 507,100 4,992,100 4,485,000 507,100 4,992,100 
2041 4,735,000 260,425 4,995,425 4,735,000 260,425 4,995,425 

Total $58,230,000 $64,611,163 $122,841,163 $12,325,000 $4,071,300 $16,396,300 $70,555,000 $68,682,463 $139,237,463 

The above amounts are a line item in the City's General Fund Budget for each fiscal year pursuant to the associated Funding Agreement. 
The Bonds financed the construction of a hotel and entertainment district adjacent to the Birmingham-Jefferson Convention Center,located 
in downtown Birmingham. The appropriation continues a long-standing amount appropriated for the BJCC. 
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City of Birmingbam 
Debt Service Scbedules Table F-3 
Debt of Conduit Issuers that is a General Obligation oftbe City 
The Public Atbletic Cultural and Entertainment Board of the City of Birmingham, Revenue Bonds 

Fiscal Series 2011-A (fax-Exempt) Series 2011-8 (Federally Taxable) Series 2011-B (Federally Taxable) Series B 
Year No. R-2 No. R-I 
Ending Total Total Total Total 

June 30 Principal Interest Debt Service Principal Interest Debt Service Principal Interest Debt Service Debt Service 

2014 SI,390,OOO 51,675,553 53,065,553 50 5223,600 5223,600 50 5194,800 SI94,800 5418,400 
2015 1,435,000 1,631,906 3,066,906 70,000 221,644 291,644 85,000 192,730 277,730 569,374 
2016 1,480,000 1,586,870 3,066,870 75,000 217,591 292,591 90,000 188,469 278,469 571,060 
2017 1,525,000 1,540,442 3,065,442 80,000 213,259 293,259 90,000 184,086 274,086 567,345 
2018 1,570,000 1,492,625 3,062,625 85,000 208,647 293,647 95,000 179,581 274,581 568,228 
2019 1,620,000 1,443,339 3,063,339 90,000 203,756 293,756 100,000 174,833 274,833 568,589 

2020 1,670,000 1,392,509 3,062,509 95,000 198,585 293,585 105,000 169,841 274,841 568,426 
2021 1,720,000 1,340,133 3,060,133 100,000 193,135 293,135 110,000 164,606 274,606 567,741 
2022 1,775,000 1,286,135 3,061,135 105,000 187,405 292,405 115,000 159,127 274,127 566,532 

2023 1,830,000 1,230,438 3,060,438 110,000 181,396 291,396 125,000 153,405 278,405 569,801 
2024 1,885,000 1,173,041 3,058,041 115,000 175,107 290,107 130,000 147,318 277,318 567,424 
2025 1,945,000 1,113,868 3,058,868 125,000 168,399 293,399 135,000 140,865 275,865 569,264 
2026 2,005,000 1,052,840 3,057,840 130,000 161,272 291,272 140,000 134,169 274,169 565,440 
2027 2,065,000 1,363,569 3,428,569 120,000 172,794 292,794 120,000 154,105 274,105 566,899 

2028 1,385,000 1,667,188 3,052,188 105,000 184,275 289,275 100,000 173,950 273,950 563,225 
2029 1,460,000 1,588,950 3,048,950 115,000 176,575 291,575 105,000 166,600 271,600 563,175 

2030 1,540,000 1,506,450 3,046,450 120,000 168,175 288,175 115,000 158,725 273,725 561,900 
2031 1,625,000 1,419,413 3,044,413 130,000 159,250 289,250 125,000 150,325 275,325 564,575 
2032 1,715,000 1,327,563 3,042,563 140,000 149,800 289,800 135,000 141,225 276,225 566,025 

2033 1,810,000 1,230,625 3,040,625 150,000 139,650 289,650 140,000 131,600 271,600 561,250 

2034 1,905,000 1,128,463 3,033,463 160,000 128,800 288,800 150,000 121,450 271,450 560,250 

2035 2,010,000 1,020,800 3,030,800 170,000 117,250 287,250 165,000 110,600 275,600 562,850 

2036 2,125,000 907,088 3,032,088 185,000 104,825 289,825 175,000 98,875 273,875 563,700 
2037 2,240,000 787,050 3,027,050 200,000 91,525 291,525 190,000 86,275 276,275 567,800 

2038 2,365,000 660,413 3,025,413 210,000 77,350 287,350 200,000 72,800 272,800 560,150 
2039 2,495,000 526,763 3,021,763 230,000 62,125 292,125 215,000 58,450 273,450 565,575 
2040 2,630,000 385,825 3,015,825 245,000 45,850 290,850 230,000 43,225 273,225 564,075 
2041 2,775,000 237,188 3,012,188 260,000 28,350 288,350 250,000 26,775 276,775 565,125 
2042 2,925,000 80,438 3,005,438 280,000 9,625 289,625 265,000 9,100 274,100 563,725 

Total 554,920,000 533,797,480 588,717,480 54,000,000 54,370,011 58,370,011 54,000,000 53,887,910 $7,887,910 SI6,257,920 

These bonds financed the acquisition of property for, and tbe construction of, a minor league baseball park in the City center. The Series A bonds are payable 
from the a lodgings tax in the City, levied at a rate of 3.5%. The Series B bonds are payable from project revenues. The Bonds are subject to Mandatory 
Tender on December 14, 2026. The Series A bonds carry an interest rate of3.09%. The above schedule assumes an interest rate of 5.50% after the tender date. 
The Series B R-l bonds carry an interest rate of 4.87%. The Series B R-2 bonds carry an interest rate of 5.59%. The above schedule assumes an interest rate of 
7.00% after the tender date. Interest on the Series B bonds coming due through October 1, 2013 is on deposit with the Trustee. The Bonds are prepayable 
with a yield maintenance premium. 
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City of Birmingham 
Special Lodgings Tax Fund 
Revenue from 3.5% Lodgings Tax 

Fiscal Year 

2011 
2012 
2013 

Revenue 

$1,338,321 
$3,271,345 
$3,190,203 

Table F-4 

• 

*Reflects five months' collections. Tax became effective January 15,2011 

The tax is pledged to the payment of a Funding Agreement with 

the Public Athletic, Cultural and Entertainment Board of the 

City of Birmingham 
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City of Birmingham 

Debt Service Schedules 

Privately Placed Debt 
General Obligation Warrants Series 2012-RB and 2012-CTB 

Fiscal Series 2012-RB (Federally Taxable) 
Year 

Ending Total 
Juoe30 Principal Interest Debt Service 

2014 $325,000 $208,976 $533,976 
2015 335,000 195,809 530,809 
2016 350,000 182,144 532,144 
2017 365,000 167,879 532,879 
2018 380,000 153,017 533,017 
2019 395,000 137,555 532,555 
2020 410,000 121,496 531,496 
2021 430,000 104,738 534,738 
2022 445,000 87,281 532,281 
2023 465,000 69,127 534,127 
2024 480,000 50,274 530,274 
2025 500,000 30,723 530,723 
2026 520,000 10,374 530,374 

Total $5,400,000 $1,519,392 $6,919,392 

Table F-5 

Series 2012-CTB (Federally Taxable) Total 

Total Total 
Principal Interest Debt Service Principal Interest Debt Service 

$75,000 $37,734 $112,734 $400,000 $246,711 $646,711 
75,000 34,453 109,453 410,000 230,262 640,262 
80,000 31,063 111,063 430,000 213,206 643,206 
85,000 27,453 112,453 450,000 195,332 645,332 
85,000 23,734 108,734 465,000 176,751 641,751 
90,000 19,906 109,906 485,000 157,462 642,462 
95,000 15,859 110,859 505,000 137,355 642,355 

100,000 11,594 111,594 530,000 116,331 646,331 
105,000 7,109 112,109 550,000 94,391 644,391 
110,000 2,406 112,406 575,000 71,533 646,533 

480,000 50,274 530,274 
500,000 30,723 530,723 
520,000 10,374 530,374 

$900,000 $211,313 $1,111,313 $6,300,000 $1,730,705 $8,030,705 

The Warrants pay principal annually on August 1 and interest on February 1 and August 1. The Seris 2012-RB warrants carry an interest rate 
of 3.99% and the Series 2012-CTB warrants carry an interest rate of 4.375%. Both Series are prepayable until August 1, 2013 
with a 3% premium, August 1, 2013 through July 31, 2014 with a 2% premium, August 1, 2014 through July 31, 2015 with a 1% premium 
and thereafter with no premium. 
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City of Birmingham 
Debt Service Sched ules 
Privately Placed Debt 
General Obligation Refunding Warrants Series 2013-RBI 

Fiscal 
Year 
Ended 
June 30 

2014 

Total 
Principal Interest Debt Service 

$2,000,000 $17,000 $2,017,000 

Table F-6 

The Warrants pay principal on June 1 and interest on June 1 and Decemer 1. 
The Warrants carry an interst rate of .85% and are not prepayable. 
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City of Birmingham 
Debt Service Schedules 
Privately Placed Debt 

Table F-7 

Tax Increment Financing District I, Revenue Warrants 

Fiscal Warrant No.1 Warrant No.2 

Year 

Ending Total Total Total 
June 30 Principal Interest Debt Service Principal Interest Debt Service Principal Interest Debt Service 

2014 $365,000 $575,774 $940,774 $775,000 $248,729 $1,023,729 $1,140,000 $824,504 $1,964,504 
2015 380,000 559,254 939,254 790,000 217,184 1,007,184 1,170,000 776,437 1,946,437 
2016 415,000 541,639 956,639 840,000 184,224 1,024,224 1,255,000 725,863 1,980,863 
2017 425,000 522,931 947,931 860,000 150,187 1,010,187 1,285,000 673,118 1,958,118 
2018 435,000 503,888 938,888 900,000 114,433 1,014,433 1,335,000 618,321 1,953,321 
2019 475,000 483,678 958,678 945,000 77,467 1,022,467 1,420,000 561,145 1,981,145 
2020 485,000 462,299 947,299 975,000 38,734 1,013,734 1,460,000 501,033 1,961,033 
2021 10,125,000 186,233 10,311,233 425,000 4,293 429,293 10,550,000 190,525 10,740,525 
2022 

Total $13,105,000 $3,835,696 $16,940,696 $6,510,000 $1,035,250 $7,545,250 $19,615,000 $4,870,946 $24,485,946 

The Warrant No. I carries an interest rate of 4.45% and Warrant No.2 carries an interest rate of 4.04%. Principal and interest on both warrants 
is payable monthly. Both Warrants are prepayble beginning November 5, 2019 with a yield maintenance premium. 
The Warrants are payable from Ad-valorem taxes collected in the TIF District in excess of a base year amount. The District includes a large 
portion of the city center of the City. The Warrants are also secured by an appropriation agreement whereby the City agreed to appropriate 
funds from any legally available source to pay principal and interest on the Warrants as it comes due, subject to an annual appropriation for 
such amounts. 
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